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Kardex is a global industry partner for intralogistic solutions and a leading supplier 
of automated storage solutions and materials handling systems. The Group consists 
of mainly two entrepreneurially managed divisions, Kardex Remstar and Kardex 
Mlog. 

 

 

Kardex Remstar develops, produces, and maintains dynamic storage and retrieval 
systems, and Kardex Mlog offers integrated materials handling systems and auto-
mated high bay warehouses. Kardex also acts as a global AutoStore partner. 

 

 

Kardex is partner for its customers over the entire lifecycle of a product or solution. 
This begins with an assessment of customer requirements and continues via the 
planning, realization, and implementation of customer-specific systems. 

 

 

Kardex Holding AG is listed on the SIX Swiss Exchange, underlies the Swiss Re-
porting Standard and the shares are included in the SPI (Swiss Performance Index). 
Kardex applies the accounting standard Swiss GAAP FER. 

 

 

Around 2’400 employees (FTE) in over 30 countries worldwide work for the compa-
nies of Kardex. 

 

 

 

The group of companies within the scope of consolidation are referred to as “Kardex”, the “Group”, or the “Organization” 
in this report. Kardex Holding AG is referred to as the “Company”.

Kardex at a glance 



Kardex at a glance 

  3 

Net revenues  
in EUR million 
  

EBIT and EBIT margin 
in EUR million and in % 
 

 

Free cash flow 
in EUR million 

  
 

 

Equity and equity ratio 
in EUR million and in % 
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Net revenues by segment 
2023 financial year 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 Kardex Remstar 
 Kardex Mlog 
 Corporate Ventures 
 
 

Net revenues by region  
2023 financial year 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 Europe  
 Americas (North, Middle, South)  
 Asia/Pacific  
 Middle East and Africa  
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Sustained robust demand for in-
tralogistics solutions despite the 
postponement of some larger 
projects 

 

 Supply chain normalization led to 
significant efficiency improve-
ments and enhanced production 
output   

   

Substantial increase of net reve-
nues is mainly based on the sig-
nificant increase in production 
output 

 Kardex achieved profitability 
within the upper range of finan-
cial targets 

 

Highlights 

 
Robust 

demand  
Normalized 

supply chain 

 
Increased 

net revenues  
High  

profitability 
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in EUR million 
 
          

01.01. - 31.12.   2023 (%)   2022 (%) (+/-%) 

Bookings   673.9 95.9%   698.6 123.5% -3.5% 
Order backlog (31.12.)   475.9 67.7%   510.5 90.3% -6.8% 
Net revenues   702.9 100.0%   565.6 100.0% 24.3% 
Gross profit   235.9 33.6%   177.7 31.4% 32.8% 
OPEX   150.0 21.3%   121.9 21.6% 23.1% 
EBITDA   99.3 14.1%   65.4 11.6% 51.8% 
Operating result (EBIT)   85.9 12.2%   55.8 9.9% 53.9% 
Result for the period (net profit)   66.9 9.5%   38.6 6.8% 73.3% 
Free cash flow   46.2    -15.2  403.9% 
ROIC   37.6%    27.5%   
          

    
          

   31.12.2023 (%)   31.12.2022 (%) (+/-%) 

Net working capital   102.2    76.2  34.1% 
Net cash1   119.6    102.7  16.5% 
Equity/Equity ratio   240.1 56.9%   204.6 56.2% 17.4% 
Employees (FTE)   2'397    2'097  14.3% 
          

    
          

   2023 (%)   2022 (%) (+/-%) 

Distribution per share (CHF)2   5.00    3.50  42.9% 
          

1 Definition according Alternative Performance Measures (APM) see note 1 of the consolidated financial statements. 
2 2023: Distribution of a dividend as proposed to the Annual General Meeting to be held on 25 April 2024. 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Based on Swiss GAAP FER, figures reported in euros unless indicated differently. 

Key figures 
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The past year has been marked by a gradual return to normalcy in Kardex’ business operations, fol-
lowing the challenging turbulence of previous years. Notably, the demand for intralogistics solu-
tions remained at significantly elevated levels compared to pre-pandemic times, despite economic 
slowdowns in various industries. Equally significant was the improvement in Kardex’ supply chain, 
particularly within Kardex Remstar. This led to higher efficiency in the factories, resulting in sub-
stantial increases in net revenues and profitability and leading to results in the upper range of 
Kardex’ communicated financial targets. 

The sustained positive momentum in intralogis-
tics demand, coupled with Kardex' strong market 
position, is evident in its bookings, which totaled 
EUR 673.9 million, close to maintaining the high 
level of the previous year. While decision-making 
processes by customers, particularly for larger 
projects that mainly impacted Kardex Mlog, ex-
perienced a noticeable slowdown, the appetite 
for automation remained robust across all indus-
try sectors and regions served by Kardex. Nota-
bly, North America and Europe began to feel the 
initial positive effects of reshoring and increased 
inventory levels. Whereas bookings for New 
Business decreased by 7.9%, bookings for Life 
Cycle Services grew by 9.5%. As of 31 December, 
the order backlog stood at EUR 475.9 million, 
which is slightly below last year with EUR 510.5 
million, but still at a high level. 

Net revenues climbed 24.3% year-on-year to 
EUR 702.9 million due to gradual supply chain 
normalization within Kardex Remstar, and accel-
erated progress in Kardex Mlog customer pro-
jects. New Business contributed 74.2% (71.1%) to 
net revenues, while Life Cycle Services ac-
counted for 25.8% (28.9%).  

Although costs, particularly for personnel and 
electronic components, continued to rise, the 
previous year's price adjustments and the effi-
ciency gains achieved led to a higher gross profit 
margin, up from 31.4% last year to 33.6%. Oper-
ating costs remaining proportionally stable re-
sulted in a significantly improved operating result 
and an EBIT margin of 12.2% (9.9%), represent-
ing the upper range of Kardex’ financial targets. 
EBIT totaled EUR 85.9 million, marking a 53.9% 
increase compared to last year. Net profit soared 
by 73.3% to EUR 66.9 million.   

Kardex Remstar regains structural strength 
Kardex Remstar achieved strong results, benefit-
ing from sustained demand across nearly all mar-
kets. Bookings slightly increased to EUR 527.6 
million, surpassing the high level of the previous 
year (+3.5%), improved market conditions in pro-
curement, a substantial increase in production 
output, and the record-high order backlog from 
the previous year translated into strong revenue 
growth of 21.6% to EUR 530.7 million. Price in-
creases for Kardex’ products and services coupled 
with enhanced efficiency, led to a higher gross 
profit of EUR 201.0 million, representing a gross 
profit margin of 37.9%. These positive develop-
ments enabled the operating result to regain its 
former strength, with EBIT increasing by 46.2% 
to EUR 82.0 million, yielding a 15.5% margin. 
Order backlog remained comfortable at EUR 
313.7 million at year-end, providing a solid foun-
dation for the new financial year.  

Mixed results at Kardex Mlog 
Kardex Mlog delivered mixed results in a chal-
lenging market environment. On the one hand, a 
substantial order backlog from the prior year sig-
nificantly contributed to revenue growth of 7.4% 
to EUR 113.4 million. On the other hand, cus-
tomer-driven order postponements led to signifi-
cantly lower bookings of EUR 78.9 million, rep-
resenting a downswing of 37.1%. Gross profit in-
creased to EUR 22.6 million, and the operating 
result at EBIT level reached EUR 6.5 million, 
supported by increased volume and stringent 
cost management. The EBIT margin improved to 
5.7%, returning to the predefined target range. 
Despite the lower bookings, the year-end order 
backlog of EUR 96.0 million, remains solid. This, 
together with a robust sales pipeline, provides 
the basis for a sound start into the new year al-
beit the fact that Germany, Mlog’s main market, 
remains volatile. 

Report to the shareholders 
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Kardex AutoStore business grows rapidly and 
maintains profitability 
Kardex AS Solutions continues to excel in Europe 
and North America, with the additional reception 
of initial orders from the APAC region in the lat-
ter half of the year. Bookings increased by 6.8% 
to EUR 67.6 million. Net revenues reached EUR 
59.1 million, resulting in a positive mid-single-
digit operating result for the first time, despite 
ongoing investments in geographic expansion. 

Positive free cash flow and ROIC development 
With improved supply conditions for raw materi-
als and components, safety stock levels in-
creased continuously to ensure delivery capabil-
ity. Consequently, net working capital grew sig-
nificantly compared to the previous year. Never-
theless, free cash flow remained positive at EUR 
46.2 million (EUR -15.2 million), thanks to the 
strong operational performance. Return on in-
vested capital (ROIC) surged significantly to 
37.6% (27.5%). 

Change in Group Management 
As of 01 June, Jens Hardenacke has taken over as 
CEO of Kardex. The Board of Directors is pleased 
to have found a new CEO who, in addition to his 
industry expertise, brings a great deal of man-
agement experience from Kardex' growth mar-
kets. The Chairman of the Board, Felix Thöni, 
who led the Company on an interim basis from 
beginning of March to end of June, has returned 
to his core responsibilities. 

Proposals to the Annual General Meeting 
In line with the dividend policy of distributing up 
to 75% of the net profit and taking into account 
future higher investments for ERP-Systems and 
factory infrastructures, the Board of Directors will 
propose a dividend of CHF 5.00 (CHF 3.50) to 
the Annual General Meeting of 25 April 2024. 
All current members of the Board of Directors, 
except Ulrich Looser, are standing for re-election 
at the next Annual General Meeting. The Board 
of Directors thank Ulrich Looser for his 12 years 
of dedicated service as Vice Chairman and his 
significant contributions as head of the CNC-
Committee and wishes him all the best for his fu-
ture. 

Outlook 
The flattening of inflation and the stabilization of 
the procurement market provide positive growth 
drivers, albeit against the backdrop of cooling 
global growth expectations. Nevertheless, the 
Board of Directors and the Group Management 
are confident that Kardex' customers will con-
tinue investing in intralogistics solutions to en-
hance their competitiveness. Additionally, the in-
creasing difficulty in recruiting qualified person-
nel is driving greater investments in automated 
solutions. Kardex is well-positioned to capitalize 
on these megatrends and anticipates continued 
development in line with the financial targets 
throughout the cycle. 

 
 

 

Felix Thöni    Jens Hardenacke 
Chairman of the Board of Directors     CEO



 

9 

Share capital and capital structure 

2023 2022 2021 2020 2019 

Par value per share (CHF) 0.45 0.45 0.45 0.45 0.45 
Total registered shares 7'730'000 7'730'000 7'730'000 7'730'000 7'730'000 
Number of treasury shares 14'210 16'832 17'984 19'560 11'640 
Number of outstanding shares 7'715'790 7'713'168 7'712'016 7'710'440 7'718'360 
Registered capital (CHF 1'000) 3'479 3'479 3'479 3'479 3'479 
Total voting rights 7'715'790 7'713'168 7'712'016 7'710'440 7'718'360 

Key stock exchange figures per share 

CHF 2023 2022 2021 2020 2019 

Share price high 223.50 306.00 313.00 197.60 178.40 
Share price low 153.80 125.80 184.00 92.30 112.20 
Closing rate 218.00 152.00 300.00 193.60 163.00 
Average volume per trading day 
(no. of shares) 8'801 9'629 9'667 23'664 17'167 

Market capitalization per 31.12. 
(CHF million) 1'685.14 1'174.96 2'319.00 1'496.53 1'259.99 

Key figures per share 

CHF 2023 2022 2021 2020 2019 

Earnings per share (EPS)1 – basic 8.39 4.93 6.15 5.65 6.39 
Earnings per share (EPS)1 – diluted 8.39 4.93 6.15 5.65 6.39 
Price earning ratio (closing rate) 26.02 30.94 48.87 34.35 25.54 
Dividend2 5.00 3.50 4.30 4.00 4.50 
Dividend yield 2.3% 2.3% 1.4% 2.1% 2.8% 

1   Calculated by the generally accepted method (net profit/average number of outstanding shares). 
2   2023: Distribution of a dividend as proposed to the Annual General Meeting to be held on 25 April 2024. 

Kardex Holding AG is listed on the SIX Swiss Exchange, underlies the Swiss Reporting Standard and 
the shares are included in the SPI (Swiss Performance Index).  

Stock exchange symbol: KARN; Swiss securities number: 10083728; ISIN number: CH0100837282; 
Bloomberg: KARN SW Equity; Reuters: KARN.S. Current prices can be seen at 
https://www.kardex.com/en/company/investors-and-shareholder-information  

Information on the Kardex share 

https://www.kardex.com/en/company/investors-and-shareholder-information
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Share price performance 
Kardex Holding AG share 

On SIX Swiss Exchange 01 January to 31 December 2023, based on the daily closing price in CHF 
 

 

 

 

The value of the Kardex share increased by 43.4 % (decrease of 49.3 %) from CHF 152.00 to 
CHF 218.00 during 2023. Kardex paid a dividend of CHF 3.50 per share in April 2023. The Total 
Shareholder Return (TSR) for the year was +45.7% (-47.9%). 

 
On SIX Swiss Exchange 01 January 2019 to 31 December 2023, based on the daily closing price in CHF  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  

 Registered shares of Kardex Holding AG (KARN)  Swiss Performance Index – rebased 

 Registered shares of Kardex Holding AG (KARN)  Swiss Performance Index – rebased 
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Corporate calendar 
2024 Annual General Meeting 25 April 2024 
2024 Interim Report 30 July 2024 
2024 Annual Report 6 March 2025 
2025 Annual General Meeting 24 April 2025 
2025 Interim Report 31 July 2025 

Shareholder structure 

As of 31 December 2023, there were 3'746 shareholders (3'505) entered in the share register. The 
following shareholders held 3% or more of the outstanding share capital of Kardex Holding AG at year 
end. 

31.12.2023 31.12.2022 

BURU Holding AG and Philipp Buhofer 22.1% 22.1% 
Kempen Capital Management N.V. 5.7% 6.4% 
Alantra Partners S.A. 4.2% 5.4% 
Credit Suisse Funds AG 3.1% 
Invesco Ltd. 3.1% 

Contact share register 

sharecomm ag 
Europastrasse 29 
8152 Glattbrugg, Switzerland 

Tel. +41 44 809 58 53 

Contact 

Kardex Holding AG 
Thurgauerstrasse 40 
8050 Zurich, Switzerland 

Thomas Reist, CFO  
Alexandre Müller, Investor Relations 

Tel. +41 44 419 44 79 
investor-relations@kardex.com

mailto:investor-relations@kardex.com
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Kardex Remstar achieved strong results, capitalizing on sustained demand across almost all mar-
kets. With bookings totaling EUR 527.6 million, Kardex Remstar surpassed the high levels seen in 
the previous year, marking an increase of 3.5%. Notably, growth of bookings in Life Cycle Services 
outpaced New Business. The Division benefitted from a more favorable procurement market envi-
ronment, a substantial boost in order processing efficiency, and an impressive record-high order 
backlog from the previous year, leading to a robust revenue increase of 21.6%, totaling EUR 530.7 
million. Price adjustments for products and services coupled with efficiency gains contributed to a 
higher gross profit of EUR 201.0 million. As a result of these favorable developments, the operating 
result regained its previous strength, with EBIT increasing by 46.2% to EUR 82.0 million, yielding a 
margin of 15.5%. Ending the year with a comfortable order backlog of EUR 313.7 million sets 
Kardex Remstar on solid footing for the new financial year. 

The year under review marked a gradual normali-
zation of business activities after the significant 
turbulence of the previous year, particularly in 
the supply chain. Demand for intralogistics solu-
tions remained significantly higher than pre-pan-
demic levels and held steady at the previous 
year's figures. Notably, North America and Eu-
rope experienced the positive effects of reshoring 
and increased inventory levels, contributing to 
Kardex Remstar's success. 

Bookings remain strong 
Again Kardex Remstar thrived on continued 
strong demand across all markets during the re-
porting period. Bookings reached EUR 527.6 mil-
lion, marking a 3.5% increase over the previous 
year's record level of EUR 509.8 million. New 
Business contributed EUR 372.1 million, ac-
counting for 70.5% of total bookings, while Life 
Cycle Services (LCS) achieved bookings of EUR 
155.5 million, or 29.5%. The LCS segment 
showed particularly strong growth at approxi-
mately 8.4%, surpassing that of New Business 
which showed an increase of 1.5%. This growth 
reflects Kardex Remstar's expanding installed 
base in the market.   

The Division received contributions from various 
industries, notably electronics and chip manufac-
turers, medium-sized industrial companies, e-
commerce firms, and transportation companies. 
Geographically, the USA played a decisive role in 
the results, with lower government orders offset 
by increased industry demand. Eastern European 
markets (Romania, Czech Republic, Poland) and 
Spain stood out in Europe, while Asia experi-
enced growth especially in Singapore and Tai-
wan, driven mainly by the chip and electronics in-
dustry. Growth in mainland China remained 
steady.  

Improved factory productivity 
While significant procurement market bottle-
necks were a challenge in the previous year, the 
reporting period saw gradual improvements, alt-
hough the supply of electronic components re-
mained volatile. Inefficiencies in the production 
facilities were significantly reduced. Kardex 
Remstar successfully shortened delivery times 
and managed to work through the high order 
backlog from 2023. The difficulties faced at the 
US plant during ramp-up have eased considera-
bly, with production output doubling, compared 
to the challenging previous year.  

Division Kardex Remstar
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Key figures for the Kardex Remstar Division 
 
          

in EUR million   2023 (%)   2022 (%) (+/-%) 

Bookings   527.6 99.4%   509.8 116.8% 3.5% 
Order backlog (31.12.)   313.7 59.1%   322.2 73.8% -2.6% 
          
Net revenues   530.7 100.0%   436.6 100.0% 21.6% 
EBITDA   94.6 17.8%   64.0 14.7% 47.8% 
Operating result (EBIT)   82.0 15.5%   56.1 12.8% 46.2% 
          
Employees (FTE as of 31.12.)   1'957    1'727  13.3% 
          

 

Strong revenue growth  
The various positive factors culminated in a re-
markable 21.6% increase in net revenues, surging 
from EUR 436.6 million to EUR 530.7 million. 
New Business contributed EUR 381.9 million, 
representing 72.0% of net revenues, while LCS 
contributed EUR 148.7 million, or 28.0%. Ap-
proximately two-thirds of sales were generated 
by existing customers, with the remaining one-
third being attributed to new customers. Notably, 
targeted online activities, which account for 
around 80% of the marketing budget, were par-
ticularly successful. The high level of advisory ex-
pertise possessed by Kardex Remstar's special-
ists also provided the Division with a notable 
competitive edge. 

Thanks to continued strong demand, the order 
backlog remained at a comfortable level, totaling 
EUR 313.7 million at the end of the reporting pe-
riod, a 2.6% decrease from the previous year's 
figure of EUR 322.2 million. This represents 
roughly 7 months of net revenues and positions 
Kardex Remstar favorably for the year 2024. 

Significant improvement in profitability  
Normalized material prices, especially in the lat-
ter half of the year, combined with 2022 price 
adjustments and achieved efficiency gains in the 
reporting year, had a positive impact on profita-
bility, despite rising personnel costs. Gross profit 
increased from EUR 152.8 million to EUR 201.0 
million, resulting in a gross profit margin of 
37.9% (35.0%). 

Operating expenses reached EUR 119.0 million, 
equivalent to 22.4% of net revenues. This in-
crease was primarily attributable to higher head-
count, increased travel expenses, and elevated 
development expenses. 

As a result of these developments, Kardex Rem-
star's operating result at EBIT level surged by 
46.2% to a strong EUR 82.0 million (EUR 56.1 
million) compared to the challenging previous 
year. This translated into an EBIT margin of 
15.5% (12.8%), firmly situated in the mid of the 
target range. 

Outlook 
Kardex Remstar is well-positioned in the thriving 
global intralogistics market and anticipates solid 
demand in the coming year. Supply chain ineffi-
ciencies should continue to normalize. Reducing 
delivery times, while easing interest rates and fi-
nancing costs should benefit industries served by 
Kardex Remstar’s end customers. The Division 
remains committed to delivering EBIT margins 
within its target range of 14-17%.  
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Net revenues by region 
2023 financial year 

Net revenues by business unit 
2023 financial year 

 Europe
 Americas (North, Middle, South)
 Asia/Pacific
Middle East and Africa

New Business  
Life Cycle Services  

Net revenues 
in EUR million  

EBIT and EBIT margin 
in EUR million and in % 
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Kardex Mlog achieved mixed results within a challenging market environment. On the one hand, 
the substantial order backlog from the previous year significantly contributed to a net revenue in-
crease of 7.4%, totaling EUR 113.4 million. On the other hand, customer order postponements, es-
pecially in the latter half of the year, resulted in lower bookings for the reporting period. However, 
gross profit reached EUR 22.6 million, and the operating result on EBIT-level reached EUR 6.5 mil-
lion, supported by increased volume and disciplined cost management. The EBIT margin climbed to 
5.7%, returning to the defined target range. With an order backlog of EUR 96.0 million at year-end 
and a robust sales pipeline, Kardex Mlog anticipates a solid start to the new financial year, even 
though market visibility, especially in Germany, remains limited.  

The market landscape remained challenging 
throughout the reporting period. Although the 
year began with strong demand, it tapered off 
significantly from the second quarter onward. As 
the year progressed, Kardex Mlog noted signifi-
cant project delays in placing orders across vari-
ous sectors due to shifts in the interest rate envi-
ronment and the overall economic situation in 
Central Europe. This led to lower bookings of 
EUR 78.9 million, compared to EUR 125.4 mil-
lion in the previous year. 

Strengthening market position in lightgoods 
Business collaboration with corporate ventures 
Rocket Solution and Kardex AS Solutions bol-
stered Kardex Mlog's standing in the market. 
The successful implementation of the first joined 
projects and the operation of four AutoStore sys-
tems based on Kardex Mlog software further so-
lidified its position.  

Order backlog normalized  
The overall order backlog at year-end stood at 
EUR 96.0 million, down EUR 26.4% from the 
record-high levels of the previous year (EUR 
130.5 million). This decline was largely due to 
delays and postponements to projects. However, 
it also ensured a well filled sales funnel heading 
into the new year. Furthermore, the resumption 
of EU funding is expected to drive increased de-
mand during the year to come.  

Encouraging net revenue growth 
A combination of a record-high starting order 
backlog and strong early-year bookings led to net 
revenues of EUR 113.4 million, an increase of 
EUR 7.8 million compared to the previous year. 
The net revenue mix remained largely consistent 
with New Business contributing 71.8% (73.4%) or 
EUR 81.4 million, and Life Cycle Service (LCS) 
contributing EUR 32.0 million, equivalent to a 
28.2% share (26.6%).

Division Kardex Mlog 
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Key figures for the Kardex Mlog Division 
 
          

in EUR million   2023 (%)   2022 (%) (+/-%) 

Bookings   78.9 69.6%   125.4 118.8% -37.1% 
Order backlog (31.12.)   96.0 84.7%   130.5 123.6% -26.4% 
          
Net revenues   113.4 100.0%   105.6 100.0% 7.4% 
EBITDA   7.1 6.3%   5.8 5.5% 22.4% 
Operating result (EBIT)   6.5 5.7%   5.1 4.8% 27.5% 
          
Employees (FTE as of 31.12.)   353    333  6.0% 
          

 

EBIT-margin returned to the target range 
Despite some delays in electronic component de-
liveries persisted, and customer-side postpone-
ments further complicated project execution and 
on-site system commissioning. Nevertheless, 
Kardex Mlog was able to pass on higher procure-
ment costs to customers and increase sales 
prices, particularly in the first half of the year. 
This translated into an increase in the gross profit 
margin from 19.3% to 19.9%. In absolute terms, 
gross profit grew by 10.8% to EUR 22.6 million. 

The heightened gross profit margin, coupled with 
increased volumes and disciplined cost manage-
ment in personnel and marketing expenses, re-
sulted in an EBIT of EUR 6.5 million (EUR 5.1 
million) with an EBIT margin of 5.7% (4.8%), 
thereby returning to the communicated target 
range.  

Investments in a strong organization 
Kardex Mlog continued to make targeted invest-
ments in its future and organization. Strengthen-
ing key account management in the LCS area, 
which has become increasingly crucial for results 

and margins, was a priority, doubling the number 
of employees in this segment. Currently, approxi-
mately 90% of Kardex Mlog’s existing customers 
regularly seek advice, whether related to mod-
ernization projects or general system mainte-
nance.  Kardex Mlog also expanded the software 
development team, recognizing its growing im-
portance for the successful market positioning. 
Overall, Kardex Mlog is seen as an attractive em-
ployer, successfully filling key positions with ex-
perienced specialists. The number of full-time 
positions increased by 6.0%, enabling Kardex 
Mlog to handle increased volumes efficiently and 
carefully monitor projects.  

Outlook 
The market environment in Kardex Mlog's sec-
tors remains challenging. However, the solid or-
der backlog and a well-filled sales funnel, along 
with the potential realization of previously post-
poned projects in the current year, set the stage 
for a good start to 2024. The goal is to maintain 
profitability within the communicated EBIT tar-
get range of 5-8% over the business cycle.  



Division Kardex Mlog 

18 

Net revenues by region 
2023 financial year 

Net revenues by business unit 
2023 financial year 

 Germany

 Rest of Europe 

Net revenues 
in EUR million 

EBIT and EBIT margin 
in EUR million and in % 
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Kardex is committed to the established principles 
of responsible corporate governance as outlined 
in the Swiss Code of Best Practice for Corporate 
Governance by economiesuisse, and also adheres 
to the Directive on Information Relating to Cor-
porate Governance issued by SIX Exchange Reg-
ulation AG. By embracing these principles and 
adhering to the Directive, Kardex aims to uphold 
corporate and ESG policies that benefit current 
and future shareholders, investors, employees, 
business associates, and the general public. The 
Company ensures risk-managed decisions and 
outcomes through rigorous internal controls and 
business process monitoring. Kardex is dedicated 
to providing comprehensive and transparent 
communication with all stakeholders. The princi-
ples of corporate governance at Kardex are en-
capsulated in the Articles of Association (Articles 
of Association_Kardex Holding AG_AGM 
2023.pdf (hubspotusercontent-na1.net)) and the 
Kardex Holding AG Organizational Regulations 
(2022-04 Organization Regulation of Kardex 
Holding AG v4.1 valid from 2022-05-01_EN.pdf 
(hubspotusercontent-na1.net)), as well as the 
Code of Conduct (Kardex_CodeOfConduct_EN 
(bfldr.com)). Further information is available on 
the Group's website at www.kardex.com. 

In this section, details about Kardex' corporate 
governance are presented. For clarity and to en-
sure a smooth reading experience, Kardex may 
direct the reader to relevant sections within this 
Annual Report or other Kardex publications for 
additional information. Please note, any signifi-
cant events or changes that have taken place be-
tween the balance sheet date (i.e. 31 December 
2023) and the publication of this report will be 
duly highlighted. 

1. Group structure and
shareholders

1.1 Group structure 

1.1.1 Operational group structure 

Kardex operates under two entrepreneurially led 
divisions: Kardex Remstar and Kardex Mlog, in 
addition to the overarching Kardex Holding AG, 
which encompasses Group Functions and Corpo-
rate Ventures. The leadership of Kardex is in the 
hands of the Board of Directors along with the 
Group Management team. This team comprises 
the CEO, CFO, and two Division Heads, collabo-
ratively steering the Company's strategic direc-
tion and operations. 

https://4920851.fs1.hubspotusercontent-na1.net/hubfs/4920851/Articles%20of%20Association_Kardex%20Holding%20AG_AGM%202023.pdf
https://4920851.fs1.hubspotusercontent-na1.net/hubfs/4920851/Articles%20of%20Association_Kardex%20Holding%20AG_AGM%202023.pdf
https://4920851.fs1.hubspotusercontent-na1.net/hubfs/4920851/Articles%20of%20Association_Kardex%20Holding%20AG_AGM%202023.pdf
https://4920851.fs1.hubspotusercontent-na1.net/hubfs/4920851/2022-04%20Organization%20Regulation%20of%20Kardex%20Holding%20AG%20v4.1%20valid%20from%202022-05-01_EN.pdf
https://4920851.fs1.hubspotusercontent-na1.net/hubfs/4920851/2022-04%20Organization%20Regulation%20of%20Kardex%20Holding%20AG%20v4.1%20valid%20from%202022-05-01_EN.pdf
https://4920851.fs1.hubspotusercontent-na1.net/hubfs/4920851/2022-04%20Organization%20Regulation%20of%20Kardex%20Holding%20AG%20v4.1%20valid%20from%202022-05-01_EN.pdf
https://cdn.bfldr.com/EL3HU3A3/as/qv73fnwstjkzsbm5mcft7j84/Kardex_CodeOfConduct_EN
https://cdn.bfldr.com/EL3HU3A3/as/qv73fnwstjkzsbm5mcft7j84/Kardex_CodeOfConduct_EN
http://www.kardex.com/
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The allocation of responsibilities between the 
Board of Directors and Group Management is de-
tailed in Section 3.6, page 33. 

1.1.2  Listed company in scope of consolida-
tion 

 
Company  Kardex Holding AG 

 

 

 

Registered office   Zurich, Switzerland 

 

 

Listed at  SIX Swiss Exchange 

 

 

 

Swiss security no.  10083728 

 

ISIN  CH0100837282 

 

Symbol  KARN 

 

Market capitalization 
as of 31 December 2023 

 CHF 1'685 million 
 

 
 

 

 

 

Kardex Holding AG, a publicly traded company 
incorporated under Swiss law and based in Zur-
ich, Switzerland (referred to as "the Company"), 
serves as the parent company of Kardex. The 
shares of Kardex Holding AG are publicly traded 
under the Swiss Reporting Standard on the SIX 
Swiss Exchange, also located in Zurich, Switzer-
land. Each share has a nominal value of 
CHF 0.45. The subsidiary companies included in 
the consolidation are not publicly listed. 

1.1.3 Non-listed companies in scope of con-
solidation 

The subsidiaries and associated companies 
within the consolidation scope of Kardex Holding 
AG are detailed in the notes section of the con-
solidated financial statements. For a complete 
listing, please refer to pages 117 and 119 of the 
Annual Report. 

1.2 Significant shareholders 

As of 31 December 2023, the Company's share 
register listed a total of  3'746 shareholders 
(3'505). As of the same date, which marks the 
balance sheet date, the following shareholders 
held stakes of 3% or more in terms of the per-
centage of capital held: 

 
 

 

 

  

 

 BURU Holding AG und Philipp Buhofer 
 

22.1% 
 Kempen Capital Management N.V. 

 
5.7% 

 Alantra Partners S.A. 
 

4.2% 
 Credit Suisse Funds AG 

 
3.1% 

 Other shareholders 
 

64.9% 

 

As of the balance sheet date, the Company 
maintained ownership of 14'210 shares in Kardex 
Holding AG (16'832). Within the consolidated 
group, no other entities held shares in Kardex 
Holding AG. 

Unregistered shares represented 41.8% of the to-
tal share count as of 31 December 2023, a slight 
change from the previous 39.0%. 

In compliance with Articles 120 and 121 of the Fi-
nancial Market Infrastructure Act (FinMIA), sig-
nificant shareholders or shareholder groups have 
submitted reports to the Company and the Dis-
closure Office of SIX Swiss Exchange. These re-
ports are publicly accessible on the Disclosure 
Office’s publication platform, which can be found 
at https://www.ser-ag.com/en/resources/notifica-
tions-market-participants/significant-sharehold-
ers.html#/. 

No Shareholders’ Agreements exist. 

1.3 Cross-shareholdings 

As of the date of this balance sheet, there are no 
cross-shareholdings.

22.1

5.7

4.2

3.1

64.9

https://www.ser-ag.com/en/resources/notifications-market-participants/significant-shareholders.html#/
https://www.ser-ag.com/en/resources/notifications-market-participants/significant-shareholders.html#/
https://www.ser-ag.com/en/resources/notifications-market-participants/significant-shareholders.html#/
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2. Capital structure 

Share capital and capital structure 
          

   2023   2022 2021 2020 2019 

Par value per share (CHF)   0.45   0.45 0.45 0.45 0.45 
Total registered shares   7'730'000   7'730'000 7'730'000 7'730'000 7'730'000 
Number of treasury shares   14'210   16'832 17'984 19'560 11'640 
Number of outstanding shares   7'715'790   7'713'168 7'712'016 7'710'440 7'718'360 
Registered capital (CHF 1'000)   3'479   3'479 3'479 3'479 3'479 
Total voting rights   7'715'790   7'713'168 7'712'016 7'710'440 7'718'360 
          

 

Key figures per share 

The key financial figures per share for the Com-
pany can be found on page 9 of this Annual Re-
port. 

2.1 Capital 

As of 31 December 2023, the ordinary capital of 
Kardex Holding AG stood at CHF 3'478'500, 
represented by 7'730'000 shares. 

2.2 Capital band and conditional capital 
in particular 

As of 31 December 2023, the Company did not 
possess any conditional capital or maintain a capi-
tal band. 

2.3 Changes in capital 

For a comprehensive summary of the changes in 
capital from the financial years 2019 to 2023, re-
fer to the table titled "Share capital and capital 
structure" in section 2, or on page 24. 

2.4 Shares and participation certificates 

The Company possesses 7'730'000 fully paid-up 
registered shares, each with a nominal value of 
CHF 0.45 each. Each registered share entitles the 
holder to one vote at the General Meeting, adher-
ing to the 'one share – one vote' principle. These 
shares are also eligible for dividends. However, 
treasury shares are not entitled to dividends. 

The Company held no participatory capital as of 
31 December 2023. 

Consistently, up to 75% of the operating profit 
(calculated as the operating result for the period 
from the consolidated Group result) will be allo-
cated for distribution to shareholders. This is 
based on a recommendation by the Board of Di-
rectors and subject to approval at the General 
Meeting. 

2.5 Dividend-right certificates 

The Company did not issue any dividend rights 
certificates as of  31 December 2023. 

2.6 Limitations on transferability and 
nominee registrations 

The shares of Kardex Holding AG are open for 
purchase by any individual or legal entity. Nomi-
nee registrations are acceptable. However, the ac-
quisition of shares is subject to specific conditions 
regarding nominee registrations: 

• The Company may refuse registration as a 
shareholder with voting rights in the share 
register if upon request the purchaser does 
not expressly declare that they hold the 
shares in their name and for their account, 
that there is no agreement concerning the re-
demption or return of the shares in question 
and that they bear the economic risk associ-
ated with the shares. The Board of Directors 
is entitled to delete an entry in the share 
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register with retroactive effect from the date 
of that entry if such entry was based on false 
information but may hear the shareholder or 
beneficiary in question in advance. In each 
case, the shareholder or beneficiary in ques-
tion must be immediately informed of the de-
letion. 

• The aforementioned restrictions on nominee 
registrations are clearly outlined in paragraph 
3 sections 11 and 12 of the Articles of Associa-
tion, which can be accessed at Articles of As-
sociation_Kardex Holding AG_AGM 2023.pdf 
(hubspotusercontent-na1.net). These clauses 
in the Articles of Association can be repealed 
through a simple resolution of the General 
Meeting. All the above is subject to any legal 
constraints on share transferability. In the re-
ported year and the preceding year, no excep-
tions to these rules were made. 
 

2.7 Convertible bonds and options 

As of 31 December 2023, the Company had no 
convertible bonds or options outstanding. 

3. Board of Directors 

The Board of Directors holds the primary respon-
sibility for guiding Kardex' strategic direction and 
supervising its management. This Board serves as 
the highest authority in decision-making, barring 
issues that are reserved for resolution at the Gen-
eral Meeting.  

3.1 Members of the Board of Directors 

The Board of Directors at Kardex Holding AG is 
composed of seven members. During a transition 
period from March to May 2023, Felix Thöni 
served as the Acting Executive Director. This in-
terim role bridged the gap between the departure 
of former CEO Jens Fankhänel and the com-
mencement of Jens Hardenacke's tenure as the 
new CEO. The remaining Board members were all 
non-executive and met the criteria for independ-
ence as defined by the Swiss Code of Best Prac-
tice for Corporate Governance. Specifically, they 
had not been part of the Group Management of 
Kardex Holding AG or the management board of 
any subsidiary in the past three years. Further-
more, they maintained no or comparatively minor 
business relationships with Kardex. Notably, 
Philipp Buhofer, despite holding a substantial 
number of Kardex shares, was deemed independ-
ent from the Company's perspective. This assess-
ment aligns with Article 154 of the Swiss Code of 
Best Practice for Corporate Governance as out-
lined by economie-suisse (for further details, visit 
https://www.economiesuisse.ch/sites/de-
fault/files/publications/swisscode_e_web_0.pdf). 

  

https://4920851.fs1.hubspotusercontent-na1.net/hubfs/4920851/Articles%20of%20Association_Kardex%20Holding%20AG_AGM%202023.pdf
https://4920851.fs1.hubspotusercontent-na1.net/hubfs/4920851/Articles%20of%20Association_Kardex%20Holding%20AG_AGM%202023.pdf
https://4920851.fs1.hubspotusercontent-na1.net/hubfs/4920851/Articles%20of%20Association_Kardex%20Holding%20AG_AGM%202023.pdf
https://www.economiesuisse.ch/sites/default/files/publications/swisscode_e_web_0.pdf
https://www.economiesuisse.ch/sites/default/files/publications/swisscode_e_web_0.pdf
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2023 (March – May) 
 a.i. Executive Director, Kardex Holding AG, Zurich, Switzerland 
2012 - 2016 
 Executive Director, Kardex Holding AG, Zurich, Switzerland 
Since 2010 
 Board Member, Management Consultant 
2003 – 2009 
 CFO, Charles Vögele Holding AG, Pfäffikon, Switzerland 
1992 – 2002 
 CFO, Carlo Gavazzi Holding AG, Steinhausen, Switzerland 
 
Other directorships of non­listed companies 
 Cham Group AG, Cham, Switzerland** 
 Renergia Zentralschweiz AG, Perlen/Root, Switzerland** 
 Felix Thöni (FT Consulting), Cham, Switzerland 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  

Felix Thöni 
 
1959, Swiss citizen, 
Dr. oec. HSG 
 
Non-executive member of the BoD 
 Chairman since 2021 
 Vice Chairman from 2016 - 2020 
 Member since 2011 
 Considered not independent due to his 

Executive Director role in 2023  
(March – May) 

 

* In the function as Chairperson of the Board of Directors 
** In the function as Member of the Board of Directors 
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Since 2009 
 Partner, Berg Looser Rauber Partners (BLR Partners AG), Zurich, 

Switzerland 
2001 – 2009 
 Chairman (since 2005), Accenture AG (Switzerland), Zurich, Switzerland 
1987 – 2001 
 Partner (since 1993), McKinsey & Company Inc., Zurich, Switzerland 
 
Other directorships of listed companies 
 LEM, Fribourg, Switzerland** 
 u-blox, Thalwil, Switzerland** 
 
Other directorships of non­listed companies 
 Bachofen Holding AG, Uster, Switzerland*  
 Balgrist Beteiligungs AG, Zurich, Switzerland** 
 BLR Partners AG, Zurich, Switzerland* 
 FOSTAG Formenbau AG, Stein am Rhein, Switzerland** 
 Geistlich Holding AG, Schlieren, Switzerland** 
 
Other activities at legal entities such as foundations and associations/ 
consultancy roles/political offices  
 Member of the Board of economiesuisse, Switzerland: Chairman of the 

Committee on Education and Research  
 Swiss National Science Foundation (SNSF), Switzerland: Member of the 

Board of Trustees’  
 Swiss-American Chamber of Commerce, Switzerland: Member Chapter 

“Doing business in the US” 
 Swiss Association “Balgrist”, Zurich, Switzerland: Member of the Board  
 University of Applied Sciences, Zurich, Switzerland: Member of the Uni-

versity Board 
 Venture Foundation, Zurich, Switzerland: Chairman of the Foundation 

Board 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 
Since 1997 
 Independent entrepreneur 
2002 – 2003 
 Delegate and Chairman of the Board of Directors, EPA AG,  

Zurich, Switzerland 
 

Other directorships of listed companies  
 Klingelnberg AG, Zurich, Switzerland** 
 
Other directorships of non­listed companies 
 Lokremise AG, Cham, Switzerland* 
 ADUR Management AG, Baar, Switzerland** 
 BURU Holding AG, Hagendorn, Switzerland** 
 Cham Group AG, Cham, Switzerland* 

 

Ulrich Jakob Looser 
 
1957, Swiss citizen, 
Dipl. Phys. ETH, lic. oec. HSG 
 
Non-executive member of the BoD 
 Vice Chairman since 2021 
 Member since 2012 
 Considered independent 

* In the function as Chairperson of the Board of Directors 
** In the function as Member of the Board of Directors 

Philipp Buhofer 
 
1959, Swiss citizen,  
HWV Horw/Luzern 
 
Non-executive member of the BoD 
 Member since 2004 
 Considered independent 
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Since 2011 
 CEO, maxon international ag, Sachseln, Switzerland 
1991 - 2011 
 Various management functions, maxon motor ag, Sachseln, Switzerland 
 
Other directorship of listed company  
 Monolithic Power Systems Inc., Kirkland, USA** 
 
Other directorships of nonlisted companies 
 maxon international ltd., Sachseln, Switzerland** 
 
Other activities at legal entities such as foundations and associations/ 
consultancy roles/political offices 
 Chamber of Commerce and Industry of Central Switzerland: Member of 

the Board of Directors  
 Swiss American Chamber of Commerce, Switzerland: Member Chapter 

“Doing Business in the US” 
 
 

 
 

   
Since 2023 
 Co-Founder and Co-CEO of PhenoSign AG, Bubikon, Switzerland 
2011 - 2023 
 Chief Technology Officer and member of the Executive Committee, 

dormakaba Group, Ruemlang, Switzerland 
2003 – 2010 
 Head of Development and member of Management Board, Kaba AG, 

Wetzikon, Switzerland; from 2009 additionally Head of Development 
and member of Management Board, Kaba GmbH, Herzogenburg, Austria 

1999 – 2003 
 Member of Management Board, Sensirion AG, Staefa, Switzerland 
 
Other directorship of listed company 
 Komax Holding AG, Dierikon, Switzerland** 
 
Other directorship of non­listed company 
 PhenoSign AG, Bubikon, Switzerland* 
 
Other activities at legal entities such as foundations and associations/ 
consultancy roles/political offices 
 Member of Industrial Advisory Board ETH Zurich, Switzerland 
 Member of Swissmem Research Committee Zurich, Switzerland 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Eugen Elmiger 
 
1963, Swiss citizen,  
BS in Electrical Engineering, HSLU 
Horw 
 
Non-executive member of the BoD 
 Member since 2020 
 Considered independent 

Andreas Häberli 
 
1968, Swiss citizen,  
Dipl. El. Ing. ETH, Dr. sc. techn. ETH 
Zurich 
 
Non-executive member of the BoD 
 Member since 2020 
 Considered independent 

 

* In the function as Chairperson of the Board of Directors 
** In the function as Member of the Board of Directors 
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Since 1999 
 Founder and CEO, Capital Concepts International AG, Zurich, Switzerland
1996 - 1999 
 Senior Manager Corporate Finance (since 1997), KPMG Corporate

Finance Zurich, Switzerland
1992 - 1996 
 Audit Senior (since 1994), Deloitte & Touche, Zurich, Switzerland and

Munich, Germany

Other directorships of nonlisted companies 
 Artemis Holding, Hergiswil, Switzerland* 
 WICOR Holding AG, Rapperswil, Switzerland** 
 Capital Concepts International AG, Zurich, Switzerland* 
 Nova Property Fund Management, Pfäffikon, Switzerland** 

Other activities at legal entities such as foundations and associations/ 
consultancy roles/political offices 
 University of Zurich (UZH) Foundation** 
 University of California, Berkeley, Department of Political Economy,

Alumni Advisory Board** 

Since 2022 
 Professional Board member 
2019 - 2022 
 CEO, Bank Cler, Basel, Switzerland
2018 - 2019 
 Chief Digital Officer, Basler Kantonalbank Konzern, Basel, Switzerland
2016 - 2018
 CEO, Moneyhouse AG, NZZ Media Group, Zurich, Switzerland
2008 - 2016 
 Executive Director Wholesale, Member of the Top Management, Direc-

tor in various functions, Sunrise Communications AG, Zurich, Switzerland
2002 - 2008 
 Manager, UPC, Zurich, Switzerland

Other directorship of listed company 
 Burckhardt Compression AG, Winterthur, Switzerland** 

Other directorships of nonlisted companies 
 Die Schweizerische Post, Bern, Switzerland** 
 Post Finance, Bern, Switzerland**
 MTK Consult GmbH, Erlenbach, Switzerland
 Kontivia AG, Zurich, Switzerland**

Other activities at legal entities such as foundations and associations/ 
consultancy roles/political offices 
 ETH Juniors, Zurich, Switzerland: Member of the Board
 Gesellschaft für Marketing, Zurich, Switzerland: Member of the Marke-

ting Price Jury
GR Digital, Chur, Switzerland: Member of the Expert Council Team

Jennifer Maag 

1969, Swiss and German citizen,  
Bachelor of Arts in Political Economy,  
University of California, Berkeley, 
USA 

Non-executive member of the BoD 
 Member since 2022 
 Considered independent

Maria Teresa Vacalli 

1971, Swiss citizen, 
Master Degree in Industrial Engineer-
ing, ETH, Zurich, Switzerland 

Non-executive member of the BoD 
 Member since 2023
 Considered independent

* In the function as Chairperson of the Board of Directors
** In the function as Member of the Board of Directors
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3.2 Other activities and vested interests 

The various activities and interests of each Board 
of Directors member are detailed in section 3.1. 
These comply with the guidelines set forth in the 
Articles of Association, as explicitly outlined in 
section 13, paragraph 4, and as enumerated in 
section 3.3 of this report.  

3.3 Number of permitted activities 

In compliance with Section 13, Paragraph 4 of the 
Articles of Association (Articles of Associa-
tion_Kardex Holding AG_AGM 2023.pdf (hub-
spotusercontent-na1.net)), members of the Board 
of Directors are limited to holding no more than 
five mandates in publicly traded companies and a 
maximum of ten mandates in private companies. 
 
However, the following types of mandates are ex-
empt from these restrictions: 
 Mandates in companies either controlled by or 

controlling this Company. 
 Mandates in companies approved by this Com-

pany’s order. No Board of Directors or Manage-
ment Board member may exceed ten such man-
dates. 
 Mandates in various non-profit and educational 

organizations such as associations, federations, 
foundations, trusts, employee benefit founda-
tions, and educational institutions. No member 
of either the Board of Directors or Management 
Board may hold more than ten such mandates. 

 
Comparable roles in economically driven compa-
nies will be considered as mandates. Mandates 
held across multiple legal entities under the same 
control or with identical beneficial ownership will 
be counted as a single mandate. If an individual 
serves on both the Board of Directors and the 
Management Board, they will only be subject to 
the mandate rules applicable to Management 
Board Association members. 

During the reporting period, as well as in the pre-
ceding year, the Board of Directors fully adhered 
to the mandates outlined in the Articles of 

Association. Further information can be found in 
section 3.2 of the Remuneration report. 

3.4 Elections and terms of office 

3.4.1 Principles of the election procedure and 
restrictions on term of office  

Each member of the Board of Directors serves 
a one-year term, concluding at the end of the 
subsequent annual General Meeting. Members 
are eligible for re-election without any limita-
tions. In the case of by-elections, newly ap-
pointed members will complete the remaining 
term of their predecessors. 

Board members are required to retire from the 
Board of Directors upon reaching 70 years of 
age. This retirement becomes effective at the 
conclusion of the next annual General Meeting 
following their 70th birthday. 

3.4.2 Initial election and remaining term of  
office of each member of the Board of 
Directors 

Name  First year 
 

 Term expires 
Felix Thöni 

 
2011 

 
2024 

Ulrich Jakob Looser 
 

2012 
 

2024 
Philipp Buhofer  

 
2004 

 
2024 

Eugen Elmiger 
 

2020 
 

2024 
Andreas Häberli 

 
2020 

 
2024 

Jennifer Maag 
 

2022 
 

2024 
Maria Teresa Vacalli 

 
2023 

 
2024 

https://4920851.fs1.hubspotusercontent-na1.net/hubfs/4920851/Articles%20of%20Association_Kardex%20Holding%20AG_AGM%202023.pdf
https://4920851.fs1.hubspotusercontent-na1.net/hubfs/4920851/Articles%20of%20Association_Kardex%20Holding%20AG_AGM%202023.pdf
https://4920851.fs1.hubspotusercontent-na1.net/hubfs/4920851/Articles%20of%20Association_Kardex%20Holding%20AG_AGM%202023.pdf
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3.5 Internal organizational structure 

The Board of Directors' non-transferable and ir-
revocable statutory responsibilities are defined 
under article 716a of the Swiss Code of Obliga-
tions (CO). These duties are further detailed in the 
Company's Articles of Association and Organiza-
tional Regulations. For more information, the Or-
ganizational Regulations can be accessed at 
2022-04 Organization Regulation of Kardex 
Holding AG v4.1 valid from 2022-05-01_EN.pdf 
(hubspotusercontent-na1.net). 

3.5.1 Allocation of tasks within the Board of 
Directors 

Felix Thöni has served as the Chairman of the 
Board of Directors since the 2021 General Meet-
ing, with Ulrich Jakob Looser assuming the role of 
Vice Chairman since the same time. The Board's 
two permanent committees are chaired by Jen-
nifer Maag, who leads the Audit Committee, and 
Ulrich Jakob Looser, who oversees the Compensa-
tion and Nomination Committee. 

The Board of Directors carries overall responsibil-
ity for the ESG Strategy. To ensure the effective 
implementation of this strategy, an ESG Steering 
Group has been established. This group, chaired 
by Jennifer Maag, includes Felix Thöni as Chair-
man of the Board of Directors, Jens Hardenacke 
as CEO and Thomas Reist as CFO. They are 
tasked with steering and overseeing the ESG ac-
tivities. Further details about the ESG Manage-
ment Team are available in the Sustainability re-
port (ESG) on page 62, section 0. 

3.5.2 Members list, tasks and area of respon-
sibility for each committee of the Board 
of Directors 

The Audit Committee (AC) and the Compensation 
and Nomination Committee (CNC), as the two 
standing committees, play pivotal roles in sup-
porting the Board of Directors. They are instru-
mental in preparing key decisions and providing 
essential assistance to the Board. 

The composition of the committees is as follows: 

Name  AC  CNC 
Felix Thöni 

 

 

 

 

Ulrich Jakob Looser 
 

 
 

Chairman 
Philipp Buhofer 

 
 

 
Member 

Eugen Elmiger 
 

Member 
 

 
Andreas Häberli 

 
Member 

 
  

Jennifer Maag 
 

Chairwoman 
 

 
Maria Teresa Vacalli 

 
 

 
Member 

 
Pursuant to article 3.9 of the Organizational Reg-
ulations (2022-04 Organization Regulation of 
Kardex Holding AG v4.1 valid from 2022-05-
01_EN.pdf (hubspotusercontent-na1.net)), the 
Board of Directors has the authority to establish 
additional committees to enhance its efficiency in 
fulfilling its responsibilities.  

The Board is responsible for appointing the chairs 
and members of these committees and delineat-
ing their specific roles and responsibilities. These 
committees provide regular reports to the Board 
of Directors on their respective activities. How-
ever, the overarching accountability for tasks del-
egated to these committees continues to rest with 
the full Board of Directors. 

Audit Committee 
The Audit Committee comprises two to five mem-
bers from the Board of Directors, elected by the 
Board for a one-year term. The majority of the 
committee, including the Chairperson, must pos-
sess expertise in financial and accounting mat-
ters. The Board of Directors selects the Chairper-
son of the Audit Committee, who cannot concur-
rently serve as the Chairperson of the Board of Di-
rectors.  

The Audit Committee assists the Board of Direc-
tors in its overarching supervisory role, focusing 
especially on overseeing the integrity of financial 
statements, both annual and interim reports, the 
accounting process' internal control system, risk 
management, and the review of external and in-
ternal auditors' work. The primary responsibilities 

https://4920851.fs1.hubspotusercontent-na1.net/hubfs/4920851/2022-04%20Organization%20Regulation%20of%20Kardex%20Holding%20AG%20v4.1%20valid%20from%202022-05-01_EN.pdf
https://4920851.fs1.hubspotusercontent-na1.net/hubfs/4920851/2022-04%20Organization%20Regulation%20of%20Kardex%20Holding%20AG%20v4.1%20valid%20from%202022-05-01_EN.pdf
https://4920851.fs1.hubspotusercontent-na1.net/hubfs/4920851/2022-04%20Organization%20Regulation%20of%20Kardex%20Holding%20AG%20v4.1%20valid%20from%202022-05-01_EN.pdf
https://4920851.fs1.hubspotusercontent-na1.net/hubfs/4920851/2022-04%20Organization%20Regulation%20of%20Kardex%20Holding%20AG%20v4.1%20valid%20from%202022-05-01_EN.pdf
https://4920851.fs1.hubspotusercontent-na1.net/hubfs/4920851/2022-04%20Organization%20Regulation%20of%20Kardex%20Holding%20AG%20v4.1%20valid%20from%202022-05-01_EN.pdf
https://4920851.fs1.hubspotusercontent-na1.net/hubfs/4920851/2022-04%20Organization%20Regulation%20of%20Kardex%20Holding%20AG%20v4.1%20valid%20from%202022-05-01_EN.pdf
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of the Audit Committee include: 

 Critically evaluating the annual and interim fi-
nancial statements, in consultation with exter-
nal auditors and Group Management members,
and presenting a recommendation for approval
or rejection to the full Board of Directors.
 Assessing the activities, plans, independence,

and compensation of external auditors, as well
as their collaboration with the Company's fi-
nance and control officers, and discussing their
reports and recommendations.
 Evaluating the effectiveness of the internal con-

trol system and the reliability of reporting. 
 Appraising the efficiency of cybersecurity

measures.
 Ensuring compliance with laws, internal guide-

lines, and other regulations.
 Proposing actions to the full Board of Directors

when necessary during the course of fulfilling its
responsibilities.

The Audit Committee's duties and responsibilities 
are detailed in article 3.9.1 of the Organizational 
Regulations. 

Compensation and Nomination Committee 
The Compensation and Nomination Committee is 
composed of two to five members, who are also 
members of the Board of Directors, elected at the 
Annual General Meeting. The Chairperson of this 
committee is appointed by the Board of Directors. 

This committee’s role is to advise and present 
suggestions to the full Board of Directors, primar-
ily focusing on: 

 Fundamental human resources issues within
Kardex.
 Nominations for the Board of Directors and key

Group positions.
 Approving appointment terms for Group Man-

agement members, including compensation and
contract duration.
 Defining the framework for performance-based

payments within Kardex.

 Determining individual performance-related
payments for Group Management members.
 Monitoring the overall salary structure and its

development, as well as individual total com-
pensation exceeding a predetermined threshold
set by the Committee.
 Ensuring compliance with legal, regulatory, and

supervisory requirements regarding the disclo-
sure of compensation for Board and Group Man-
agement members.
 Discussing and managing whistleblower cases.

The duties and responsibilities of the Compensa-
tion and Nomination Committee are outlined in 
article 3.9.2 of the Organizational Regulations.

3.5.3 Working methods of the Board of 
Directors and its committees 

Board of Directors 
The Board of Directors convenes upon the invita-
tion of the Chairperson or a representative, or at 
the request of a Board member. Detailed minutes 
of the Board's discussions and decisions are 
maintained and signed by the Chairperson and the 
Secretary. The Chairperson also leads the General 
Meeting and, along with Group Management, en-
sures timely dissemination of essential infor-
mation to all stakeholders. 

The Board meets regularly and as business needs 
dictate, with standard meetings typically lasting 
from half a day to a full day. Additionally, the 
Board holds an annual two-to-three-day strategic 
planning session. This past year, the Board con-
vened for seven meetings, ranging from one hour 
to two days (for the strategic session). Board 
members maintained a 100% attendance rate 
(96%). Group Management members are rou-
tinely invited to the Board meetings. For strategy 
and budget sessions, finance managers from vari-
ous divisions also participate. Furthermore, the 
Board may invite other management staff or ex-
ternal advisors for specific matters. Comprehen-
sive documentation on agenda items, as specified 
by the Chairperson or requested by Group Man-
agement, is provided well before the meetings. 
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Audit Committee 
The Audit Committee convenes as necessary, typ-
ically three times annually. Meetings are called by 
the Committee Chair and are attended by the 
CEO, CFO, and other personnel or guests as 
needed. The external auditors are present at all 
meetings. This year, the Committee held five 
meetings, generally lasting half a day. The at-
tendance rate for Committee members was 93% 
(100%): Jennifer Maag attended 5 of 5 meetings 
which were relevant for her, Jakob Bleiker 3 of 3, 
Eugen Elmiger 2 of 2 and Andreas Häberli 4 of 5. 

The Audit Committee regularly reports to the full 
Board of Directors and submits recommendations 
as needed. 

Compensation and Nomination Committee 
The Compensation and Nomination Committee 
meets as required, usually three times per year. 
This year, the Committee held three standard 
meetings, typically lasting half a day. The attend-
ance rate for Committee members was 89% 
(100%): Ulrich Jakob Looser attended 3 of 3 meet-
ings which were relevant for him, Philipp Buhofer 
2 of 3, Eugen Elmiger 1 of 1 and Maria Teresa Va-
calli 2 of 2. 

The Committee reports to the full Board of Direc-
tors and presents proposals when necessary.

3.6 Areas of responsibility 

The Board of Directors is the paramount manage-
rial and supervisory entity for both the Company 
and the Group. Its foremost duties include the 
oversight, management, and supervision of the 
Group Management, which is charged with the 
administration of Kardex. Central to the Board's 
responsibilities are strategic decision-making, 
shaping the organizational structure, and estab-
lishing corporate governance parameters. Addi-
tionally, the Board is tasked with appointing and 
dismissing Group Management members, setting 
their compensation and bonuses, defining finan-
cial and accounting frameworks, and endorsing 
long-term and annual plans, including investment 
budgets. The Board delegates the day-to-day 
management of the Company and Kardex entirely 
to the Group Management, led by the CEO, ex-
cept as mandated by law, the Articles of Associa-
tion, or the Organizational Regulations. Following 
the strategy set by the Board, the Group Manage-
ment oversees Kardex. The roles and powers of 
the Group Management are detailed in article 4 
of the Organizational Regulations (2022-04 Or-
ganization Regulation of Kardex Holding AG v4.1 
valid from 2022-05-01_EN.pdf (hubspotusercon-
tent-na1.net)). 

The Group Management is primarily responsible 
for managing the operational aspects of Kardex, 
overseeing the overall financial outcomes, and ex-
ecuting the Board-approved strategy and action 
plans. The CFO, accountable for financial, tax, 
and capital management, ensures the develop-
ment and implementation of risk control princi-
ples, regulations, and limits. The CFO also guar-
antees transparency in financial outcomes and is 
responsible for the timely delivery of high-quality 
financial reporting. Each Division Head is fully re-
sponsible for their respective division's manage-
ment, outcomes, and associated risks.

https://4920851.fs1.hubspotusercontent-na1.net/hubfs/4920851/2022-04%20Organization%20Regulation%20of%20Kardex%20Holding%20AG%20v4.1%20valid%20from%202022-05-01_EN.pdf
https://4920851.fs1.hubspotusercontent-na1.net/hubfs/4920851/2022-04%20Organization%20Regulation%20of%20Kardex%20Holding%20AG%20v4.1%20valid%20from%202022-05-01_EN.pdf
https://4920851.fs1.hubspotusercontent-na1.net/hubfs/4920851/2022-04%20Organization%20Regulation%20of%20Kardex%20Holding%20AG%20v4.1%20valid%20from%202022-05-01_EN.pdf
https://4920851.fs1.hubspotusercontent-na1.net/hubfs/4920851/2022-04%20Organization%20Regulation%20of%20Kardex%20Holding%20AG%20v4.1%20valid%20from%202022-05-01_EN.pdf
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3.7 Information and control instruments 
vis-à-vis  the Group Management 

Board of Directors 
The Board receives regular updates on business 
operations and significant events from the Group 
Management at each Board meeting. Addition-
ally, the Board Chairperson meets monthly with 
the CEO and CFO to discuss business progress, 
facilitating the Board's oversight of the Group's 
strategic and operational advancement. 

Key instruments for monitoring and controlling 
the Group Management include: 

 Monthly financial reports from Division Heads
on ongoing business performance.
 Annual strategic divisional and Group analyses,

prepared by the Group Management, accompa-
nied by a long-term plan revised by the Group
Management.
 Annual review of Kardex' business risk matrix

by the Group Management and individual risk
owners, categorizing and assessing risks, and
defining control measures in commercial, finan-
cial, governance, information & security, innova-
tion & technology, and strategy risks.
 Special reports from the Group Management on

significant investments, acquisitions, and part-
nerships.
 Regular briefings to the Board on major devel-

opments by the Group Management.

Audit Committee 
The Audit Committee typically reports to the 
Board thrice yearly on finance and accounting 
matters, adherence to accounting standards and 
compliance with laws and processes, risk man-
agement, and internal and external auditing. It 
also scrutinizes financial reporting processes. 

Internal audit function 
Integrated within the finance function of the Com-
pany and its divisions, the internal auditors aid or-
ganizational units in meeting objectives related to 
maintaining and enhancing internal control sys-
tems. Following investigations, the ICS Coordina-
tor presents a report on any actual or suspected ir-
regularities to the Audit Committee. 

Actions based on these reports are systematically 
addressed in the relevant meeting agendas by the 
aforementioned bodies.  

3.8 Gender guidelines 

The Board of Directors is currently composed of 
71% men and 29% women. After 12 years of ser-
vice, Ulrich J. Looser has decided to step down at 
the AGM 2024. The Board thanks him for his val-
uable input during this period. The goal to reach 
30% by 2024 will be achieved with the new com-
position of the Board (67% men; 33% women).  
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4. Group Management

4.1 Members of the Group Management 

The Group Management, comprising four members, oversees Kardex' operational business. Jens Har-
denacke serves as the CEO and Chairman of the Group Management since 01 June 2023. The team 
also includes the CFO, the Head of the Kardex Remstar Division, and the Head of the Kardex Mlog 
Division. Jens Fankhänel, the former CEO, left Kardex by end of February 2023. Details on the man-
agement structure are available in section 1.1.1 of this report on page 22. 

Since 2023 
 CEO of Kardex Holding AG
2021 - 2023
 MD Dematic Central Europe / MD Dematic DACH, SVP, Dematic GMBH, Ger-

many
2017 - 2021 
 MD / President Dematic China, SVP, Dematic International Trading, China
2010 - 2017 
 CEO DMG Asia II / DMG Mori Asia / DMG Mori Seiki Cooperation Markets,

Singapore
2008 - 2009 
 CEO DMG Asia, Gildemeister AG, Shanghai, China
2006 - 2008
 Managing Director DMG Charlotte, Gildemeister AG, Charlotte, USA

Since 2016 
 CFO of Kardex Holding AG
2011 – 2016 
 Head of Finance & Controlling on Holding-level, Kardex Holding AG, Zurich,

Switzerland
2001 – 2011 
 Group Controller / Head of Finance & Controlling, Angst+Pfister AG, Zurich,

Switzerland / Paris, France
1998 – 2001 
 Head of Finance & Controlling, Zimex Aviation AG, Zurich,

Switzerland

Jens Hardenacke 
Chief Executive Officer 

1971, German citizen,  
Dr. rer. Pol. WWU Münster, Germany 

Thomas Reist 
Chief Financial Officer 

1971, Swiss citizen, 
MAS in Corporate Finance/ 
Bachelor of Science FH 
in Business Administration, 
FHNW Zurich/Olten, Switzerland 
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Since 2011 
 Head of Kardex Mlog Division 
2010 – 2011
 Managing Director, Mlog Logistics GmbH, Neuenstadt, Germany
2002 – 2009 
 CEO, Locanis AG, Unterföhring, Germany
2000 – 2001
 Division Manager Distribution and Project Management automatic high rack 

storage systems, MAN Logistics, Heilbronn, Germany

Since 2019 
 Head of Kardex Remstar Division 
2016 – 2019 
 Head of New Business Kardex Remstar
2011 – 2016 
 Head of Life Cycle Service Kardex Remstar 
2008 – 2011
 Divisional Head of TGW Group, Austria
2007 – 2008
 Senior VP Strategic Projects, Swisslog Group, Switzerland
1999 – 2007 
 Head of Region / Managing Director, Swisslog Group, SwitzerlandUrs Siegenthaler 

Head of Kardex Remstar Division 

1959, Swiss citizen, 
University Degree in Mechanical  
Engineering, Bern University of  
Applied Sciences, Biel, Switzerland, 
Postgraduate Studies in Business 
Management, Lucerne University of 
Applied Sciences, Horw, Switzerland 

Hans-Jürgen Heitzer 
Head of Kardex Mlog Division 

1962, German citizen, 
Grad. mechanical engineer,  
Aachen Technical University,  
Germany 
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4.2 Other activities and vested interests 

Members of the Group Management, except 
as noted in their biographies, do not engage in 
any significant external activities or hold 
vested interests beyond their roles at Kardex. 
Specifically, they do not participate in manage-
ment or supervisory roles, nor do they under-
take long-term executive or advisory duties 
outside of Kardex. Additionally, they hold no 
official positions or political offices, and they 
have no substantial vested interests or partici-
pations.

The regulations stipulated in the Articles of 
Association, particularly in paragraph 13, sec-
tion 5, and outlined in section 4.3 of this re-
port, were adhered to during the reporting pe-
riod and the previous year.  

4.3 Number of permitted activities 

In accordance with paragraph 13 section 5 of 
Kardex’ Articles of Association, members of the 
Management Board are limited to holding no 
more than ten positions in other companies, with 
a maximum of two in publicly traded companies. 
Each position held by Management Board mem-
bers, including any temporary exceptions to this 
limitation, requires the approval of the Board of 
Directors. 

Positions in companies with similar economic ob-
jectives are considered equivalent to these man-
dates. Roles in different legal entities under the 
same control or with the same beneficial owner-
ship are counted as a single position. If an indi-
vidual serves on both the Board of Directors and 
the Management Board, they are subject only to 
the regulations pertaining to Management Board 
members. 

Throughout the reporting period and the previous 
year, members of the Group Management have 
adhered to the mandate limits as specified in the 
Articles of Association. 

4.4 Management contracts 

The Company and its subsidiaries do not engage 
in management contracts with third parties. 

4.5 Gender Guidelines 

The Group Management currently consists en-
tirely of male members.  The implemented 
measures for people development facilitate a 
progressive increase in the representation of 
women in mid- and top-level management posi-
tions. Gender equality is a fundamental aspect of 
Kardex’ recruitment process. Kardex trusts that 
these initiatives will organically contribute to an 
ongoing enhancement of gender balance within 
the Group Management.  

5. Compensations, shareholdings,
and loans

Information Details regarding compensation, 
shareholdings, and loans can be found in the 
Remuneration report on page 46 et seqq. 

6. Shareholders’ participation rights

6.1 Voting rights restrictions and repre-
sentation 

On 31 December 2023, 3'746 shareholders were 
registered in the share register. Each registered 
share of Kardex Holding AG grants the owner the 
right to one vote at the General Meeting. Voting 
rights are unrestricted. Additionally, shareholders 
are entitled to appoint a representative to vote on 
their behalf at the General Meeting. This can be 
done via a written proxy given to an independent 
voting proxy, another shareholder with voting 
rights, or a third party. 

The Board of Directors establishes the guidelines 
for granting powers of attorney and providing in-
structions. They may also allow the issuance of 
powers of attorney and instructions to the inde-
pendent representative electronically, without re-
quiring a qualified electronic signature. 
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During the year in review, as well as the preced-
ing year, there were no deviations from these 
rules. Moreover, no specific regulations were in-
troduced concerning the issuance of instructions 
to the independent proxy or regarding electronic 
participation in the General Meeting. 

6.2 Quorums required by the Articles of 
Association 

Unless otherwise specified by law or the Articles 
of Association, General Meeting resolutions and 
elections require an absolute majority of cast 
votes, excluding abstentions, blank, and invalid 
votes. In a tie, the General Meeting Chairperson 
has the casting vote (paragraph 11 section 1 of the 
Articles of Association (Articles of Associa-
tion_Kardex Holding AG_AGM 2023.pdf (hub-
spotusercontent-na1.net)). 

The Company's Articles of Association do not 
mandate specific quorums beyond those required 
by company law. 

6.3 Convocation of General Meetings 

The Board of Directors convenes General Meet-
ings, issuing a notice at least 20 days before the 
meeting. This notice is published in the Compa-
ny's official publication, the Swiss Commercial 
Gazette. The announcement includes the meet-
ing's date, time, and location, along with the 
agenda items and resolutions proposed by both 
the Board of Directors and shareholders who 
have either requested a General Meeting or sub-
mitted agenda items. 

Resolutions can only be passed on matters an-
nounced in this manner. However, exceptions are 
made for requests to hold an extraordinary Gen-
eral Meeting or to conduct a special investiga-
tion, if these are initiated by a shareholder. 

Extraordinary General Meetings can be called by 
either the Board of Directors or upon the audi-
tors' request. Additionally, if shareholders hold-
ing a minimum of 5% of the share capital collec-
tively request such a meeting in writing, 

specifying the agenda and proposals, the Board 
of Directors must convene it within 8 weeks. 

6.4 Inclusion of items on the agenda 

Shareholders collectively owning at least 0.5 per-
cent of the Company's share capital may for-
mally request the addition of an item to the 
agenda. This request should include detailed pro-
posals and must be submitted to the Board of Di-
rectors no later than 40 days before the General 
Meeting. 

6.5 Entries in the share register 

For the General Meeting, the Board of Directors 
will announce a specific cut-off date. Sharehold-
ers must be registered in the share register by 
this date to be eligible to participate and vote at 
the General Meeting (paragraph 3 section 14 of 
the Articles of Association (Articles of Associa-
tion_Kardex Holding AG_AGM 2023.pdf (hub-
spotusercontent-na1.net)). 

7. Changes of control and
defense measures

7.1 Duty to make an offer 

The Articles of Association do not contain any 
opting out or opting up clauses. 

7.2 Clauses on changes of control 

There are no provisions regarding changes of 
control in the Articles of Association. 

7.3 Transparency on non-financial mat-
ters 

Details on non-financial aspects, including en-
vironmental, social, and employee concerns, 
human rights adherence, and anti-corruption 
efforts, are available in the Sustainability re-
port on page 57. 

https://4920851.fs1.hubspotusercontent-na1.net/hubfs/4920851/Articles%20of%20Association_Kardex%20Holding%20AG_AGM%202023.pdf
https://4920851.fs1.hubspotusercontent-na1.net/hubfs/4920851/Articles%20of%20Association_Kardex%20Holding%20AG_AGM%202023.pdf
https://4920851.fs1.hubspotusercontent-na1.net/hubfs/4920851/Articles%20of%20Association_Kardex%20Holding%20AG_AGM%202023.pdf
https://4920851.fs1.hubspotusercontent-na1.net/hubfs/4920851/Articles%20of%20Association_Kardex%20Holding%20AG_AGM%202023.pdf
https://4920851.fs1.hubspotusercontent-na1.net/hubfs/4920851/Articles%20of%20Association_Kardex%20Holding%20AG_AGM%202023.pdf
https://4920851.fs1.hubspotusercontent-na1.net/hubfs/4920851/Articles%20of%20Association_Kardex%20Holding%20AG_AGM%202023.pdf
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8. Auditors 

8.1 Duration of the mandate and term 
of office of the lead auditor 

8.1.1 Date of assumption of the current audit  
mandate 

The auditors are appointed annually at the Gen-
eral Meeting. PricewaterhouseCoopers AG, 
based in Zurich, Switzerland, has served as the 
Company's auditors since 2014. 

8.1.2 Date on which the lead auditor respon-
sible for the current audit mandate took 
up office 

Norbert Kühnis has served as the lead auditor 
since the General Meeting on April 15, 2021, re-
suming the role he previously held until 2015. 
The lead auditor's term is limited to a maximum 
of seven years, with eligibility for reappointment 
following a three-year interval. 

8.2 Auditing fees 

For the fiscal year 2023, PricewaterhouseCoop-
ers billed CHF 1’010.0 thousand (CHF 603.0 
thousand) for audit services, of which CHF 236.0 
thousand related to the audit procedures for the 
2022 year-end audit. Therefore, the comparable 
figures for the audit fees 2023 are CHF 774.0 
thousand for the year 2023 and CHF 839.0 
thousand for the year 2022. These figures in-
clude all related expenses.  

8.3 Additional fees 

PricewaterhouseCoopers also received CHF 211.0 
thousand (CHF 147.7 thousand) for services be-
yond the audit scope. These fees were for devel-
oping and managing the transfer pricing frame-
work and providing tax consulting as well as for 
consulting services in relation to the Sustainabil-
ity report. 

8.4 Information instruments pertaining 
to the external audit 

The Audit Committee, acting on behalf of the 
Board of Directors, assesses the auditors' licens-
ing, independence, and performance. It recom-
mends their appointment or removal to the Gen-
eral Meeting as necessary. This Committee over-
sees the auditing of Kardex Holding AG’s annual 
financial statements, Remuneration report, and 
consolidated financial statements. It receives 
regular updates from the statutory auditors, in-
cluding written and verbal reports on their find-
ings and recommendations for enhancing ac-
counting and internal controls. These insights are 
consolidated into a comprehensive report for the 
full Board of Directors, including the manage-
ment letter. The Committee typically meets with 
the external auditors three times annually to de-
fine the audit's scope, ensuring compliance with 
the mandatory rotation policy for the lead audi-
tor. It also reviews and approves the auditor's 
fees, detailing the split between audit and non-
audit services. The full Board of Directors is kept 
informed through the Audit Committee. 

9. Information policy 

Kardex Holding AG is dedicated to transparent 
and prompt communication, ensuring sharehold-
ers, the capital market, employees, and all stake-
holders are well-informed. The information policy 
aligns with the Swiss stock exchange (SIX Swiss 
Exchange) regulations and relevant legal require-
ments. As a SIX Swiss Exchange-listed entity, 
Kardex adheres to the Listing Rules and the 
Guidelines of SIX Exchange Regulation AG on 
Directive on Ad hoc Publicity. 

Kardex issues biannual business performance re-
ports. All the publications, including Annual and 
Interim Reports, are accessible electronically on 
the Company’s website. Regular press releases 
supplement these publications. Kardex engages 
with investors, analysts, and the media through 
special events, teleconferences, and roadshows. 
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Annual and half-year results are communicated 
to media and analysts via teleconference. The 
General Meeting convenes in Zurich, Switzer-
land. 

Information is distributed electronically or via e-
mail to SIX Swiss Exchange, the Swiss Commer-
cial Gazette (the Company’s official publication 
medium), and other pertinent national business 
journals. Concurrently, it's posted on the Kardex 
website (https://www.kardex.com/en/com-
pany/news). Interested parties can subscribe at 
https://www.kardex.com/en/company/investor-
relations-contact com to receive updates via e-
mail. 

The Chairperson of the Group Management leads 
corporate communications. Official announce-
ments, particularly those related to the mainte-
nance of registered share listings on SIX Swiss 
Exchange, adhere to the exchange's Listing 
Rules and implementing decrees, available at 
www.ser-ag.com. Visit www.kardex.com for 
comprehensive and current information about the 
Group, its products, and contact details. 

Contact information is provided on page 11 of this 
report. 

Corporate calendar 
2024 Annual General Meeting 25 April 2024 
2024 Interim Report 30 July 2024 
2024 Annual Report 6 March 2025 
2025 Annual General Meeting 24 April 2025 
2025 Interim Report 31 July 2025 

10. Quiet and blackout periods

General quiet and blackout periods 
The general quiet and blackout period com-
mences on the final day of the calendar year or 
half-year and concludes one business day follow-
ing the publication of the relevant ad hoc an-
nouncement associated with the respective An-
nual and Interim Report. 

This period applies to the following individuals 
(deemed insiders): 

 Members of the Board of Directors, Group
Management, and their assistants
 Employees of Group, Divisional, and Regional

Finance
 Employees in Corporate Communications and

Investor Relations
 Employees involved in projects containing

price-sensitive information
 External consultants

The Chief Financial Officer (CFO) is responsible 
for maintaining a list of all pertinent individuals. 

Special quiet and blackout periods 
Additional quiet and blackout periods may be in-
stituted at any time. The CFO has the authority 
to determine the initiation and termination of 
these special periods and can make such deci-
sions as circumstances dictate. The CFO is also 
tasked with keeping a record of individuals sub-
ject to these special quiet periods. 

Effects of quiet and blackout periods 
During a quiet and blackout period, insiders are 
prohibited from trading in Kardex shares, related 
securities, or options, whether on their own be-
half or on behalf of others.

https://www.kardex.com/en/company/news
https://www.kardex.com/en/company/news
https://www.kardex.com/en/company/investor-relations-contact
https://www.kardex.com/en/company/investor-relations-contact
http://www.ser-ag.com/
https://www.kardex.com/en.html
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11. Content and method of determin-
ing compensation and sharehold-
ing programs

11.1 Guiding principles 

The success of Kardex is deeply intertwined with 
the quality and dedication of the Board of Direc-
tors and the Group Management members. 
Kardex’ compensation policy is strategically de-
signed to attract and retain top talent in both 
these critical areas. A key component of this pol-
icy is performance-related compensation for 
Group Management, essential for meeting 
Kardex’ objectives. The guiding principles of the 
compensation strategy are: 
 Compensation should be contingent on perfor-

mance and align with market standards.
 Decisions regarding compensation should be

transparent and easily understood.
 Compensation should be directly connected to

the business success of the Company or its di-
visions.

11.2 Responsibilities 

At the start of each term, the Compensation and 
Nomination Committee, as outlined in section 
3.5.2 on page 31 f.) of this report, presents rec-
ommendations to the full Board of Directors re-
garding the annual compensation for the Board 
of Directors members (detailed in section 13.2.1, 
page 50) and suggestions for the remuneration 
of Group Management members (section 13.2.2, 
page 50). In collaboration with the full Board, the 
Committee also sets performance targets for 
Group Management and proposes a structure for 
their variable compensation. Subsequently, the 
Board annually presents to the General Meeting 
for approval the proposed maximum total com-
pensations for: 

 The Board of Directors' remuneration for the
period leading up to the next Annual General
Meeting.
 Total remuneration of Group Management for

the full financial year which follows the Annual
General Meeting.

Additionally, the Board of Directors may propose 
to the General Meeting maximum total amounts 
or specific compensation elements for the Board 
of Directors and Group Management for different 
time frames. 

The total remuneration for both the Board of Di-
rectors and Group Management is sanctioned by 
an absolute majority of votes cast (excluding ab-
stentions, unmarked ballots, and invalid votes). 

Should the General Meeting disapprove a pro-
posed amount, the Board of Directors will deter-
mine the next steps. This may include convening 
an extraordinary General Meeting or setting a 
maximum total amount or several maximum par-
tial amounts, considering all relevant factors, to 
be approved at the next General Meeting. Within 
these limits, the Company may adjust remunera-
tion, pending General Meeting approval. 

At the financial year's end, the Compensation 
and Nomination Committee evaluates the Group 
Management's target achievements. Based on 
their recommendation, the Board of Directors ap-
proves the actual variable compensation within 
the authorized maximum total remuneration ap-
proved by the General Meeting. 

The Board of Directors submits the annual com-
pensation report to the General Meeting for advi-
sory approval. 
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11.3 System of compensation 

11.3.1 Members of the Board of Directors 

The Board members receive a fixed annual fee 
for their duties, including meeting preparation 
and attendance, and committee work. This fee 
comprises a base fee and additional amounts 
based on committee roles and functions. These 
fees are structured to adequately compensate for 
their managerial and supervisory roles over the 
Company's operations. In extraordinary business 
situations necessitating extra meetings, mem-
bers are compensated with a daily rate of CHF 
5’000. No further compensation is provided for 
additional responsibilities.  

The fees are determined based on factors such as 
the responsibility level, task complexity, required 
expertise, personal attributes, and expected time 
commitment. We periodically review data from 
comparable Swiss industrial companies listed on 
SIX Swiss Exchange, considering their size and 
international operations, to ensure competitive 
compensation. 

Board members receive 20% to 100% of their 
fixed fees in shares, with the balance paid in 
cash. The share price is based on the prior 
month's weighted average price, typically Au-
gust. These shares are subject to a three-year 
trading restriction and are therefore discounted 
by 16%. For reporting purposes in the Remunera-
tion report on page 46, shares are valued pre-
discount. 

For mid-month entries or exits, the 15th is the 
cut-off date. Fees for the entire month are paid if 
joining occurs on or before this date. If a resigna-
tion occurs before the 15th, no fee is paid for that 
month. 

11.3.2 Members of the Group Management 

The members of the Group Management are 
compensated with a remuneration package that 
includes the following components: 

 Fixed compensation, including base salary,
lump-sum for representation expenses, and a
company car.
 Short-term variable compensation based on in-

dividual performance and success (STI pro-
gram).
 Long-term variable compensation tied to share

performance (LTI program).

Group Management members who also serve on 
subsidy Boards of Group subsidiaries are not 
compensated separately for these roles. 

New Group Management members receive com-
pensation from the month they assume their 
role. Upon departure, remuneration is paid until 
the contract's expiry. 

Base salary 
Base salaries reflect the assigned responsibili-
ties, required qualifications and experience, and 
the market context. We also consider publicly 
available data from comparable Swiss industrial 
firms listed on the SIX Swiss Exchange of similar 
size with international operations. No external 
consultants were engaged for compensation 
matters in the reporting year. 

Short-Term Incentive program 
The STI program offers variable compensation 
based on individual performance targets and the 
Company's or a specific business unit's economic 
success, as approved by the Board. The Compen-
sation and Nomination Committee sets individual 
targets at the year's start and evaluates achieve-
ments post-financial year, proposing variable 
compensation to the Board. The variable compo-
nent of the STI program for the CEO and CFO pri-
marily hinges on the accomplishment of Kardex' 
financial targets, particularly Earnings Before In-
terest and Taxes (EBIT). Additionally, it may in-
corporate qualitative targets ranging from 30-
50%, depending on the identified focus areas. As 
for the Heads of Kardex Remstar and Kardex 
Mlog divisions, the STI is allocated with a 70% 
weight for achieving the financial targets (EBIT 
and other profitability metrics) within their 
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respective divisions, and a 30% weight for attain-
ing personal qualitative targets. The STI is paid in 
cash. 

Long-Term Incentive program 
The reporting year marks the conclusion of the 
three-year Long-Term Incentive (LTI) program, 
which mandates participation from Group Man-
agement members. This program establishes 
successive LTI periods, each spanning three 
years. The inaugural LTI period commenced on 1 
January 2021. 

Performance targets are gauged based on the 
Total Shareholder Return (TSR) of Kardex shares 
relative to peers in the Swiss Performance Index 
(SPI) over an LTI period. The SPI's constituent 
companies form the comparative peer group. At 
each LTI period's outset, a portion of the partici-
pants' STI compensation (20% for the CEO and 
15% for other members) is allocated to the LTI 
program and matched doubled in total by the 
Company. This forms the maximum LTI entitle-
ment, converted into a maximum quantity of LTI 
shares (performance shares). This conversion 
uses the Kardex Holding AG share's weighted 
average price from the fourth quarter preceding 
the LTI period. For the 2021-2023 period, this 
average price in Q4 2020 was CHF 176. 
Throughout the LTI period, TSR performance is 
assessed at multiple intervals. At the period's 
conclusion, an average performance calculation 
across the entire span determines each partici-
pant's LTI compensation eligibility. This entitle-
ment ranges from 0% to 100% of the maximum 
LTI shares. Full entitlement is achieved if the 
Kardex share's performance ranks within the top 
25% of SPI index shares on average over the 
three years. Conversely, if Kardex' average three-
year performance falls within the bottom 33% of 
SPI shares, no LTI shares are awarded. Interme-
diate performance results in a linearly calculated 
entitlement. This variable LTI compensation is 
disbursed in Kardex shares at the end of the 
three-year cycle.  

11.4 Notice periods 

Board of Directors members are appointed annu-
ally by the General Meeting. Group Management 
members hold employment contracts with a 
maximum twelve-month notice period. Neither 
Board nor Group Management members are en-
titled to contractual severance payments, remu-
neration, or benefits upon departure. 
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12. Rules in the Articles of
Association

12.1 Principles regarding remuneration 
for members of the Board of Direc-
tors and the Group Management 

The Company's Articles of Association stipulate 
fixed remuneration for the Board of Directors 
members, while for Group Management, it con-
sists of fixed and variable (performance-based) 
components.  

Key statutory principles guiding variable remu-
neration for Group Management, as outlined in 
section 18c (paragraphs 2 and 3) of the Articles 
of Association, are: 

 Variable remuneration may comprise both
short-term and long-term components.
 Short-term incentives are based on individual

performance targets and/or the Company's or a
division's economic performance.
 Long-term incentives hinge on objective perfor-

mance metrics that align with strategic objec-
tives, typically evaluated over multiple years.

Both the Board of Directors and Group Manage-
ment members may receive part or all of their re-
muneration in Company shares. The Board of Di-
rectors sets the terms for this (award date, valua-
tion, holding periods, etc.) as per paragraph 18b 
(section 2) and paragraph 18c (section 4 and 5) of 
the Articles of Association. 

For information on the authority to set and ap-
prove remuneration, refer to section 11.2 on page 
42 of this report. If new members join the Group 
Management during a period for which remuner-
ation has been sanctioned, the Company can al-
locate an additional sum per member, up to 40% 
of the total approved remuneration for the Group 
Management. This adjustment, which can be ap-
plied to all remuneration types, including com-
pensation for job change disadvantages, does not 
require General Meeting approval (paragraph 
18e, section 3 of the Articles of Association).

12.2 Loans, credits, and pension benefits 
provided to members of the Board of 
Directors and the Group Manage-
ment 

The Articles of Association do not allow for loans 
or credits to the Board of Directors or Group 
Management members. These contributions are 
considered remuneration (as per paragraph 18b, 
section 1, and paragraph 18c, section 1 of the Ar-
ticles of Association) and must be approved by 
the General Meeting, either individually or as a 
total sum (paragraph 18d of the Articles of Asso-
ciation). 

12.3 General Meeting vote regarding 
remuneration 

For regulations concerning General Meeting 
votes on remuneration, refer to the statements in 
section 11.2 on page 42 of this report. 
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13. Remuneration 2023

13.1 Compensation 

The Remuneration report details all compensa-
tion and participation rights awarded to current or 
fomer Board members, Group Management, and 
related parties. It is audited by external auditors 
and presented by the Board of Directors for 
cosultative approval at the General Meeting. 

There have been no waivers of claims against 
current or former Board or Group Management 
members or related parties, nor are there any 
outstanding loans or credits to them. Addition-
ally, no exceptional compensation has been paid 
to former Board members or Group Manage-
ment. 

Compensation 2023 

Board of Directors (BoD) 

in CHF 1'000 
Remuneration 

in cash 

Remuneration in shares 
Social 

security 
Total 

compensation Name First year Function Number Value 

Felix Thöni 2011 Chairman 240.1 349 71.3 68.4 379.8 
Ulrich Jakob Looser 2012 Vice Chairman 50.0 437 89.3 10.4 149.7 
Jakob Bleiker1 2012 Member 10.2 135 27.6 2.5 40.3 
Philipp Buhofer 2004 Member 72.1 104 21.3 10.1 103.5 
Eugen Elmiger 2020 Member - 524 107.1 10.7 117.8 
Andreas Häberli 2020 Member 72.2 104 21.3 10.7 104.2 
Jennifer Maag 2022 Member 80.2 169 34.5 12.6 127.3 
Maria Teresa Vacalli2 2023 Member 48.2 69 14.1 6.7 69.0 
Total BoD 573.0 1'891 386.5 132.1 1'091.6 

All members of the BoD are elected for one year and term expires at the AGM 2024. 
1 Until AGM 2023. 

2 Since AGM 2023. 

Group Management (GM) 

in CHF 1'000 
Base salary 

in cash 

Variable salary 
Social 

security 
Total 

compensation Name Function STI1 LTI2 Total 

Thomas Reist3 CFO 366.6 292.5 - 292.5 104.5 763.6 
Total GM 1'492.1 990.2 - 990.2 367.1 2'849.4 

By the end of February 2023, the former CEO, Jens Fankhänel, left the Company. His compensation of CHF 104.8 thousand 
base salary and CHF 41.2 thousand social security is not included in the above list. 

1 Short-Term Incentive (in cash). 
2 Long-Term Incentive (considered at grant date in 2021 for the entire LTI period of 3 years (2021 - 2023)). 
3 Highest compensation. 
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Compensation 2022 

Board of Directors (BoD) 

in CHF 1'000 
Remuneration 

in cash 

Remuneration in shares 
Social 

security 
Total 

compensation Name  Year elected Function Number Value 

Felix Thöni 2011 Chairman 240.1 387 71.3 75.9 387.3 
Ulrich Jakob Looser 2012 Vice Chairman 51.4 497 91.6 13.7 156.7 
Jakob Bleiker 2012 Member 90.0 129 23.8 9.5 123.3 
Philipp Buhofer 2004 Member 72.1 116 21.3 10.1 103.5 
Eugen Elmiger 2020 Member 0.1 581 107.1 10.7 117.9 
Andreas Häberli 2020 Member 0.1 581 107.1 10.7 117.9 
Jennifer Maag 2022 Member 58.1 77 14.2 8.6 80.9 
Total BoD 511.9 2'368 436.4 139.2 1'087.5 

Group Management (GM) 

in CHF 1'000 
Base salary 

in cash 

Variable salary 
Social 

security 
Total 

compensation3 Name Function STI1 LTI2 Total 

Jens Fankhänel4 CEO 630.1 74.0 - 74.0 170.0 874.1 
Total GM 1'619.9 251.2 - 251.2 360.3 2'231.4 

1 Short-Term Incentive (in cash). 
2 Long-Term Incentive (present value of shares) valued over the entire LTI period of 3 years at grant date (01 January 2021). 
3 Including valued long-term incentive over the entire LTI period of 3 years. 
4 Highest compensation of former CEO. 



Remuneration report 

48 

13.2 Explanatory notes 

Board of Directors 
The Board of Directors receives a fixed fee for 
their full term of service, as well as additional 
fixed fees based on their roles and participation 
in the two permanent committees.  

Board of Directors' fees in CHF 

Fixed fee 80'000 
+ 
Chairperson Board of Directors 220'000 
Vice Chairperson Board of Directors 25'000 
Chairperson AC 20'000 
Chairperson CNC 20'000 
Member AC 10'000 
Member CNC 10'000 

Extraordinary business circumstances that neces-
sitate additional meetings are compensated at a 
fixed daily rate of CHF 5’000. In the reviewed 
year, five half-day ESG Steering Group meetings 
took place for which Jennifer Maag received CHF 
12’500 for her work as Chairwoman. In 2022, 
two full-day ESG Management Team meetings 
took place for which Jakob Bleiker and Jennifer 
Maag each received CHF 10’000. 

The portion of the Board of Directors' remunera-
tion paid in shares is valued at the preceding 
month's weighted average share price, with a 
16% discount applied to reflect the three-year 
holding period (see section 11.3.1, page 43). How-
ever, in the Compensation Report, the value of 
the allocated shares is calculated based on the 
weighted average share price of the month pre-
ceding allocation, typically August.
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Members' roles in other companies 

Felix Thöni 

• Cham Group AG1, Cham, Switzerland (nl)2: non-exec. Vice-Chairman of the board

• Renergia Zerntralschweiz AG, Perlen/Root, Switzerland (nl): non-exec. member of the board
• Felix Thöni (FT Consulting), Cham, Switzerland (nl): Owner

Ulrich Jakob Looser 

• LEM, Fribourg, Switzerland (l)3: non-exec. member of the board, Chairman of CNC, member of ARC
• u-blox, Thalwil, Switzerland (l): non-exec. member of the board, Chairman of NCSC, member of AC
• Bachofen Holding AG, Uster, Switzerland (nl): non-exec. Chairman of the board

• Balgrist Beteiligungs AG1, Zurich, Switzerland (nl): non-exec. member of the board
• BLR Partners AG, Zurich, Switzerland (nl): exec. Chairman of the board
• FOSTAG Formenbau AG, Stein am Rhein, Switzerland (nl): non-exec. member of the board

• Geistlich Holding AG, Schlieren, Switzerland (nl): non-exec. member of the board

Philipp Buhofer 

• Lokremise AG1, Cham, Switzerland (nl): non-exec. Chairman of the board

• Klingelnberg AG, Zurich, Switzerland (l): non-exec. member of the board, member of NCC
• ADUR Management AG, Baar, Switzerland (nl): non-exec. member of the board
• BURU Holding AG1, Hagendorn, Switzerland (nl): exec. member of the board

• Cham Group AG1, Cham, Switzerland (nl): non-exec. Chairman of the board

Eugen Elmiger 

• Monolithic Power Systems Inc., Kirkland, USA (l): non.exec member of the board, member of CC, Chairman of NGC

• maxon international ltd. 1, Sachseln, Switzerland (nl): Vice-president of the board, member of CNC and CEO of maxon
group

Andreas Häberli 

• Komax Holding AG, Dierikon, Switzerland (l): non-exec. member of the board, member of the NCC, member of SIC
• PhenoSign AG, Bubikon, Switzerland (nl): exec. Chairman of the board

Jennifer Maag 

• Artemis Holding, Hergiswil, Switzerland (nl): non-exec.Chairwoman of the board
• WICOR Holding AG, Rapperswil, Switzerland (nl): non-exec. member of the board
• Capital Concepts International AG, Zurich, Switzerland (nl): exec. Chairwoman of the board

• Nova Property Fund Management, Pfäffikon, Switzerland (nl): non-exec. member of the board

Maria Teresa Vacalli 

• Burckhardt Compression AG, Winterthur, Switzerland (l): non-executive member of the board, member of CNC, mem-

ber of AC
• Die Schweizerische Post, Bern, Switzerland (nl): non-executive member of the board, member of AC
• Post Finance, Bern, Switzerland (nl): non-executive member of the board, Chairwoman of CNC, member of ITD

• MTK Consult GmbH, Erlenbach, Switzerland (nl): Owner and CEO
• Kontivia AG, Zurich, Switzerland (nl): member of the Advisory Board

1 including subsidiaries. 

2  nl = non-listed company. 
3  l = listed company.
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Group Management 
Section 13.1, page 46, outlines the total remu-
neration for the review year. The reported varia-
ble pertains to the completed fiscal year for the 
Short-Term Incentive (STI) program, based on 
the accrual principle. For the Long-Term Incen-
tive (LTI) program, the projected variable com-
pensation cost for the entire 2021-2023 period 
was accounted for in 2021 (grant principle) and is 
thus nil for the reviewed year. 

Jens Fankhänel, former CEO, departed Kardex at 
the end of February 2023. 

Felix Thöni served as Executive Director from 
March to May 2023, billing a daily rate of CHF 
3’500.0 for 39 days. Jens Hardenacke joined 
Kardex in June 2023 and was not part of the LTI 
2021-2023 period. His variable compensation 
was entirely allocated to the STI program. 

13.2.1 Members of the Board of Directors 

During the past year, the Board of Directors bid 
farewell to Jakob Bleiker after 11 years of remark-
able service and significant contributions as a 
member of the Board. The Board of Directors 
was also pleased to welcome Maria Teresa Va-
calli, an accomplished expert in industry and digi-
talization, to the Board.  

Regarding compensation, shares allocated in the 
reviewed year are valued in the Remuneration re-
port at a weighted average price of CHF 204.34 
per share for August (CHF 184.26). The total 
compensation for the Board of Directors re-
mained on the same level compared to the previ-
ous year. The Annual General Meeting of 2023 
approved a maximum total compensation of 
CHF 1'300.0 thousand for the period from the 
2023 to the 2024 Annual General Meetings and 
thus, remained unchanged compared to the year 
before. Therefore, the maximum compensation 
relevant for this year totaled CHF 1'300.0 thou-
sand (CHF 1'266.7 thousand), with the actual 
compensation being CHF 1'091.6 thousand 
(CHF 1'087.5 thousand). This figure is 

CHF 208.4 thousand or 16.0% below the ap-
proved maximum (CHF 179.2 thousand or 14.1%). 

13.2.2 Members of the Group Management 

The Group Management team consisted of four 
members: the Chief Executive Officer (CEO), 
Chief Financial Officer (CFO), Head of the Kardex 
Remstar Division, and Head of the Kardex Mlog 
Division. Kardex Holding AG's Articles of Associ-
ation mandate that the General Meeting must 
pre-approve executive compensation. In 2022, 
the General Meeting approved a maximum of 
CHF 4'750.0 thousand for the total compensa-
tion of the Group Management for the 2023 fis-
cal year (AGM 2021 for the year 2022: 
CHF 4'750.0 thousand). The actual total com-
pensation for 2023 amounted to 
CHF 2'849.4 thousand (CHF 2'231.4 thousand), 
representing an unused amount of 
CHF 1'754.6 thousand or 36.9% below the ap-
proved ceiling. 

Short-Term Incentive program  
Since June 2023, Jens Hardenacke has served as 
CEO. Under the Short-Term Incentive (STI) pro-
gram, his maximum variable compensation is set 
at CHF 400.0 thousand. Pro-rata, this amounts 
to CHF 233.3 thousand. Normally, 20% of this 
compensation is allocated to the Long-Term In-
centive (LTI) program. However, as detailed in 
section 3.2, Jens Hardenacke did not participate 
in the LTI during his first year, allowing the full 
amount to remain available for the STI. 

For the remaining three members of the Group 
Management and the Executive Director, their 
maximum individual variable compensation un-
der the STI program equaled 100% of their base 
salary, with 15% of this being transferred to the 
LTI program for the CFO and the two Division 
Heads. Both quantitative and qualitative annual 
targets are aligned with the company's strategic 
goals. To achieve the maximum variable com-
pensation for the Earnings Before Interest and 
Taxes (EBIT) target under the STI program, the 
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previous year's EBIT results must generally be 
surpassed by approximately 15%.  

The determination of individual variable remu-
neration is based on key financial figures pub-
lished in section 11.3.2 (on page 43 f.) and per-
sonal objectives. In 2023, Group Management 
largely met the established targets for key finan-
cial figures, including the EBIT of the Group and 
respective divisions. Consequently, Group Man-
agement received 81.8% (18.0%) of the maxi-
mum variable compensation available under the 
STI program. No discretionary adjustments were 
made to these figures.  

Long-Term Incentive program 
The Long-Term Incentive (LTI) program operates 
on a grant-based system. Consequently, it was 
necessary to estimate the expected performance 
over the full three-year term at the time of the 
grant, which occurred on 01 January 2021. This 
estimation was factored into the compensation 
report for the year 2021. To project the antici-
pated share price as of 31 December 2023, the 
average share performance was analyzed from 01 
January 2018, through 31 December 2020, and 
incorporated forecasts from share market ana-
lysts. Additionally, a share performance of 50% 
was assumed. 

In the year under review, there were no variable 
salary cost considerations required under the LTI 
program.  
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13.3 Share holdings 

13.3.1 Share holdings as of 31 December 2023 

Board of Directors (BoD) 
 

    

Thereof with retention period of 3 years until 

Name Function 
Number of 

shares 
Voting 

interest in % 2024 2025 2026 Total 

Felix Thöni Chairman 34'733 0.45% 249 387 349 985 

Ulrich Jakob Looser Vice 
Chairman 

4'376 0.06% 245 497 437 1'179 

Philipp Buhofer1 Member 1'709'722 22.12% 111 116 104 331 
Eugen Elmiger Member 2'906 0.04% 437 581 524 1'542 
Andreas Häberli Member 1'213 0.02% 437 581 104 1'122 
Jennifer Maag Member 456 0.01% - 77 169 246 
Maria Teresa Vacalli Member 69 0.00% - - 69 69 

Total BoD 1'753'475 22.68% 1'479 2'239 1'756 5'474 

1  Including shares held by BURU Holding AG. 

Group Management (GM) 
    

Name Function 
Number of 

shares 
Voting 

interest in % 

Jens Hardenacke CEO - - 
Thomas Reist CFO 558 0.01% 
Urs Siegenthaler HoD - - 
Hans-Jürgen Heitzer HoD - - 

Total GM 558 0.01% 
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Long-Term Incentive program 
 

Name Function 
Expected 

number 
Effective 

number 

Jens Fankhänel CEO until 
February 2023 

2'070 731 

Thomas Reist CFO 640 1'258 
Urs Siegenthaler HoD 735 1'390 
Hans-Jürgen Heitzer HoD 614 1'110 

Total GM 4'059 4'489 

The expected number of LTI shares, also known 
as performance shares, as indicated above, was 
determined on the grant date, 01 January 2021. 
This figure represents the anticipated quantity of 
LTI shares for the full three-year LTI period, as 
established on the grant date. The effective 
number of LTI shares was accurately calculated 

at the conclusion of the LTI period. The LTI 
shares of Jens Fankhänel were assigned in 2023 
as he departed already and the LTI shares of the 
other participants will be assigned in 2024.The 
maximal achievable number under the LTI 
program was 10’020 shares.  

13.3.2 Share holdings as of 31 December 2022 

Board of Directors (BoD) 
      

Thereof with retention period of 3 years until 

Name Function 
Number of 

shares 
Voting 

interest in % 2022 2024 2025 Total 

Felix Thöni Chairman 34'384 0.44% 166 249 387 802 

Ulrich Jakob Looser Vice 
Chairman 

3'939 0.05% 136 245 497 878 

Jakob Bleiker Member 5'469 0.07% 132 97 129 358 
Philipp Buhofer1 Member 1'709'618 22.12% 253 111 116 480 
Eugen Elmiger Member 2'382 0.03% 364 437 581 1'382 
Andreas Häberli Member 1'109 0.01% 91 437 581 1'109 
Jennifer Maag Member 287 0.00% - - 77 77 

Total BoD 1'757'188 22.73% 1'142 1'576 2'368 5'086 

1  Including shares held by BURU Holding AG. 
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Group Management (GM) 
   

Name Function 
Number of 

shares 
Voting 

interest in % 

Jens Fankhänel CEO 933 0.01% 
Thomas Reist CFO 558 0.01% 
Urs Siegenthaler HoD - - 
Hans-Jürgen Heitzer HoD - - 

Total GM 1'491 0.02% 

13.4 Qualitative Assessment 

Ulrich Looser, Chairman of the Compensation 
and Nomination Committee, regards the 
remuneration system as equitable and effective 
in driving incentives that enhance long-term 
shareholder returns. He is of the opinion that the 
variable compensation awarded in 2023, was 
justified and consistent with the Company's 
performance. 

After the majority of the defined goals were not 
achieved in 2022 and the STI payout was only 
18.0%, Kardex can now look back on a successful 

reporting year and the STI payout rate reflects 
the good overall business result with a payout 
rate of 81.8%.  
The first LTI cycle was completed in 2023 and 
Kardex shares ranked among the 35% best-
performing stocks in the SPI during this 
assessment period, despite the significant price 
correction in 2022. The above-average 
fulfillment level is therefore justified and in line 
with the LTI-Plan set up 3 years ago. No 
discretionary adjustments were made to the 
variable compensation plans.
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Report on the audit of the remuneration report 

Opinion 
We have audited the remuneration report of Kardex Holding AG (the Company) for the year ended 31 December 2023. The 
audit was limited to the information pursuant to article 734a-734f CO in the tables and paragraphs on pages 46 to 47 as well 
as the listing on page 49 and the tables on page 52 to 54 of the remuneration report. 

In our opinion, the information pursuant to article 734a-734f CO in the remuneration report (pages as stated above) complies 
with Swiss law and the Company’s articles of incorporation. 

Basis for opinion 
We conducted our audit in accordance with Swiss law and Swiss Standards on Auditing (SA-CH). Our responsibilities under 
those provisions and standards are further described in the 'Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the remuneration report' 
section of our report. We are independent of the Company in accordance with the provisions of Swiss law and the requirements 
of the Swiss audit profession, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 

Other information 
The Board of Directors is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information included in the 
annual report, but does not include the information pursuant to article 734a-734f CO in the tables and paragraphs mentioned 
above in the remuneration report, the consolidated financial statements, the financial statements and our auditor’s reports 
thereon. 

Our opinion on the remuneration report does not cover the other information and we do not express any form of assurance 
con-clusion thereon. 

In connection with our audit of the remuneration report, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, con-
sider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the audited financial information in the remuneration report or 
our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. 

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are 
required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.  

Board of Directors' responsibilities for the remuneration report 
The Board of Directors is responsible for the preparation of a remuneration report in accordance with the provisions of Swiss 
law and the Company's articles of incorporation, and for such internal control as the Board of Directors determines is 
necessary to enable the preparation of a remuneration report that is free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or 
error. It is also responsible for designing the remuneration system and defining individual remuneration packages.  

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the remuneration report 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the information pursuant to article 734a-734f CO is free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable 
as-surance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with Swiss law and SA-
CH will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered 
mate-rial if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users 
taken on the basis of this remuneration report. 

Report of the statutory auditor 
to the General Meeting 
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As part of an audit in accordance with Swiss law and SA-CH, we exercise professional judgement and maintain professional 
scepticism throughout the audit. We also: 

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement in the remuneration report, whether due to fraud or error, design and 
perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a 
basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting 
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal con-
trol. 

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in 
the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company's internal control. 

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related dis-
closures made. 

We communicate with the Board of Directors or its relevant committee regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and 
timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during 
our audit. 

We also provide the Board of Directors or its relevant committee with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical 
requirements regarding independence, and communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be 
thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied. 

PricewaterhouseCoopers AG 
 

Norbert Kühnis Claudia Lussu 

Licensed audit expert 
Auditor in charge 

Licensed audit expert 

Zürich, 6 March 2024 
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1. Introduction

The current business environment is marked by 
significant environmental challenges and a global 
demand for responsible corporate behavior. 
Kardex recognizes and embraces its important 
role in promoting sustainable practices. 

This Sustainability report offers a detailed ac-
count of the commitment to environmental, so-
cial, and governance (ESG) responsibilities.The 
report is oriented towards the Global Reporting 
Initiative (GRI) standards for sustainability report-
ing. It shows how Kardex addresses sustainability 
topics and how the Group aligns with sustainabil-
ity requirements. Furthermore, the double mate-
riality assessment in section 5.2 shows which 
material topics Kardex contributes to sustainable 
business practices. 

To reinforce its commitment, Kardex intends to 
progressively expand the scope and enhance 
transparency for both environmental and social 
data. Notably, during the reporting period, the in-
itial stage of this scope extension incorporated 
specific metrics such as electricity, heat, and wa-
ter consumption related to the US production 
site. Additionally, it provides a global overview of 
all injuries, resulting in more than three days of 
absence from work. This proactive approach 
aligns with Kardex' dedication to thorough and 
transparent reporting on its environmental and 
social impacts. 

2. Ethical business practices

Kardex actively addresses both present and 
forthcoming regulatory requirements concerning 
environmental, social, and governance (ESG) top-
ics. The Board of Directors, in conjunction with 
the Group Management, champions a responsi-
ble corporate culture and ethical, fair, and resili-
ent business practices to ensure sustainable and 
profitable business growth. 

2.1 Ethical behavior 

Kardex is dedicated to fostering positive social, 
environmental, and cultural impacts. Kardex hon-
ors the local cultures and practices within its 
business markets, upholding a commitment to 
act responsibly and beneficially in society. In de-
fining the Group's external perception, Kardex 
has crafted its Brand Promise, embodying the 
principles of being “Straightforward”, “Innova-
tive”, and “Fair”. This Brand Promise guides the 
employees in their interactions with all stake-
holders, providing a framework to prioritize their 
daily activities and decisions. 

2.2 Core Values and Code of Conduct 

Kardex fosters an environment where positivity, 
enthusiasm, and a strong sense of belonging 
flourish. The Core Values — "Respect", "Team 
Spirit", "Reliability", and "Passion" — serve as 
the foundation of its Corporate Culture. These 
values offer distinct direction for all activities, 
guiding stakeholders in their daily interactions 
with Kardex employees and others. 

The Code of Conduct is based on the Core Val-
ues, and establishes the essential principles of 
ethical behavior in a binding manner. This gov-
erns the internal interactions with employees and 
colleagues, as well as external relations with cus-
tomers, suppliers, competitors, and various inter-
est groups and stakeholders. 

The Kardex ethical business principles, as defined 
in the Code of Conduct, are binding for all em-
ployees. Compliance is also required of affiliated 
companies and business partners. The underlying 
values are expressed in five basic principles: 

• We treat our employees fairly and with re-
spect;

• Customer benefit is our top priority;
• We aim to deliver sustainable performance

with integrity;
• Our goal is to be a trustworthy, fair, and re-

spectful business partner;
• We strive to be a responsible corporate citizen.
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Fig. 1 Guiding principles 

The Kardex Code of Conduct (https://f.hub-
spotusercon-
tent00.net/hubfs/4920851/Kardex_CodeOfCon-
duct_EN_2021.pdf) underscores Kardex’ commit-
ment to meeting the expectations of its stake-
holders as a responsible corporate citizen and 
sets out the fundamental principles and rules for 
ethical business behavior. Specific regulations, 
guidelines, and manuals complement the Code 
of Conduct principles. All employees must com-
ply with the ethical guidelines forming an inte-
gral part of their employment conditions. The 
values derived from the Code of Conduct repre-
sent the “Common Sense” of each individual in 
fulfilling commitments to Kardex stakeholders. 

To ensure thorough understanding, Kardex pro-
vides all employees with comprehensive and 
mandatory online training on the Code of Con-
duct. This training module is also an essential 

part of the orientation for all new employees. 

Group Management leads by example, ensuring 
that all stakeholders are familiar with, compre-
hend, and abide by the Code of Conduct. This 
leadership is critical for Kardex to achieve long-
term, sustainable business success and exem-
plify "good corporate citizenship". 

Kardex insists on full compliance with the Code 
of Conduct, makes no compromises, and does 
not tolerate any violations. Employees are en-
couraged to report potential misconduct, which 
can be done through internal contacts or anony-
mously to a central location. Kardex provides ac-
cess to a Whistleblowing platform 
(https://kardex.integrityline.com), enabling also 
anonymous reporting of potential misconduct. 
The platform is available to internal as well as 
external parties. 

https://f.hubspotusercontent00.net/hubfs/4920851/Kardex_CodeOfConduct_EN_2021.pdf
https://f.hubspotusercontent00.net/hubfs/4920851/Kardex_CodeOfConduct_EN_2021.pdf
https://f.hubspotusercontent00.net/hubfs/4920851/Kardex_CodeOfConduct_EN_2021.pdf
https://f.hubspotusercontent00.net/hubfs/4920851/Kardex_CodeOfConduct_EN_2021.pdf
https://kardex.integrityline.com/setup
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3. Business model

Kardex is a leading intralogistics solution provider 
of automated storage, retrieval and material han-
dling systems in an attractive and growing mar-
ket. With two entrepreneurially managed divi-
sions, Kardex Remstar and Kardex Mlog, Kardex 
developed from a product and service supplier 
into a global industry partner providing solutions 
and services under the Kardex brand name. 
Kardex is well positioned to grow in a market 
with strong fundamentals and to achieve attrac-
tive financial returns. 

Kardex has defined three strategic drivers to ex-
ploit further growth and profit opportunities:  
• Geographical expansion
• Leverage existing customer base
• Focus on target industry segments

The main geographic growth will be based on an 
increased market penetration in regions such as 
North America and Asia. In addition, Kardex will 
leverage its strong position and large installed 
base in the current markets to generate addi-
tional sales with existing customers through an 
extended solution and service offering. To further 
broaden the revenue streams, Kardex will further 
exploit existing and develop additional industry 
segments with existing standard solutions or new 
industry specific solutions. 

3.1 Sustainability of business model 

At Kardex, sustainability is not just a policy, but a 
core element of the Group’s DNA. The products 
and systems offered are inherently sustainable. 
This means that Kardex' products and systems 
conserve energy and reduce emissions by max-
imizing space efficiency. They also enhance the 
health and safety of users through ergonomic de-
signs, while their extended lifecycles conserve re-
sources. For a more comprehensive explanation 
of this inherently sustainable approach, please 
see section 6.1.1. 

As a result, sustainability is of central importance 
at Kardex, influencing interactions with custom-
ers, suppliers, and other stakeholders. Funda-
mental to the business model is the efficient utili-
zation of resources. Kardex views the commit-
ment to sustainability as an opportunity and a 
basis for future success. 

3.2 Member of UN Global Compact 
Switzerland & Liechtenstein 

Kardex’ commitment to the world's largest and 
most significant initiative for sustainable and re-
sponsible corporate governance is evident 
through its ongoing membership in the United 
Nations Global Compact (UNGC) since 2021. 

By adhering to the UNGC's ten principles, which 
encompass human rights, labor, environment, 
and anti-corruption, Kardex demonstrates its 
dedication to these critical areas. Each year, 
Kardex issues a Communication on Progress 
(COP) report, detailing its activities and achieve-
ments in applying these ten principles, as out-
lined in the Kardex Communication on Progress 
2023 (https://unglobalcompact.org/what-is-
gc/participants/149245). 

https://unglobalcompact.org/what-is-gc/participants/149245
https://unglobalcompact.org/what-is-gc/participants/149245
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3.3 Sustainable development goals 

Kardex recognizes the role of the private sector in 
delivering Sustainable Development Goals 
(SDGs) and acknowledges its responsibility in 

reaching these goals. Kardex strives to operate in 
a sustainable manner that contributes to achiev-
ing the objectives outlined in the SDGs. The 
Company has identified four SDGs to which it can 
bring a significant contribution:

Quality education and lifelong learning 
Kardex actively promotes a learning culture, consistently offering comprehensive 
training programs to maintain and enhance the professional competencies of its em-
ployees. This commitment to ongoing development ensures continual growth and ad-
aptation in a dynamic business environment. Furthermore, Kardex extends learning 
opportunities to the next generation of professionals through apprenticeships and in-
ternships. 

Decent work and economic growth 
Kardex prioritizes adherence to human rights, environmental, and social standards 
across its sphere of influence. The products and systems are engineered with an ergo-
nomic focus, promoting comfortable and safer work environments. This approach sig-
nificantly reduces the risk of accidents and injuries by minimizing manual handling in 
tasks that could be hazardous. 

Responsible consumption and production 
Kardex' products and systems play a crucial role in elevating industrial infrastructure. 
They achieve this by optimizing spatial use, enhancing resource efficiency, and im-
proving energy efficiency. 

Climate action 
Kardex is committed to reduce its emissions. Kardex’ products and systems improve 
efficiency and decrease the necessity for extensive handling and transportation. This 
not only aids in reducing carbon footprint but also enables precise energy manage-
ment at the customers' sites, furthering Kardex’ commitment to climate action. 
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4. ESG organization

Kardex has formally integrated sustainability 
management into the management structures 
through the ESG Steering Group. The members 
of this Steering Group include the Chairperson of 
the Audit Committee, the Chairperson of the 
Board of Directors, as well as the CEO and CFO 
from Group Management. The ESG Steering 
Group is led by the Chairperson of the Audit 
Committee and reports to the Board of Directors. 
One full-time internal Sustainability Manager on 
group-level leads and coordinates the ESG initia-
tives and reporting cycles. The Board of Directors 
has validated the material sustainability topics 
identified by the ESG Steering Group, which now 
form the foundation of Kardex’ sustainability ef-
forts, detailed in section 5.2. For a comprehen-
sive understanding of Kardex’ Compliance & Gov-
ernance Setup, please refer to section 6.3 

During the reporting period, Kardex achieved a 
significant milestone by integrating ESG and sus-
tainability management both horizontally and 
vertically within the Group. With the ESG Gov-
ernance Model, Kardex is able to strategically 
plan, implement, and execute reporting and initi-
atives. These are grounded in the prioritization of 
the topics of the double materiality assessment 
described in detail in section 5.2. 

*Chairperson of the ESG Steering Group

Fig. 2 ESG Governance Model 
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5. Double materiality analysis

5.1 Stakeholder-dialogue 

Kardex is actively engaging with stakeholders to 
deepen its understanding and strengthen rela-
tionships within the markets it serves. This 
stakeholder-dialogue not only fosters stronger 
connections but also plays a crucial role in identi-
fying and exploring potential risks and opportuni-
ties relevant to a sustainable value chain. 

5.2 Double materiality assessment 

At the core of Kardex' strategy for prioritizing its 
ESG initiatives is the "double materiality assess-
ment". This approach evaluates the impact and 
relevance of material topics from two perspec-
tives: 

1. The relevance of Kardex' business activities
for the economy, environment, and society
(Inside-out).

2. The relevance of external factors for Kardex’
long-term business success (Outside-in).

Drawing from the stakeholder dialogue outlined 
in section 5.1, and informed by internal business 
and external environmental analyses, the ESG 
Steering Group conducted the materiality assess-
ment in 2022. This process was integral to 
achieving transparent and standardized sustaina-
bility reporting. Within this context, material top-
ics were consolidated to identify and assess 
those most relevant to Kardex, evaluating their 
relevance for the Company's sustainable  

development. A thorough list of potential sus-
tainability topics was compiled and scrutinized. 
These topics were then categorized into priority 
levels 1, 2, and 3, based on the impact of Kardex’ 
business activities on the economy, environment, 
and society. 

For efficiency and clarity, the four material topics: 
“Corporate Governance”, “Compliance”, “Anti-
Corruption & Anti-Competitive Behavior”, and 
“Data Protection” have been combined into a sin-
gle topic: “Compliance & Governance”. 

Fig. 3  Kardex stakeholders 
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Fig. 3 Double materiality matrix 
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5.3 Primary risks related to material 
sustainability topics 

The primary risks facing Kardex in relation to hu-
man rights, environmental matters, social is-
sues, employee related issues, and combatting 
corruption are:  

Respect for human rights in a responsible sup-
ply chain: Human rights are not a primary risk for 
Kardex as an intralogistics solution provider with 
production sites solely in Germany and the USA. 
However, as a Swiss company, Kardex is obli-
gated to comply with conflict minerals and child 
labor regulations under the Swiss Code of Obli-
gations, representing an abstract legal, regula-
tory and reputation risk. 

Energy use & CO2 footprint: By regularly moni-
toring and diligently managing its energy use, 
Kardex aims to mitigate the market risk associ-
ated with fluctuations in energy prices. These 
fluctuations can have a significant impact on op-
erating expenses. Shareholders are increasingly 
factoring in climate-related risks when making 
investment decisions. This leads to financial and 
reputational risks for Kardex.  

Sustainable products and systems: In light of 
the expanding awareness and demand for sus-
tainable products and services, Kardex recognizes 
a significant opportunity to meet this growing 
market trend. But, this does also entail navi-
gating various market, brand, and innovation and 
technology risks. The less innovative Kardex’ 
products and systems are from a sustainability 
perspective, while retaining the same functional-
ity and marketable price, the greater is the risk 
exposure.  

Occupational health & safety: The most imme-
diate risk for Kardex is the occurrence of work-
place accidents and injuries. Not only do acci-
dents cause harm to employees, but they can 
also lead to lost productivity, increased insurance 
costs, and potential legal liabilities. Such inci-
dents can also damage Kardex’ reputation, both 
internally among employees and among external 
stakeholders.  

Recruitment & talent development / employer 
of choice: Recruitment and talent development 
are critical components of maintaining competi-
tiveness and driving long-term success. Failure to 
attract high-quality candidates can hinder 
Kardex’ ability to innovate, meet strategic objec-
tives, and maintain a competitive edge in the 
market. High fluctuations can be costly for 
Kardex, leading to increased recruitment and 
training expenses and loss of institutional 
knowledge. Rapid technological advancements 
and evolving market demands can lead to skills 
shortages and talent gaps within the Company. 
Failure to address these gaps through effective 
recruitment and talent development strategies 
can result in decreased productivity, increased 
fluctuations, and lost opportunities for growth. 

Compliance & governance: Fraud and corruption 
pose a certain risk to Kardex, potentially affect-
ing its operations, reputation and financial stabil-
ity. While the objective corruption risk exposure 
is rather limited, Kardex does without exception 
not tolerate any form of bribery or corruption. 
Such risks can lead in particular to financial 
losses, legal and regulatory consequences, loss 
of business relations as a result of loss of reputa-
tion, and loss of investor confidence. 
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6. Reporting on material topics

Kardex continuously expands its reporting on en-
vironmental, social, and governance (ESG) mat-
ters. Guided by the prioritization of the double 
materiality matrix into priority 1, 2, and 3 topics, 
the Group systematically plans, implements, and 
executes its ESG reporting and initiatives.  

For this non-financial report, the Company has 
used its best endeavors to disclose its efforts and 
progress in the addressed areas. In doing so, the 
Company had to rely on internal and external 
third party data and information which was re-
viewed based on current methodologies and un-
derstandings. The information given may be sub-
ject to review and amendments. 

This report delves into the material sustainability 
topics in greater detail. It includes comprehensive 
descriptions of strategies for effective manage-
ment, highlights topic-specific initiatives 

undertaken during the reporting period, presents 
key figures for the most relevant indicators, and 
provides, where necessary, interpretations and 
clarifications of these key figures. 

6.1 Environmental matters 

6.1.1 Sustainable products and systems 
(priority 1) 

Kardex' product portfolio is a crucial area where 
the Company can generate a substantial positive 
impact on the environment and society. 

Inherent sustainability of Kardex’ products and 
systems 
As a leading global provider of automated stor-
age and retrieval systems, Kardex embodies the 
essential synergy between long-term business 
success and the core principles of sustainability. 
The inherent sustainability of Kardex’ products 
and systems stems from several key factors: 

Area and space optimization 
Kardex' products and systems offer compact, high-density solutions that significantly 
save floor space compared to conventional racks and shelving. Depending on the specific 
product or system, space savings range between 65% and 85%. This reduction not only 
lessens the environmental footprint but also reduces energy use and, consequently, CO2 
emissions. 

Energy efficiency 
Designed for optimal energy efficiency, Kardex’ products and systems incorporate innova-
tive technologies and optimized routing to reduce energy needs for transportation. Fea-
tures such as standby modes and optimized operational power consumption further en-
hance the energy efficiency of Kardex’ products and systems. 

Resource optimization 
Kardex’ products and systems streamline processes, leading to improved resource man-
agement. Precise inventory management helps avoid understocking and reduces waste 
due to overstocking. 

Lifecycle sustainability 
Kardex' products and systems are of the highest quality and designed to stay current 
through upgrades and modernization over their entire service life. This results in signifi-
cantly longer life cycles compared to many competitors’ products. 
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Adaptability and scalability 
Kardex ensures that its products and systems are adaptable to the customers' evolving 
needs. This adaptability helps minimize resource strain and waste during scaling opera-
tions. 

Recyclability 
Predominantly composed of recyclable materials, Kardex’ products and systems allow for 
an efficient decommissioning process. Kardex offers the service of decommissioning 
products or systems and then reutilizing or recycling them. 

Carbon footprint reduction 
Kardex is committed to reducing travel-related carbon emissions. One contributing factor 
in achieving this goal is by offering remote diagnostics, remote services, and increasingly, 
preventive maintenance. This approach significantly reduces the need for ad hoc on-site 
service interventions, saving considerable travel mileage. 

Ergonomics 
Kardex’ products and systems are meticulously crafted, adhering to the goods-to-person 
principle with a robust emphasis on ergonomics. This approach is instrumental in safe-
guarding the well-being of order pickers by ensuring the delivery of goods at an ergonom-
ically optimal height. 

Overall, Kardex' diverse solution portfolio supports the customers in tapping into their sustainability 
potential, aligning with the commitment to creating a healthier, more sustainable future. 

Showcase project: Weleda 
Weleda AG, renowned as a worldwide leading manufacturer of certified natural cosmetics and an-
throposophical pharmaceuticals, pursues its mission of sustainability and responsibility with great 
commitment, passion, and clear focus. Weleda built a new innovative high-bay warehouse in 
Schwäbisch Gmünd (Germany), which sets entirely new standards for sustainable construction. In 
order to minimize the construction footprint and leave 80% of surfaces unsealed, Weleda required 
a solution of a high level of vertical integration. 

Kardex is proud to have been selected by 
Weleda AG as a trusted partner. The role of 
Kardex is to provide custom-designed auto-
mated storage and retrieval systems, with an 
associated conveyor technology to complement 
the wooden racking system. This collaboration 
plays an important role in supporting Weleda to 
meet its sustainability goals. 

Kardex Mlog has manufactured five 27-meter-high automated stacker cranes, along with a ship-
ping buffer. This infrastructure accommodates 17160 pallet storage spaces, tailored to meet spe-
cific customer requirements. A key consideration in this project was ensuring that the stacker 
cranes operate reliably under specific temperature conditions, reaffirming Kardex’ commitment to 
delivering solutions that are both innovative and sustainable. 
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Fig. 4 Product development process 

Product safety 
Recognizing that warehouses are challenging en-
vironments despite stringent safety protocols, 
Kardex places great importance on product 
safety. Health and safety in user operation are 
central to the product development strategy. The 
Kardex technology team is dedicated to continu-
ally assessing operational risks and integrating 
innovative solutions to enhance the existing 
product range. The products undergo rigorous 
testing for safety compliance, adhering to coun-
try-specific regulations. Many of the automated 
storage and retrieval systems meet the highest 
international standards, including ISO 9001, ISO 
14001, ISO 50001, and ISO 45001, ensuring a 
maximum level of safety during operation. 

To further ensure safe operation, Kardex provides 
customers with detailed safety instructions and 
warnings. Kardex is also committed to promoting 
operational awareness and offers comprehensive, 

customized training programs. Kardex’ trainers, 
certified as "Certified Industrial Trainers" by the 
Industrial Training Association (ITA), undergo 
regular advanced training in didactics and meth-
odology. The training options range from on-site 
to virtual formats, and Kardex is continuously ex-
panding its e-learning offerings, all complying 
with local regulations. 

Kardex product development: Stage gate pro-
cess 
The Kardex product development process is char-
acterized by a stage gate methodology. This pro-
cess ensures that progression from one stage to 
the next is contingent upon meeting specific, pre-
defined criteria at each gate. These criteria out-
line the milestones to be attained in each phase. 
A key benefit of this stage gate approach is its 
facilitation of seamless integration of ESG and 
sustainability considerations into every stage of 
the product development journey. 
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The process is structured as follows: 

Idea assessment: Identify the feasibility, market 
potential, and sustainability aspects of innovative 
ideas for Kardex' products and systems. 

Ideation study: Begin with a preliminary evalua-
tion of the proposed ideas, focusing on a high-
level assessment of each idea's sustainability ad-
vantages and challenges. This includes examin-
ing how well they align with Kardex' strategic 
goals and objectives. Following this assessment, 
a selection of the most viable ideas will be for-
mulated into a shortlist. 

Proof of concept: Create a comprehensive busi-
ness case for each proposed product. This re-
quires a thorough analysis of environmental ben-
efits, societal impacts, and governance issues re-
lated to each idea. The business case should also 
explore the potential market demand for more 
sustainable products and assess how these inno-
vations could improve Kardex' environmental im-
pact. 

Product development: Advance the design of 
the new product, ensuring the integration of sus-
tainable materials and energy-efficient technolo-
gies. This stage includes initiating tests and 
gathering stakeholder feedback, particularly on 
the product's sustainability features. 

Industrialization and localization: Focus on eval-
uating the sustainability of the supply chain and 
assessing the efficiency of manufacturing pro-
cesses in terms of energy and material use. Addi-
tionally, it involves customizing the product for 
various markets to meet local standards and reg-
ulations. 

Scaling of sales: Develop an effective communi-
cation campaign that not only promotes the 
product but also emphasizes its ESG/sustainabil-
ity attributes, particularly during the launch 
phase. This approach aims to resonate with a 
growing market segment that values sustainabil-
ity. 

6.1.2 Energy use & CO2 footprint (priority 1) 

Energy use and CO2 emissions are key topics for 
Kardex. The Company is committed to regularly 
monitoring, managing, and reducing its energy 
consumption. 

The transformation concept of Bellheim 
In a further demonstration of its commitment to 
lower CO2 emissions, Kardex has developed a 
transformation concept for its Bellheim (Ger-
many) production site. This includes a thorough 
energy assessment by external experts, pinpoint-
ing major energy consumers and implementing 
corrective actions. A similar evaluation is planned 
for the Neuburg (Germany) production site in 
2024. 

Certification 
Two of the three German production sites are 
certified to the international energy management 
standard ISO 50001, covering approximately 
67% of Kardex' total energy use. In December 
2023, a DIN EN 16247-1 energy audit at Kardex 
Mlog identified opportunities for enhanced opti-
mization. 

District heating 
In late 2022, Kardex began participating in a lo-
cal initiative, linking its Neuburg (Germany) pro-
duction site and offices to an advanced district 
heating network utilizing woodchips. The cli-
mate-neutral woodchips are scrap material from 
the timber industry. This led to a notable de-
crease in natural gas consumption at the Neu-
burg (Germany) production site, achieving a re-
duction of 14.7 % per unit sold, equating to a to-
tal annual reduction of 182.1 MWh. 

Initiatives 
In 2023, Kardex expanded its energy monitoring 
with additional smart meters, offering a detailed 
view of energy usage across the operational 
equipment. This data drives continuous upgrades 
for greater energy efficiency in production ma-
chinery. 
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Fig. 5 Charging stations in Neuenstadt (Germany) 

At the Bellheim (Germany) site, Kardex is im-
proving the thermal envelope of the building, in-
cluding window replacements and roof renova-
tions for better insulation, minimizing energy 
loss. 

Further, Kardex has transitioned to energy-effi-
cient LED lighting in its German production sites. 
At the Bellheim (Germany) production site alone, 
1’500 bulbs were switched to LED, saving 378 
MWh/year. This change not only conserves en-
ergy but also enhances workplace safety and op-
erational efficiency due to the durability of LED 
lights. 

Electric mobility initiative 
Since 2022, Kardex has been actively champion-
ing the transition to electric mobility, with a dedi-
cated focus on supporting this transformative 
shift. The commitment extends to substantial in-
vestments in the development of charging infra-
structure, in particular at the production sites in 
Germany. Kardex successfully installed 28 
charging stations / wall boxes in Neuenstadt 
(Germany), Neuburg (Germany), Bellheim (Ger-
many) and Zürich (Switzerland). Importantly, 
most of these charging facilities are also accessi-
ble to external visitors, emphasizing the contribu-
tion of Kardex to broader sustainability goals. 
Moreover, Kardex subsidizes the installation of 
private wall boxes for its employees. 

In alignment with its dedication to responsible 
practices, Kardex’ locations and entities con-
ducted evaluations of the usage data pertaining 
to the company car fleet and the existing infra-
structure in different countries. Based on this 
comprehensive assessment, Kardex has made 
the strategic decision to progressively replace the 
company car fleet with electric vehicles in the 
coming years. 

As a part of this transformative shift, Kardex has 
revised its Company Car Policy, incorporating 
measures and guidelines that support and en-
courage the use of electric vehicles. This policy 
revision underscores the commitment to reducing 
the carbon footprint and contributing to a cleaner 
and more sustainable future. 

KPIs - extension of scope in 2023 
During the reporting period, Kardex expanded the 
scope and enhanced the transparency of its envi-
ronmental data. Energy use and CO2 emission 
data was collected for all four production sites, 
compared to only three production sites in 2022. 

In 2023, Kardex' total energy consumption 
amounted to 22’183.5 MWh, with natural gas, 
primarily used for heating and accounting for 
47% of this figure. Kardex actively seeks alterna-
tives to fossil fuels. Notably, in 2023, 14.7% of 
the natural gas consumption per unit sold at the 
Neuburg (Germany) production site was substi-
tuted with district heating. 

Kardex consistently supports sustainability by 
sourcing 100% renewable electricity for all Ger-
man production sites. 

The CO2 emissions calculation adheres to the in-
ternationally recognized “Corporate Accounting 
and Reporting Standard” set by the Greenhouse 
Gas Protocol Initiative (GHG Protocol): 
• Scope 1 emissions encompass the consump-

tion of fuels and other fossil energy sources at
Kardex-owned or leased production facilities
and company vehicles.
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• Scope 2 emissions are derived from the
measured consumption of electricity and dis-
trict heating at Kardex-owned or leased pro-
duction sites.

Kardex plans to monitor and report emissions 
from Scope 3 in the future. 

6.1.3 Material consumption & recycling 
(priority 2) 

Kardex systematically examines the materials 
employed in its products, focusing on the propor-
tion of recycled input materials, and the product-
specific energy consumption. To evaluate the 
materials in Kardex' products and systems, the 
“Kardex Shuttle 500 HSD” was chosen as the 
Reference Unit. This is Kardex’ best selling prod-
uct, and therefore a good example of the overall 
material usage. 

Steel is the primary material in Kardex’ products, 
composing approximately 97% of the product's 
weight. For packaging, wood comprises around 
93%, while metal and paper combined account 
for another 6%. Plastic is used minimally, com-
prising less than 1%. In terms of recycled input 
materials, the steel used in manufacturing con-
tains 15-25% recycled material. More in-depth 
analysis of these metrics is scheduled for 2024. 

6.1.4 Waste & disposal (priority 2) 

Kardex already practices good waste manage-
ment and aims to further these achievements. 
Kardex has designated waste managers at each 
production site to oversee proper waste disposal 
and recycling, adhering to legal standards and 
best practices. Kardex engages exclusively with 
certified waste disposal firms, ensuring compli-
ance with environmental regulations. Notably, 
two of the three German production sites hold 
ISO 14001 certification. 

All waste and recycling data from German pro-
duction sites are meticulously tracked using a 
centralized environmental, health, and safety IT 
system. Because of a change of the waste ser-
vice provider for the US production site in the re-
porting period, a more in-depth analysis is 
planned for 2024. Office waste, being relatively 
minor, is excluded from these figures. 

97% of the waste from German production sites 
is non-hazardous, with 96% being recycled. 
Kardex focuses on minimizing landfill usage. 
During the reporting period, 2% of the total 
waste was landfilled. 

The hazardous waste generated decreased from 
280.8 tons reported in 2022 to 124.2 tons in the 
current reporting period, with 32% of the waste 
being successfully recycled. The majority of the 
waste primarily originates from the remaining 
construction waste during the excavation works 
at the Bellheim production site in 2022. Adher-
ing to a conservative approach, the construction 
waste has been classified as hazardous. 

Kardex also aids customers in reducing shipping 
waste by minimizing packaging. The Group uti-
lizes 99.5% recyclable materials, such as single-
use pallets, wooden crates, and cardboard boxes. 
Larger Kardex Mlog installations are typically de-
livered without packaging. 

6.1.5 Water & effluents (priority 3) 

The major water consumption is attributed to the 
production. Kardex is continuously implementing 
new technologies and strategies to reduce water 
use. In 2023, comprehensive water usage data 
was gathered from all four production sites. 
These locations remain the focal point for future 
conservation efforts. The water consumption at 
the three German production sites in 2023 
amounted to 7’515 m3, showing less than 4% in-
crease compared to the figures reported in 2022, 
which can be attributed to the rise in production 
activity. 
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6.1.6 Eco-friendly supply & value chain 
(priority 3) 

Reducing the environmental impact of Kardex' 
operations is achievable through the pursuit of an 
eco-friendly supply and value chain. Embracing a 
local supply base not only strengthens the re-
gional economy but also fosters stronger rela-
tionships and trust with supplies. A combination 
of a regional/local supply base and rigorous, 
compliant, and strategically oriented supplier 

management cultivates a robust supply chain 
and minimizes risk exposure. Kardex aims to find 
a good balance between using local suppliers 
with short transport distances and more distant 
suppliers, which can fulfil Kardex’ needs for 
higher production capacity. Through comprehen-
sive supplier assessments and audits, Kardex es-
tablishes strategic supplier partnerships based on 
solid cooperation. This collaboration is integral to 
developing holistic, eco-friendly solutions, and 
processes. 

Scope extension in 2023 

The environmental data presented below is expressed in absolute values and reflects the increased 
volume output in 2023. It is important to note that in specific metrics, such as electricity, heat, and 
water, the 2023 figures are not comparable to the 2022 data due to the inclusion of the US produc-
tion site in the 2023 figures. 

Key figures per million net revenues 

Unit 2023 2022 (+/-%) 

Total CO2 emissions tCO2 5.5 9.0 -38.9% 
Total energy consumption MWh 31.6 31.7 -0.3% 
Total water consumption m3 14.0 12.8 9.4% 
Total waste tons 5.2 6.2 -16.1% 
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Environmental data 

Unit 2023 (%) 2022 (%) 

CO2 emissions tCO2 3'858.9 100.0% 5'116.8 100.0% 

Scope 1 tCO2 3'410.1 88.4% 2'875.8 56.2% 
Combustibles tCO2 2'024.6 1'456.2 
Fuels tCO2 1'385.5 1'419.6 

Scope 2 tCO2 448.8 11.6% 2'241.0 43.8% 
Electricity1 tCO2 441.3 2'235.4 
District heating tCO2 7.5 5.6 

Total energy consumption2 MWh 22'183.5 100.0% 17'914.6 100.0% 
Electricity MWh 6'334.1 28.6% 5'222.9 29.2% 

Fuels (car fleet)3 
Diesel MWh 5'207.7 23.5% 5'306.8 29.6% 
Petrol MWh 1.1 0.0% 16.0 0.1% 

Heat 
Natural gas MWh 10'361.5 46.7% 7'210.3 40.2% 
District heating MWh 279.0 1.3% 158.6 0.9% 

Water consumption4 m3 9'808.9 100.0% 7'259.4 100.0% 

Total waste5 tons 3'643.9 100.0% 3'491.8 100.0% 

Non-hazardous waste tons 3'519.7 96.6% 3'211.0 92.0% 
To incineration tons 133.8 152.6 
To landfill tons 0 0 
To recycling tons 3'385.9 3'058.4 

Hazardous waste tons 124.2 3.4% 280.8 8.0% 
To incineration tons 2.1 0 
To landfill tons 82.4 272.3 
To recycling tons 39.7 8.5 

1 The 2023 Scope 2 emissions do not contain emissions attributed to 100% renewable electricity consumed at the German 
production sites. 

2 In 2023 electricity and heat data was collected for all production sites, while in 2022 only for the German production sites. 
3 Car fleet fuel consumption data was collected for the German production sites. 
4 In 2023 water consumption data was collected for all production sites, while in 2022 only for the German production sites. 
5 Waste data was collected for the German production sites. 
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6.2 Social matters 

6.2.1 EHS (priority 1) 

EHS stands for Environment, Health and Safety. 
Kardex is deeply committed to health and safety, 
striving to provide employees worldwide with the 
safest working conditions in all activities. Em-
phasis on prevention measures is paramount to 
reduce risks, prevent accidents, and safeguard 
employees. 

EHS management systems 
Kardex operates in diverse regions, each subject 
to various occupational health and safety laws 
and regulations. This results in a variety of man-
agement systems. While the management sys-
tems across the Group adhere to global stand-
ards, they may not be identical but are aligned in 
their approach. 

The health and safety management systems at 
Kardex Remstar German production sites in Bell-
heim and Neuburg are certified under the inter-
national standard ISO 45001. 

The German Social Accident Insurance Institution 
for the woodworking and metalworking industries 
certifies that Mlog Logistics GmbH meets the re-
quirements for systematic and effective occupa-
tional safety and health for “Systematic Safety” 
as per the industry-specific implementation of 
NLF/ILO-OSH 2001. 

EHS Guidelines 
To maintain a global standard of health and 
safety compliance, Kardex Remstar has issued 
comprehensive EHS Guidelines, developed in line 
with ISO 45001. These guidelines have been im-
plemented across 27 legal entities. 

In line with these guidelines, each entity is re-
quired to develop and maintain a local EHS 
structural overview. This outlines the local struc-
ture for EHS matters, ensuring compliance with 
specific local legal requirements. Currently, the 
EHS structural overview is approximately 80% 
complete across all operational sites. 

To ensure thorough knowledge of applicable laws 
and specific EHS legal requirements, Kardex 
maintains a legal register. 

KPIs – extension of scope in 2023 
In the reporting period, Kardex expanded the 
scope and transparency of health and safety-re-
lated data. The primary indicator of safety perfor-
mance is the number of injuries and fatalities. In 
2022, the German production sites reported inju-
ries resulting in more than three days of absence 
from work, following the requirements of BGHW. 
Starting in 2023, all legal entities and production 
sites globally reported injuries which lead to 
more than three days of absence from work. 

In 2023, there were 37 total injuries reported. As 
in 2022, there were no fatalities in 2023. 

In the Bellheim production site (Germany) 
Kardex is committed to fostering safe behavior 
and provides preventive health and safety aware-
ness training. On November 20, 2023, a com-
prehensive emergency exercise, including a fire 
drill and first responder training, was conducted 
in collaboration with the fire departments of Bell-
heim and Ottersheim (Germany) at the Bellheim 
site. This exercise involved nearly 40 people, 
testing and training a broad range of rescue skills 
and services.  
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6.2.2 Recruitment & talent development 
(priority 1) / employer of choice 
(priority 2) 

Kardex is committed to identifying and securing 
skilled talent, equipped with the capabilities es-
sential for addressing the challenges of the fu-
ture. 

Recruiting policy 
In 2023, Kardex introduced a new recruiting pol-
icy to enhance the efficiency, comprehensive-
ness, and transparency of the recruitment pro-
cesses across the Group. The vacancies are pub-
lished worldwide, supporting internal career 
growth. Furthermore, the policy now includes an 
internal referral program. Consistent with the 
Code of Conduct, Kardex' recruitment approach 
focuses on inclusion, diversity, and equality, aim-
ing to attract, develop, and retain highly talented 
individuals from diverse backgrounds with inclu-
sive mindsets. 

Kardex Academy 
In addition to offering competitive salaries, 
Kardex has instituted various personnel develop-
ment initiatives, such as the Kardex Academy. 
This academy provides both online and in-person 
learning opportunities, fostering competency de-
velopment at all levels. Additionally, the compe-
tency model facilitates effective and successful 
performance. The Academy supports ongoing 
skill development, offering customized learning 
paths for specific target groups across various 
levels. 

Performance management process and feed-
back dialogue 
Central to personnel development is the ongoing 
feedback dialogue. Constructive discussions be-
tween employees and supervisors about goals, 
priorities, and individual growth are integral to 
Kardex' annual performance management pro-
cess. These discussions lead to the creation of 
development plans that align individual aspira-
tions with Kardex' objectives. 

Dual career model 
Kardex offers a dual career model catering to 
employees aspiring to managerial roles as well 
as those aiming to become domain experts with-
out managerial duties. This flexibility allows tal-
ents to transition between leadership and expert 
roles, contributing significantly to the Group's 
success through participation in a variable com-
pensation plan. 

Early career opportunities 
Kardex follows a robust talent acquisition strat-
egy. This includes offering early career opportuni-
ties and apprenticeship positions. Presently, 
Kardex is proud to host 58 apprentices and uni-
versity interns, contributing actively to a dynamic 
work environment. In celebration of Bellheim’s 
75th anniversary, a career information day was or-
ganized at this production site. This event drew 
185 students who participated in educational ses-
sions and training workshops. The day was fur-
ther enhanced by the support of the Pfalzmetall 
(M+E) employers' association, which provided an 

Fig. 6 Emergency exercise in Bellheim (Germany) 
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information truck. Here, attendees could try out 
the state-of-the-art CNC machines, gaining valu-
able insights into technical professions. Kardex is 
delighted by the enthusiastic response from par-
ticipants. 

Two-way communication system 
Kardex, values open and transparent communi-
cation and has therefore implemented a two-way 
communication system, encouraging employees 
to freely express their views on work conditions. 
The Kardex Academy plays a crucial role in this, 
offering training sessions on employee rights. For 
addressing grievances, employees can approach 
their direct managers, designated Human Re-
sources personnel, or report issues anonymously 
through the Whistleblowing platform 
(https://kardex.integrityline.com), as detailed in 
see section 2.2. 

Culture Committee 
The Culture Committee is Kardex' global em-
ployee representative group. This committee, 
representing the geographical regions and func-
tions equitably, acts as an independent entity. Its 
primary role is to gauge employee sentiment, as-
sess the maturity and effectiveness of the Guid-
ing Principles (refer to section 2.2), and com-
municate findings and recommendations for im-
provement to Group Management biannually. 

Freedom of association 
Kardex strictly adheres to the freedom of associ-
ation as outlined in the Code of Conduct. The 
right to freely associate and collectively bargain 
is actively promoted as detailed in the compre-
hensive, mandatory Code of Conduct online 
learning module (see section 2.2). 

In Germany the employees are represented by 
four working councils (Betriebsräte), which are 
supportive in ensuring adherence to labor laws 
and negotiating collective agreements. 

Employee engagement surveys 
In line with the principle of maintaining an open 
dialogue, Kardex conducted anonymous online 
employee engagement surveys in 2023. The 
findings and feedback from these surveys have 
been thoroughly analyzed and made accessible 
on the internal corporate portal. The responsible 
managers are tasked with discussing these re-
sults with their teams early in 2024. Together, 
they will identify and implement strategies and 
initiatives to enhance employee engagement and 
the overall work environment. 

New HCM platform Workday 
In March 2023, Kardex launched the Human 
Capital Management (HCM) platform Workday, 
enhancing HR processes across the Group. This 
platform centralizes and standardizes global so-
cial data collection. To optimize Workday inte-
gration and utilization, Kardex Academy devel-
oped training sessions for various user groups. 
Additionally, the annual individual performance 
process has been seamlessly integrated into 
Workday, fostering a transparent and efficient 
two-way communication system. 

KPIs 
During the reporting period, Kardex Academy 
conducted the highest number of training courses 
in its history. Over 1’080 employees participated 
in at least one course, dedicating over 23’000 
hours to training. This equates to an average of 
21.1 hours of internal training per employee glob-
ally. The number of trainings offered has doubled 
since last year. 

In 2023, 226 employees left Kardex, while 433 
new talents joined. Employee turnover decreased 
from 9.4% in 2022 to 9.2 % in 2023.

https://kardex.integrityline.com/setup
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6.2.3 Diversity & equality (priority 2) 

By promoting diversity and equal opportunities, 
Kardex is firmly committed to providing equitable 
and fair conditions for all employees, thus con-
tributing to the eradication of societal discrimina-
tion. This dedication to diversity is evident in the 
recruitment process, which is designed to en-
hance diversity across various dimensions such 
as regional background, age, origin, gender, and 
culture. The selection process is grounded solely 
in professional and personal qualifications, ensur-
ing a merit-based approach. Equal opportunities 
are also deliberately created in the internal pro-
motion of talent. 

Kardex takes its duty of care with utmost serious-
ness, striving to accommodate the specific needs 
of the workforce. This includes attention to both 
temporary situations like short-term injuries or 
maternity, as well as ongoing circumstances such 
as “disabilities”. Accordingly, Kardex has moved 
away from reporting global figures for "employ-
ees with a disability," reflecting a more nuanced 
understanding of individual needs. 

KPIs 
The proportion of female managers at Kardex 
stands at 19.5% (17.4%), mirroring the gender ra-
tio within the Group. The Board of Directors cur-
rently consists of two women and five men 
(28.6% female) and will consist of two women 
and four men from AGM 2024 onwards, which 
will lead to an increased female ratio of 33.3%. 
These statistics underscore Kardex' commitment 
to permeability and equal opportunity, demon-
strating Kardex’ success in fostering advance-
ment opportunities for all. 

6.2.4 Respect for human rights in a responsi-
ble supply chain (priority 3) 

Kardex' global supply network plays an important 
role in enhancing the value and quality of the 
products and systems. Working with approxi-
mately 1’500 direct suppliers, including subcon-
tractors, Kardex' supplier base reflects a diverse 
geographic distribution: 98% in Europe, 1.5% in 
the USA, and the remainder primarily in Asia, es-
pecially China. 

Aligned with the Code of Conduct, Kardex ex-
pects the suppliers to adhere to legal require-
ments, ethical business practices, and standard 
requirements relating to labor, health, safety, en-
vironmental protection, and management sys-
tems. This also includes ensuring that their oper-
ations within Kardex' sphere of influence do not 
adversely affect fundamental human rights, as 
outlined in the United Nations's Bill of Rights 
and the International Labor Organization's (ILO) 
core conventions. 

Following conflict minerals and child labor regu-
lations under the Swiss Code of Obligations art. 
946j ff. and the Ordinance on Due Diligence on 
Transparency in relation to Minerals and Metals 
from Conflict-Affected Areas and Child Labor 
(DDTrO), Kardex focused in 2023 on mitigating 
risks related to child labor and conflict minerals 
(identified as tin, tungsten, tantalum, and gold, 
or "3T+G", from conflict-affected and high-risk 
areas (CAHRAs)). Kardex assessed the risks in a 
systematic and comprehensive approach based 
on geography (child labor risks according to 
UNICEF Children's Rights in the Workplace In-
dex) and product/commodity group (conflict min-
erals). This assessment concluded that the im-
port and processing quantities for conflict miner-
als were not reached and no reasonable suspicion 
of child labor could be identified, exempting 
Kardex from due diligence and reporting obliga-
tions. 
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Social data 

2023 2022 

Unit Total 
male 

(%) 
female 

(%) Total 
male 

(%) 
female 

(%) (+/-%) 

Workforce 
Full-time hc1 2'294 82.9% 17.1% 2'063 83.5% 16.5% 11.2% 
Part-time hc 164 29.9% 70.1% 137 29.9% 70.1% 19.7% 
Total hc 2'458 79.4% 20.6% 2'200 80.1% 19.9% 11.7% 

Workforce by geographic markets 
Europe hc 2'086 79.6% 20.4% 1'904 80.7% 19.3% 9.6% 
Americas (North, Middle, 
South) 

hc 232 79.7% 20.3% 180 78.3% 21.7% 28.9% 

Asia-Pacific hc 140 75.7% 24.3% 116 74.1% 25.9% 20.7% 
Total hc 2'458 79.4% 20.6% 2'200 80.1% 19.9% 11.7% 

Hires and fluctuations 
Hires hc 433 75.8% 24.2% 433 76.4% 23.6% 0.0% 
Fluctuations hc 226 76.1% 23.9% 206 73.8% 26.2% 9.7% 

Management 
Total leadership positions amount 462 80.5% 19.5% 409 82.6% 17.4% 13.0% 
Divisonal or 
Group Management 

amount 24 87.5% 12.5% 22 90.9% 9.1% 9.1% 

Board of Directors amount 7 71.4% 28.6% 7 85.7% 14.3% 0.0% 

Training and education 
Internal training hours hours 23'002 83.5% 16.5% 10'362 77.4% 22.6% 122.0% 

Other workforce 
Apprentices / University in-
terns 

hc 58 75.9% 24.1% 54 94.4% 5.6% 7.4% 

Occupational health & safety 
Fatalities cases 0 0 n. a. 
Injuries2 cases 37 23 n. a. 

1 hc = headcounts 
2   In 2023 all injuries that resulted in more than three days of absence from work were reported globally (rather than German 

production sites only in 2022). 
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6.3 Governance matters 

6.3.1 Compliance and governance (priority 1) 

New legal & compliance organization 
In the reporting period, Kardex significantly in-
vested in strengthening its compliance manage-
ment system and corporate governance struc-
tures. This effort resulted in the establishment of 
a new position, the Senior Director Legal & Com-
pliance, at group-level. Appointed in April 2023, 
the individual in this role dedicated approxi-
mately 40% of its time to ESG and sustainability 
management. The group-level Sustainability 
Manager reports directly-, and the Legal Counsel 
of Kardex Remstar reports functionally, to the 
Senior Director Legal & Compliance. 

Fight against corruption and anti-competitive 
behavior 
Kardex is committed to fair competition and 
firmly opposes any forms of bribery or corruption. 
The Group holds its business partners to the 
same high standards, expecting adherence to le-
gal requirements, ethical business practices, and 
compliance with regulations pertaining to person-
nel, health, safety, environmental protection, and 
management systems. Kardex' zero-tolerance 
stance on corruption, bribery, and anti-competi-
tive behavior underpins its commitment to fos-
tering a just society and a competitive economy. 

An awareness training on anti-corruption and fair 
competition is integrated into the comprehensive 

and mandatory Code of Conduct online learning 
module, detailed in section 2.2. 

There were no reported incidents, legal cases, or 
known violations related to anti-corruption, anti-
trust, or other anti-competitive behaviors during 
the reporting period. Furthermore, there were no 
reported violations of environmental or social 
laws. 

Data protection 
Data protection and information security are a 
priority for Kardex and are integral to the regular 
training initiatives. By prioritizing these areas, 
Kardex safeguards the privacy of stakeholders, 
including customers and employees. 

In November 2023, Kardex' IT systems experi-
enced a security breach. Attackers gained tempo-
rary access to a limited number of administrator 
accounts. Thanks to an immediate and profes-
sional response from the internal and external IT 
security and forensics teams, the breach was 
swiftly contained. Subsequent investigations by 
external experts found no indication of customer 
data leaks, thefts, or losses. 

Kardex duly reported this incident to the appro-
priate data protection authorities. 

No other incidents involving data leaks, thefts, or 
losses of customer data were reported by exter-
nal parties or regulatory bodies for the year 
2023. 
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in EUR million Notes 2023 (%) 2022 (%) 

Net revenues1 1.1 702.9 100.0% 565.6 100.0% 
Cost of goods sold and services provided -467.0 -66.4% -387.9 -68.6% 

Gross profit 235.9 33.6% 177.7 31.4% 

Sales and marketing expenses -76.3 -10.9% -65.3 -11.5% 
Administrative expenses -50.9 -7.2% -41.9 -7.4% 
R&D expenses -17.5 -2.5% -12.7 -2.2% 
Other operating income 1.3 0.5 0.1% 0.7 0.1% 
Other operating expenses 1.3 -5.8 -0.8% -2.7 -0.5% 

Operating result (EBIT) 85.9 12.2% 55.8 9.9% 

Financial result, net 1.4 1.2 0.2% -2.3 -0.4% 

Result for the period before tax (EBT) 87.1 12.4% 53.5 9.5% 

Income tax expense 1.5 -20.2 -2.9% -14.9 -2.6% 
Income tax rate (based on EBT) 23.2% 27.9% 

Result for the period 66.9 9.5% 38.6 6.8% 

Attributable to: 
Shareholders of Kardex Holding AG 66.6 9.5% 37.8 6.7% 
Non-controlling interests 0.3 0.0% 0.8 0.1% 

Result for the period 66.9 9.5% 38.6 6.8% 

Earnings per share attributable to shareholders 
of Kardex Holding AG (EUR)2 3.2 8.63 4.90 

1  Thereof from construction contracts (percentage of completion (POC)): EUR 139.9 million (EUR 100.1 million). 
2  No dilutive effect occurred in 2023 and 2022. 

Consolidated  
income statement 

The notes to the consolidated financial statements from page 86 to page 122 represent an integral 
part of Kardex’ financial statements. 
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in EUR million Notes   31.12.2023 (%)   31.12.2022 (%) 

Cash and cash equivalents 2.1   107.3 25.4%   71.2 19.6% 
Trade accounts receivable 2.2   93.0 22.0%   80.7 22.2% 
Other receivables 2.3   47.8 11.3%   32.4 8.9% 
Current fixed term deposits    12.3 2.9%   31.5 8.7% 
Inventories and work in progress 2.4   23.4 5.5%   33.5 9.2% 
Prepaid expenses    10.9 2.6%   8.6 2.4% 

Current assets    294.7 69.8%   257.9 70.8% 
          
Property, plant and equipment 2.5   68.9 16.3%   61.2 16.8% 
Intangible assets 2.5   8.4 2.0%   11.2 3.1% 
Financial assets 2.6   50.2 11.9%   33.8 9.3% 

Non-current assets    127.5 30.2%   106.2 29.2% 

Assets    422.2 100.0%   364.1 100.0% 
           
Trade accounts payable    25.7 6.1%   26.3 7.2% 
Other current liabilities 2.8   44.2 10.5%   47.3 13.0% 
Current provisions 2.10   8.4 2.0%   4.4 1.2% 
Accruals 2.11   72.6 17.2%   54.4 14.9% 

Current liabilities    150.9 35.7%   132.4 36.4% 
          
Non-current provisions 2.10   31.2 7.4%   27.1 7.4% 

Non-current liabilities    31.2 7.4%   27.1 7.4% 

Liabilities    182.1 43.1%   159.5 43.8% 
          
Share capital 3.1   2.5 0.6%   2.5 0.7% 
Capital reserves1    32.3 7.7%   32.1 8.8% 
Goodwill offset    -45.0 -10.7%   -42.8 -11.8% 
Retained earnings and translation differences1    251.1 59.5%   214.3 58.9% 
Treasury shares 3.1   -1.8 -0.4%   -2.2 -0.6% 

Equity before non-controlling interests    239.1 56.6%   203.9 56.0% 
Non-controlling interests    1.0 0.2%   0.7 0.2% 

Equity    240.1 56.9%   204.6 56.2% 

Equity and liabilities    422.2 100.0%   364.1 100.0% 
          

1 The equity comprises EUR 17.5 million (EUR 17.3 million) in non-distributable reserves. 

 

 

 

Consolidated  
balance sheet 

The notes to the consolidated financial statements from page 86 to page 122 represent an integral 
part of Kardex’ financial statements. 
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Consolidated  
cash flow statement 

in EUR million Notes 2023 2022 

Result for the period 66.9 38.6 
Depreciation, amortization and impairment 1.1, 1.3, 2.5 13.4 9.6 
Additions and reversals of provisions 2.10 12.9 5.0 
Gain/loss on sale of assets - -0.5 
Other non-cash items -2.1 2.2 
Change in accounts receivable -12.8 -19.0 
Change in other receivables -15.7 -5.3 
Change in inventories and work in progress 9.5 -27.0 
Change in prepaid expenses -2.5 -4.2 
Change in accounts payable -0.5 6.8 
Change in other current liabilities -2.9 10.0 
Change in provisions 2.10 -4.6 -3.6 
Change in accruals 18.8 -2.2 

Net cash flow from operating activities 80.4 10.4 

Purchase of property, plant and equipment -16.6 -14.2 
Sale of property, plant and equipment 0.4 1.2 
Purchase of intangible assets -3.1 -4.6 
Sale of intangible assets 0.2 - 
Change in current fixed term deposits 19.2 42.7 
Purchase of non-current fixed term deposits - -11.0 
Purchase of financial assets -0.1 - 
Change in other investments -13.1 -7.9 
Acquisition of subsidiary 4.4 -1.9 - 
Sale of subsidiary 4.4 - -0.1 

Net cash flow from investing activities -15.0 6.1 

Acquisition of treasury shares 3.1 - -1.9 
Disposal of treasury shares - 1.5 
Change in current financial liabilities - 0.2 
Dividend paid -27.5 -32.6 

Net cash flow from financing activities -27.5 -32.8 

Effect of currency translation differences on 
cash and cash equivalents -1.8 1.6 

Net change in cash and cash equivalents 36.1 -14.7 

Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January 2.1 71.2 85.9 
Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December 2.1 107.3 71.2 

Net change in cash and cash equivalents 36.1 -14.7 

The notes to the consolidated financial statements from page 86 to page 122 represent an integral 
part of Kardex’ financial statements. 
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Opening balance 
1 January 2023 

2.5 32.1 -42.8 211.0 3.3 -2.2 203.9 0.7 204.6 

Result for the period - - - 66.6 - - 66.6 0.3 66.9 
Acquisition of subsidiary 3.3, 4.4 - - -2.2 0.1 - - -2.1 0.2 -1.9 
Currency translation differences - - - - -2.5 - -2.5 - -2.5 
Disposal of treasury shares2 3.1 - 0.2 - - - 0.4 0.6 - 0.6 
Dividend paid - - - -27.3 - - -27.3 -0.2 -27.5 
Valuation of hedging reserves - - - -0.1 - - -0.1 - -0.1 
Closing balance 
31 December 2023 

2.5 32.3 -45.0 250.3 0.8 -1.8 239.1 1.0 240.1 

Opening balance 
1 January 2022 2.5 31.6 -44.4 205.0 0.8 -1.7 193.8 0.1 193.9 

Result for the period - - - 37.8 - - 37.8 0.8 38.6 
Sale of subsidiary 4.4 - - 1.6 - - - 1.6 -0.1 1.5 
Currency translation differences - - - - 2.5 - 2.5 0.1 2.6 
Acquisition of treasury shares 3.1 - - - - - -1.9 -1.9 - -1.9 
Disposal of treasury shares2 3.1 - 0.5 - - - 1.4 1.9 - 1.9 
Dividend paid - - - -32.4 - - -32.4 -0.2 -32.6 
Share-based remuneration 1.2 - - - 0.1 - - 0.1 - 0.1 
Valuation of hedging reserves - - - 0.5 - - 0.5 - 0.5 
Closing balance 
31 December 2022 2.5 32.1 -42.8 211.0 3.3 -2.2 203.9 0.7 204.6 

1  Number of treasury shares held as of 31 December 2023: 14'210 (16'832). 
2  As part of share-based remuneration to the BoD and the former CEO, treasury shares were allocated in the amount of EUR 

0.4 million (EUR 0.3 million). This results in a gain of EUR 0.2 million (EUR 0.1 million) reported in ‘Capital reserves’. 

Consolidated statement 
of changes in equity 

The notes to the consolidated financial statements from page 86 to page 122 represent an integral 
part of Kardex’ financial statements. 
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The notes are divided into five sections. Each section starts with an introduction, which summarizes 
the information provided. In addition, the accounting policies and accounting estimates applied to pre-
pare the consolidated financial statements appear at the end of the note to which they relate in order 
to provide appropriate context. 

1. Performance

This section provides information on the opera-
tional performance of Kardex. The description of 
the operating model provides useful information 
to understand the segment reporting, which cor-
responds to Kardex’ internal reporting system. In 
addition, information is presented on selected in-
come and expense items. 

The key headlines concerning Kardex’ 
performance are: 

in EUR million 2023 2022 

Net revenues 702.9 565.6 
Operating result (EBIT) 85.9 55.8 
EBIT (margin) 12.2% 9.9% 
Result for the period 66.9 38.6 

Alternative performance measures (APM) 

Based on the Directive on the Use of Alternative 
Performance Measures (DAPM), issuers whose 
equity securities are listed on SIX Swiss Ex-
change are requested to publish clear and com-
prehensive definitions of APM. APM are financial 
measures not clearly defined or specified in the 
applicable recognized accounting standard.  

Earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation 
and amortization (EBITDA) 

in EUR million 2023 2022 

Operating result 
(EBIT) 85.9 55.8 

Depreciation, amorti-
zation and impair-
ment 

13.4 9.6 

EBITDA 99.3 65.4 

Equity ratio  

in EUR million  31.12.2023  31.12.2022 

Assets 422.2 364.1 
Equity 240.1 204.6 

Equity ratio1 56.9% 56.2% 

1  ‘Equity’ divided by ‘Assets’. 

Notes to the consolidated 
financial statements 
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Invested capital 

in EUR million 2023 2022 

Equity 222.4 199.3 
Value adjustment for 
doubtful accounts -0.9 -0.8 

Deferred tax 
liabilities 3.7 1.8 

Accrual for income tax 
< 1 year 3.2 2.7 

Invested capital1 228.4 203.0 

1  Each position is calculated on average basis of one year. 

Free cash flow 

in EUR million 2023 2022 

Net cash flow from 
operating activities 

80.4 10.4 

Net cash flow from 
investing activities -15.0 6.1 

Adjustment for 
changes in fixed term 
deposits 

-19.2 -31.7 

Adjusted 
net cash flow from 
investing activities 

-34.2 -25.6 

Free cash flow 46.2 -15.2 

Net cash 

in EUR million  31.12.2023  31.12.2022 

Cash and cash 
equivalents 107.3 71.2 

Current fixed term de-
posits 12.3 31.5 

Net cash 119.6 102.7 

Net working capital (NWC) 

in EUR million  31.12.2023  31.12.2022 

Trade accounts 
receivable 
(excl. value adjust-
ment) 

94.0 81.4 

Construction contracts 
with amounts due 
from customers 
(underfinanced - 
POC)2 

17.2 9.3 

Advance payments 5.4 2.5 

Accounts receivable 116.6 93.2 

Raw materials, 
supplies and other 
consumables 

27.5 28.3 

Finished goods 5.1 13.9 
Spare parts 10.2 7.1 
Work in progress 58.0 39.4 
Advance payments 
from customers -75.7 -55.0 

Advance payments to 
suppliers 5.4 5.4 

Inventories 30.5 39.1 

Trade accounts 
payable -25.7 -26.3 

Construction contracts 
with amounts due to 
customers 
(overfinanced – POC)2 

-16.3 -27.2 

Other payables -2.9 -2.6 

Accounts payable -44.9 -56.1 

NWC 102.2 76.2 

2  POC = Percentage of completion. 

Return on invested capital (ROIC) 

in EUR million   2023 2022 

Operating result 
(EBIT) 85.9 55.8 

Invested capital 228.4 203.0 

ROIC3 37.6% 27.5% 

3 ‘Operating result (EBIT)’ divided by ‘Invested capital’. 
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1.1 Segment reporting 

Kardex is a global industry partner for intralogistic solutions and a leading supplier of automated stor-
age solutions and material handling systems. The Group consists of the two entrepreneurially man-
aged divisions, Kardex Remstar and Kardex Mlog, as well as the Holding, which also includes Corpo-
rate Ventures. Kardex Remstar develops, produces and maintains dynamic storage and retrieval sys-
tems and Kardex Mlog offers integrated material handling systems and automated high bay ware-
houses. The two divisions are partners for their customers over the entire life cycle of a product or so-
lution. The AutoStore business and the affiliated company Robomotive B.V. (sold in November 2022) 
are reported in the segment ‘Holding / Other’. 

1.1.1 Income statement for 2023 

in EUR million 
Kardex 

Remstar 
Kardex 

Mlog 
Holding / 

Other 
Elimina-

tions Kardex 

Bookings1 527.6 78.9 67.6 -0.2 673.9 

Net revenues, third party 
- Europe 343.6 113.0 50.4 - 507.0 
- Americas 141.8 0.2 8.7 - 150.7 
- Asia/Pacific 41.3 - - - 41.3 
- Middle East and Africa 3.9 - - - 3.9 

Total net revenues, third party 530.6 113.2 59.1 - 702.9 
Net revenues, with other operating segments 0.1 0.2 - -0.3 - 

Net revenues2 530.7 113.4 59.1 -0.3 702.9 

Cost of goods sold and services provided -329.7 -90.8 -46.8 0.3 -467.0 

Gross profit 201.0 22.6 12.3 - 235.9 
Gross profit margin 37.9% 19.9% 20.8% 33.6% 

Sales and marketing expenses -58.8 -9.5 -8.0 - -76.3 
Administrative expenses -39.7 -5.6 -10.8 5.2 -50.9 
R&D expenses -15.2 -1.1 -1.2 - -17.5 
Other operating income 0.3 0.2 5.2 -5.2 0.5 
Other operating expenses -5.6 -0.1 -0.1 - -5.8 

Operating result (EBIT) 82.0 6.5 -2.6 - 85.9 
EBIT margin 15.5% 5.7% 12.2% 

Depreciation, amortization and impairment 12.6 0.6 0.2 - 13.4 

EBITDA 94.6 7.1 -2.4 - 99.3 
EBITDA margin 17.8% 6.3% 14.1% 

1 ‘Bookings’ are legally binding contracts with customers entered into during the reporting period. Figures related to ‘Bookings’ 
are not audited. 

2 ‘Net revenues’ comprise EUR 521.6 million from New Business and EUR 181.3 million from Life Cycle Services. 
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1.1.2 Income statement for 2022 

in EUR million 
Kardex 

Remstar 
Kardex 

Mlog 
Holding / 

Other 
Elimina-

tions Kardex 

Bookings1 509.8 125.4 63.4 - 698.6 

Net revenues, third party 
- Europe 292.1 104.4 17.8 - 414.3 
- Americas 105.8 0.6 6.0 - 112.4 
- Asia/Pacific 34.7 0.3 - - 35.0 
- Middle East and Africa 3.9 - - - 3.9 

Total net revenues, third party 436.5 105.3 23.8 - 565.6 
Net revenues, with other operating segments 0.1 0.3 - -0.4 - 

Net revenues2 436.6 105.6 23.8 -0.4 565.6 

Cost of goods sold and services provided -283.8 -85.2 -19.3 0.4 -387.9 

Gross profit 152.8 20.4 4.5 - 177.7 
Gross profit margin 35.0% 19.3% 18.9% 31.4% 

Sales and marketing expenses -51.7 -8.7 -4.9 - -65.3 
Administrative expenses -32.8 -5.5 -7.8 4.2 -41.9 
R&D expenses -11.2 -1.1 -0.4 - -12.7 
Other operating income 0.6 0.1 4.2 -4.2 0.7 
Other operating expenses -1.6 -0.1 -1.0 - -2.7 

Operating result (EBIT) 56.1 5.1 -5.4 - 55.8 
EBIT margin 12.8% 4.8% 9.9% 

Depreciation, amortization and impairment 7.9 0.7 1.0 - 9.6 

EBITDA 64.0 5.8 -4.4 - 65.4 
EBITDA margin 14.7% 5.5% 11.6% 

1 ‘Bookings’ are legally binding contracts with customers entered into during the reporting period. Figures related to ‘Bookings’ 
are not audited. 

2 ‘Net revenues’ comprise EUR 402.4 million from New Business and EUR 163.2 million from Life Cycle Services. 



Notes to the consolidated financial statements 

90 

Accounting principles 
Net revenues include all revenues from products sold and services provided less items 
such as early payer discounts, rebates, other agreed discounts and value-added tax. No 
revenue is recognized if there is significant uncertainty regarding the collectability of the 
consideration due, associated costs or the possible return of goods. Revenues from: 

 sales of goods are recognized when the risks and rewards of ownership have trans-
ferred to the buyer, which is most frequently after finalized installation or based on
accepted international commercial terms, such as EXW, FOB or DDP;

 services are recognized according to the stage of completion;
 construction contracts are reported using the percentage of completion (POC)

method, provided that the contractual performance is highly probable and income
and expenses arising from long-term construction contracts can be reliably esti-
mated. The revenues and expenses are recognized in the income statement propor-
tionally to the stage of completion. The stage of completion is determined using the
cost-to-cost method, i.e. by calculating the ratio between the project costs incurred
to date and the estimated overall costs of the project. Expected losses from con-
struction contracts are immediately recognized in the income statement as at the
date of detection. Underfinanced projects are recorded in the balance sheet under
‘Other receivables’ while overfinanced positions report under ‘Other current liabili-
ties’.

Use of accounting estimates 
The application of the POC method requires multiple estimates regarding forecasted 
overall costs to be incurred until the end of the projects. 
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1.2 Personnel expenses 
       

in EUR million   2023   2022 

Fixed and variable salaries   -175.0   -149.2 
Social security contributions   -35.3   -29.4 
Retirement and pension plan costs   -5.1   -4.2 
Other personnel expenses   -11.5   -10.2 

Total personnel expenses   -226.9   -193.0 
       

A share-based Long-Term Incentive Program was introduced in 2021 for the members of the Group 
Management representing EUR 0.2 million (EUR 0.1 million) of variable salaries. 

 

Accounting principles 
Share-based payments are recognized at fair value at the grant date and, 
until such time as entitlement is asserted, are charged to the correspond-
ing positions in the income statement as personnel expenses. As these 
awards are equity-settled, the consideration is recognized in equity. 

 
 
 

1.3 Other operating income and expenses 
       

in EUR million   2023   2022 

Gains from non-current assets sold   -   0.5 
Other income   0.5   0.2 

Total other operating income   0.5   0.7 
       
Taxes other than income taxes   -0.8   -0.9 
Impairment of assets / loss from sale of subsidiary   -4.3   -1.0 
Severance payments   -   -0.5 
Losses from non-current assets sold   -0.1   - 
Other expenses   -0.6   -0.3 

Total other operating expenses   -5.8   -2.7 
       

In the period under review, EUR 4.3 million impairment of assets are mainly due to developments 
during the introduction of the global ERP system and elements that did not meet the expectations 
(see note 2.5.3). In 2022, all shares of Robomotive B.V. were disposed by Kardex Holding AG. This 
resulted in a write-off which mainly arose from the recycling of the goodwill (see note 4.4). 
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1.4 Financial result, net 

in EUR million 2023 2022 

Interest income 1.8 0.4 
Foreign exchange gains (net) - 0.3 
Other financial income 2.1 0.3 

Total financial income 3.9 1.0 

Interest expense -0.2 -0.6 
Foreign exchange losses (net) -1.7 - 
Other financial expenses -0.8 -2.7 

Total financial expenses -2.7 -3.3 

Total financial result, net 1.2 -2.3 

‘Other financial income’ includes returns from fixed term and time deposits and other financial invest-
ments. Losses on ‘Other financial assets’ were recognized as ‘Other financial expenses’ in the report-
ing period. 

Accounting principles 
Net financing costs comprise interest expense on borrowings and pension liabilities, 
interest earned on investments, gains and losses from foreign currency translation, as 
well as gains and losses from derivative financial instruments used for exchange rate 
hedging (unless designated as cash flow hedge). All of which with the exception of  
cash flow hedges are recognized in the income statement. Interest income and ex-
pense as well as gains or losses from interest rate hedging are recognized in the in-
come statement as they occur. 

1.5 Income tax expense and tax losses carryforward 

1.5.1 Income tax expense 

in EUR million 2023 2022 

Current income tax -20.0 -13.0 
Deferred income tax -0.2 -1.9 

Total income tax expense -20.2 -14.9 
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1.5.2 Analysis of income tax expense 

The variance between the expected income tax expense, based on the expected income tax rate, and 
the effective income tax expense recorded in the consolidated income statement depends on the fol-
lowing determining factors. Kardex’ expected income tax rate is based on the result for the period be-
fore tax and the tax rate pertaining to each individual entity at the respective fiscal year. 

       

in EUR million   2023   2022 

Result for the period before tax   87.1   53.5 
Weighted average income tax rate   23.5%   24.5% 
Expected income tax expense   -20.5   -13.1 
Use of unrecognized tax losses carryforward   1.5   0.6 
Effect of change in tax rates   -0.3   -0.5 
Effect of non-recognition of tax losses in current year   -   -0.9 
Income tax of prior periods, net   -0.5   -0.6 
Withholding taxes on dividends not recoverable   -   -0.1 
Other   -0.4   -0.3 

Effective income tax expense   -20.2   -14.9 
Effective income tax rate   23.2%   27.9% 
       

 

1.5.3 Tax losses carryforward 

Tax effects on losses carryforward are not capitalized. 

       

in EUR million   31.12.2023   31.12.2022 

Tax losses carryforward by expiration       
Following year   -   0.2 
In 2 to 5 years   1.4   1.4 
After 5 years   0.2   1.7 
Not expiring   1.5   6.1 

Total tax losses carryforward   3.1   9.4 
       

As of 31 December 2023, the non-capitalized tax effects on losses carryforward amounted to  
EUR 0.6 million (EUR 2.1 million).  
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Accounting principles 
Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax is recognized in the income  
statement unless it relates to items recognized in equity. Current tax is the expected 
tax payable on the taxable income for the year and any adjustment to tax payable re-
lated to previous years. Income tax is calculated using tax rates already in force or sub-
stantially enacted at the balance sheet date. Deferred tax is calculated using the bal-
ance sheet liability method on the basis of tax rates already in force or substantially 
enacted at the balance sheet date and is based on temporary differences between 
Swiss GAAP FER carrying amounts and the tax base. Deferred income tax assets and 
liabilities are netted only if they relate to the same taxable entity. Tax savings due to 
tax loss carryforward on future taxable income are not recognized. 

2. Operating assets and liabilities

Detailed information on the operating assets used and liabilities incurred to support Kardex’ operating 
activities are disclosed in this section. This includes disclosures on the valuation of trade accounts re-
ceivable, inventories and work in progress as well as movements in property, plant, equipment, intan-
gible assets and provisions. 

Accounting principles

Impairment of assets 
Property, plant and equipment and other non-current assets are assessed as at each 
balance sheet date to determine whether any events or changes in circumstances have 
occurred that might indicate an impairment. Where such indications exist, an impair-
ment test is conducted. If the carrying amount of the asset exceeds the recoverable 
amount, an impairment loss is recognized. 
The recoverable amount is the higher of the net selling price and value in use of the 
asset. The recoverable amount is normally determined for each asset. If the asset in 
question does not generate any separate cash flows, the smallest possible group of as-
sets that generate separate cash flows is tested. Where the impairment exceeds the 
residual carrying amount, a provision amounting to the remaining difference is recog-
nized.  
On each balance sheet date, impairments previously recorded are examined to estab-
lish whether the reasons that led to the impairment still apply to the same extent. If 
the reasons for an impairment no longer apply, the value will be reinstated up to a 
maximum of the carrying amount, as adjusted according to scheduled depreciation. 
The reverse booking is recognized in the income statement. 
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Liabilities 
Liabilities are shown at their nominal value. 

Operating lease payments 
Payments made under operating leases are recognized in the income statement on a 
straight-line basis over the term of the lease. 

Finance lease payments 
Payments made under finance leases are allocated between the financing costs and 
repayment of the principal. The financing costs are allocated to each period during the 
lease term to produce a constant rate of interest over the term of the liability. 

 
2.1 Cash and cash equivalents 
       

in EUR million   31.12.2023   31.12.2022 

Cash, postal and bank current accounts   92.4   65.4 
Fixed term and time deposits   14.9   5.8 

Total cash and cash equivalents   107.3   71.2 
       

 

Of ‘Cash and cash equivalents’, EUR 2.6 million (EUR 4.2 million) were held in countries with specific 
formalities and request procedures for transfers abroad. By complying with these requirements, 
Kardex has these funds at its disposal.  
 
 

Accounting principles 
‘Cash and cash equivalents’ comprise cash balances, postal and bank account balances 
and other liquid investments with a maximum total maturity of three months from the 
balance sheet date. 

 
 
 
2.2 Trade accounts receivable 
       

in EUR million   31.12.2023   31.12.2022 

Trade accounts receivable   94.0   81.4 
Value adjustment for doubtful accounts   -1.0   -0.7 

Total trade accounts receivable   93.0   80.7 
       

Trade accounts receivable are distributed over a widely scattered customer base. Management does 
not expect any material losses on receivables.  
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Accounting principles 
Trade accounts receivable are stated at nominal value less any impairments. The value 
adjustment consists of individual value adjustment for specifically identified positions 
for which there are objective indications that the outstanding amount will not be re-
ceived in full and of a collective value adjustment for positions that have been overdue 
for 180 days or longer. 

2.3 Other receivables 

in EUR million 31.12.2023 31.12.2022 

Construction contracts with amounts due from customers 
(underfinanced – POC)1  17.2 9.3 

Income tax receivables 8.1 6.4 
VAT, withholding and other refundable tax 14.8 11.6 
Guarantees paid in cash 0.1 0.1 
Advance payments 5.4 2.5 
Other receivables 2.2 2.5 

Total other receivables 47.8 32.4 

1 Before offsetting against accrued cost, gross advance payments from customers for underfinanced POC projects amount to 
EUR 76.0 million (EUR 32.2 million). 

2.4 Inventories and work in progress 

in EUR million 31.12.2023 31.12.2022 

Raw materials, supplies and other consumables 27.5 28.3 
Finished goods 5.1 13.9 
Spare parts 10.2 7.1 
Work in progress 58.0 39.4 
Value adjustment -7.1 -5.6 
Advance payments from customers -75.7 -55.0 
Advance payments to suppliers 5.4 5.4 

Total inventories and work in progress 23.4 33.5 
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Accounting principles 
Inventories are stated at the lower of acquisition/production cost or fair value less  
costs to sell. Fair value less costs to sell is defined as the value of the sales proceeds 
less the remaining costs of production, sale and administration incurred until the time 
of sale. Inventories are valued on a weighted-average basis. The acquisition and pro-
duction costs also include the costs of purchase and transport of inventories. In the 
case of inventories manufactured by Kardex, production costs also include an appropri-
ate share of the overheads incurred. Adjustments are made for items lacking marketa-
bility and for slow-moving items. 

 

2.5 Property, plant, equipment and intangible assets 

2.5.1 Property, plant and equipment 2023 
           

in EUR million  
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Acquisition cost, 1 January   - 43.5 67.4 9.7 11.6 4.8 137.0  
Change in scope of consolidation   - - 0.5 - - - 0.5  
Additions   - 0.7 5.7 2.3 7.5 0.4 16.6  
Disposals   - -0.1 -4.2 -0.4 -0.3 -0.4 -5.4  
Reclassifications1   - 5.4 2.6 - -8.1 - -0.1  
Exchange rate differences   - -0.6 -0.5 - -0.1 -0.1 -1.3  
31 December   - 48.9 71.5 11.6 10.6 4.7 147.3  
           
Accumulated depreciation, 1 January   - -20.1 -44.8 -7.9 - -3.0 -75.8  
Additions   - -1.2 -5.0 -1.2 - -0.3 -7.7  
Impairment   - -0.2 - - - - -0.2  
Disposals   - - 4.2 0.4 - 0.3 4.9  
Disposals - impairment   - - - - - 0.1 0.1  
Exchange rate differences   - - 0.2 - - 0.1 0.3  
31 December   - -21.5 -45.4 -8.7 - -2.8 -78.4  
           
Net carrying amount, 1 January   - 23.4 22.6 1.8 11.6 1.8 61.2  
Net carrying amount, 31 December   - 27.4 26.1 2.9 10.6 1.9 68.9  
           

1 The residual value of the reclassifications amounting to EUR 0.1 million was done between ‘Property, plant and equipment’ 
and ‘Intangible assets’ (see note 2.5.3).  

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment is included in the following items: EUR 5.0 million 
‘Cost of goods sold and services provided’, EUR 0.3 million in ‘Sales and marketing expenses’, 
EUR 2.3 million in ‘Administrative expenses’ and EUR 0.1 million in ‘R&D expenses’. 

Impairment of property, plant and equipment of EUR 0.2 million is reported under ’Other operating 
expenses’. 
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2.5.2 Property, plant and equipment 2022 
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Acquisition cost, 1 January 0.5 42.4 55.4 8.3 13.4 4.4 124.4 
Additions - 0.7 3.0 1.2 8.8 0.5 14.2 
Disposals -0.5 -0.5 -1.7 -0.1 - -0.2 -3.0 
Reclassifications1 - - 10.7 0.3 -11.3 - -0.3 
Exchange rate differences - 0.9 - - 0.7 0.1 1.7 
31 December - 43.5 67.4 9.7 11.6 4.8 137.0 

Accumulated depreciation, 1 January - -19.4 -41.7 -6.9 - -2.7 -70.7 
Additions - -1.1 -4.6 -1.1 - -0.3 -7.1 
Impairment - - - - - -0.1 -0.1 
Disposals - 0.5 1.6 0.1 - 0.1 2.3 
Exchange rate differences - -0.1 -0.1 - - - -0.2 
31 December - -20.1 -44.8 -7.9 - -3.0 -75.8 

Net carrying amount, 1 January 0.5 23.0 13.7 1.4 13.4 1.7 53.7 
Net carrying amount, 31 December - 23.4 22.6 1.8 11.6 1.8 61.2 

1 The residual value of the reclassifications amounting to EUR 0.3 million was done between ‘Property, plant and equipment’ 
and ‘Intangible assets’ (see note 2.5.4). 

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment is included in the following items: EUR 4.5 million in 
‘Cost of goods sold and services provided’, EUR 0.3 million in ‘Sales and marketing expenses’, 
EUR 2.2 million in ‘Administrative expenses’ and EUR 0.1 million in ‘R&D expenses’. 

Impairment of property, plant and equipment of EUR 0.1 million is reported under ’Other operating 
expenses’. 
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Accounting principles 

Owned assets 
Items of property, plant and equipment are stated at acquisition or construction cost 
less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses. The acquisition and construction 
cost includes all expenses directly attributable to the acquisition and necessary to bring 
the asset to working condition for its intended use. Interest expenses during the con-
struction phase of property, plant and equipment are not capitalized. 

Leased assets 
Leasing agreements under which Kardex essentially assumes all the risks and rewards 
associated with the acquisition are treated as finance leases. These assets are stated 
at an amount equal to the lower of cost of acquisition/net fair value or present value of 
the future lease payments at the start of the agreement, less the accumulated depreci-
ation and impairment loss. Obligations arising from finance leasing are recognized as 
liabilities. 

Maintenance and renovation costs 
Major renovation or modernization work, as well as expenses that significantly increase 
fair value or value in use, and expenditure that extends the estimated useful life of 
property, plant and equipment, are capitalized. Repairs and maintenance costs are rec-
ognized directly under operating expenses. 

Depreciation 
Depreciation is charged to the income statement on a straight-line basis over the fol-
lowing estimated useful lifes: 

 
Buildings  20 to 40 years 
Machinery, production tools and equipment  4 to 12 years 
Information technology (hardware)  3 years 
Other (e.g., vehicles)  5 to 8 years 

 

Depreciation of an item of property, plant or equipment begins when actual operational 
use commences. Property, plant and equipment under construction is not depreciated, 
but is regularly assessed for any indication of a need to apply impairment charges. 

The residual value and the useful economic life of the property, plant and equipment 
are reviewed annually and adjusted where necessary. Gains and losses arising from the 
sale of property, plant and equipment are recognized in the income statement. 
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2.5.3 Intangible assets in 2023 
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Acquisition cost, 1 January 0.1 19.0 6.2 1.7 27.0 
Additions - 2.6 0.3 - 2.9 
Disposals - - -0.2 - -0.2 
Reclassifications1 - 5.2 -5.1 - 0.1 
31 December 0.1 26.8 1.2 1.7 29.8 

Accumulated amortization, 1 January -0.1 -14.2 - -1.5 -15.8 
Additions - -1.4 - - -1.4 
Impairment2 - -4.1 - - -4.1 
Exchange rate differences - -0.1 - - -0.1 
31 December -0.1 -19.8 - -1.5 -21.4 

Net carrying amount, 1 January - 4.8 6.2 0.2 11.2 
Net carrying amount, 31 December - 7.0 1.2 0.2 8.4 

1 The residual value of the reclassifications amounting to EUR 0.1 million was done between ‘Property, plant and equipment’ 
and ‘Intangible assets’ (see note 2.5.1). 

2 The impairment of EUR 4.1 million is due to developments during the introduction of the global ERP system and elements 
that did not meet expectations. 

Amortization of intangible assets is included in the following items: EUR 0.1 million in ‘Cost of goods 
sold and services provided’, EUR 0.1 million in ‘Sales and marketing expenses’ and EUR 1.2 million in 
‘Administrative expenses’. 

Impairment of intangible assets of EUR 4.1 million is reported under ’Other operating expenses’. 
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2.5.4 Intangible assets in 2022 
         

in EUR million  
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Acquisition cost, 1 January   0.1 14.2 6.5 1.5 22.3  
Additions   - 0.4 3.8 0.2 4.4  
Reclassifications1   - 4.4 -4.1 - 0.3  
31 December   0.1 19.0 6.2 1.7 27.0  
         
Accumulated amortization, 1 January   -0.1 -12.8 - -1.5 -14.4  
Additions   - -1.5 - - -1.5  
Exchange rate differences   - 0.1 - - 0.1  
31 December   -0.1 -14.2 - -1.5 -15.8  
         
Net carrying amount, 1 January   - 1.4 6.5 - 7.9  
Net carrying amount, 31 December   - 4.8 6.2 0.2 11.2  
         

1 The residual value of the reclassifications amounting to EUR 0.3 million was done between ‘Property, plant and equipment’ 
and ‘Intangible assets’ (see note 2.5.2).  

Amortization of intangible assets is included in the following items: EUR 0.2 million in ‘Sales and 
marketing expenses‘ and EUR 1.3 million in ‘Administrative expenses’.  
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Accounting principles 

Intangible assets from development activities  
Expenditure on development activities related to new technologies or know-how is rec-
ognized in the income statement in the period in which it is incurred. 

Other intangible assets 
Other internally generated or acquired intangible assets are capitalized if they will gen-
erate measurable benefits for Kardex over several years. Such intangible assets are 
stated at cost of production or acquisition less accumulated amortization and impair-
ment loss. 

Subsequent costs 
Subsequent costs for existing intangible assets are only capitalized if they increase the 
future economic benefits of the assets concerned by at least the same amount. All 
other costs are expensed as incurred. 

Amortization 
Amortization of intangible assets is charged to the income statement on a straight-line 
basis over their estimated useful lifes. Amortization of intangible assets begins on the 
date they are available for use. The estimated useful lifes applied are as follows: 

Licenses and patents 5 years 
Trademark rights 5 years 
Capitalized software 5 to 10 years 
Other intangible assets 5 years 

The residual value and the useful economic life of the intangible assets are reviewed 
annually and adjusted where necessary. Gains and losses arising from the sale of in-
tangible assets are recognized in the income statement. 

Use of accounting estimates 
Intangible assets are measured by using key assumptions and estimates underlying 
their valuation considering recoverability of such assets from acquisitions and capital-
ized internally generated intangible assets. This includes the consideration of related 
forecasted cash flows.  
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2.6 Financial assets 
       

in EUR million   31.12.2023   31.12.2022 

Loans to associated companies   24.8   11.7 
Other financial assets   17.4   15.9 
Deferred tax assets   8.0   6.2 

Total financial assets   50.2   33.8 
       

Loans to associated companies relate to the further start-up and growth financing of Rocket Solution 
GmbH. Kardex invested in the past years in a portfolio of pension-related assets amounting to EUR 
16.0 million as of 31 December 2023 (EUR 14.1 million). 
 

Accounting principles 
Financial assets are generally measured at acquisition cost less any impairments. 

 

2.7 Current financial liabilities 

Kardex Holding AG has entered into bilateral uncommitted credit lines with its main banks in the total 
amount of EUR 40.0 million. All bilateral uncommitted credit lines are available to Kardex Holding 
AG for the issuance of guarantees and in the form of overdrafts or fixed advances. 

EUR 6.2 million (EUR 4.5 million) of these bilateral credit lines have been utilized in the form of guar-
antees as of 31 December 2023 (refer to note 4.1). 

No collateral was provided for all these lines of credit. All lines of credit rank pari passu. 
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2.8 Other current liabilities 

in EUR million 31.12.2023 31.12.2022 

VAT, withholding tax and other tax liabilities 20.3 13.1 
Construction contracts with amounts due to customers (overfinanced – POC)1 16.3 27.2 
Social security and pension plan liabilities 1.6 1.8 
Fixed and variable salaries 3.1 2.5 
Other financial liabilities - 0.1 
Other payables 2.9 2.6 

Total other current liabilities 44.2 47.3 

1 Before offsetting against accrued cost, gross advance payments from customers for overfinanced POC projects amount to 
EUR 40.2 million (EUR 48.7 million). 

2.9 Pension plans 

Employees and former employees receive different employee benefits and retirement pensions, which 
are determined in accordance with the legislative provisions in the countries concerned. Some Kardex 
companies are not direct risk-takers as being members of collective foundations. These pension plans 
are funded by contributions from both the employer and the employee. The private pension plans in 
Switzerland and the Netherlands are structured for the purpose of building up retirement assets to be 
converted into fixed retirement pensions and supplementary risk benefits. The Swiss entities are affili-
ated to a collective pension plan where the surplus/deficit cannot be determined per individual con-
tract but it can be stated that based on the preliminary, non-audited figures as of  
31 December 2023 the coverage of the collective plan as a whole amounts to 112.6% (110.0%).  

Some of the pension plans are made into independent schemes, especially in Germany and Italy. In 
addition to the independent schemes in Germany there are also schemes where the companies are 
direct risk-takers. In Italy, a fixed percentage of salary is provided for in the amount of the nominal 
value. These funds can be invested either within the company or in an independent scheme. The 
range of the discount rate applied for the major foreign pension plans varies as follow: 

- Germany: 1.8% (1.8%)
- France: 3.1% (3.8%)

In 2022, the retirement defined benefit plan in the UK was liquidated, whereupon a reinsurance com-
pany assumed the obligations to the insured through individual insurance policies.  
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2.9.1 Pension plans 2023
       

in EUR million  
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Economic part of the Group 1 January   - 18.0 18.0  
Change to prior period or recognized in the 
result for the period, respectively   - 0.8 0.8  

Economic part of the Group 31 December   - 18.8 18.8  
       
Pension benefit expenses within personnel expenses   -3.4 -1.7 -5.1  
Change to prior period or recognized in the 
result for the period, respectively   - 0.8 0.8  

Contributions concerning the period   -3.4 -0.9 -4.3  
       

 

2.9.2 Pension plans 2022 
       

in EUR million  
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Economic part of the Group 1 January   - 17.5 17.5  
Change to prior period or recognized in the 
result for the period, respectively   - 0.5 0.5  

Economic part of the Group 31 December   - 18.0 18.0  
       
Pension benefit expenses within personnel expenses   -3.0 -1.2 -4.2  
Change to prior period or recognized in the 
result for the period, respectively   - 0.5 0.5  

Contributions concerning the period   -3.0 -0.7 -3.7  
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Accounting principles 
There are several pension plans within Kardex, each of which complies with the legal 
requirements for the country in question. A majority of employees are insured against 
the risk of age, death and disability. These plans are funded by contributions from em-
ployees and employers. 

Actual economic impacts of employee pension plans on Kardex are calculated on the 
balance sheet date. The pension plan’s financial position is relevant to the measure-
ment of pension assets and pension liabilities. 

In the case of Swiss pension plans, the latest financial statements prepared in accord-
ance with Swiss GAAP FER 26 constitute the basis. An economic obligation is carried 
as a liability if the conditions for the recognition of a provision are met. An economic 
benefit is capitalized if it is used for Kardex’ future employee benefit expenses. Freely 
disposable employer contribution reserves are capitalized. The economic impacts of 
pension fund surpluses and deficits and the change in any employer contribution re-
serves are recognized in the income statement together with the amounts accrued over 
the same period. These same principles are applied in the case of foreign pension 
plans. 

Use of accounting estimates 
Kardex operates pension plans in various countries. The calculation of pension provi-
sions for plans that do not have their own assets is based on key actuarial assumptions 
(including discount rate, future salary or pension increases and average life expectancy, 
as well as plan assets performance and funded status), which may differ from the ac-
tual results. The discount rate used in the calculation for certain foreign pension plans 
is the most important parameter and any changes can strongly impact the valuation of 
the pension liability. The range of the applied discount rate corresponds to local market 
conditions. 
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2.10 Provisions 

2.10.1 Provisions 2023 
           

in EUR million  

 D
ef

er
re

d 
ta

x 
lia

bi
lit

ie
s 

Le
ga

l d
is

pu
te

s 
an

d 
co

nt
ra

ct
ua

l 
pe

na
lt

ie
s 

W
ar

ra
nt

ie
s 

R
et

ire
m

en
t 

an
d 

ot
he

r 
em

pl
oy

ee
 

be
ne

fi
t 

ob
lig

at
io

ns
 

R
es

tr
uc

tu
ri

ng
 

O
th

er
s 

P
ro

vi
si

on
s 

 

Opening balance 1 January   2.6 1.3 3.9 22.5 - 1.2 31.5  
Additions   2.7 0.8 4.8 4.3 - 1.1 13.7  
Utilization   - -0.5 -2.5 -1.0 - -0.6 -4.6  
Reversal   -0.6 - -0.1 - - -0.1 -0.8  
Exchange rate differences   - - -0.1 -0.1 - - -0.2  

Closing balance 31 December   4.7 1.6 6.0 25.7 - 1.6 39.6  
           
Non-current provisions   4.7 0.8 1.6 23.2 - 0.9 31.2  
Current provisions   - 0.8 4.4 2.5 - 0.7 8.4  
           

 

2.10.2 Provisions 2022 
           

in EUR million  
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Opening balance 1 January   0.9 1.2 4.4 21.6 0.4 1.6 30.1  
Additions   1.9 - 2.4 2.0 - 0.8 7.1  
Utilization   - - -1.9 -0.8 -0.4 -0.5 -3.6  
Reversal   -0.2 - -1.0 -0.3 - -0.6 -2.1  
Reclassifications   - 0.1 - - - -0.1 -  

Closing balance 31 December   2.6 1.3 3.9 22.5 - 1.2 31.5  
           
Non-current provisions   2.6 1.1 1.7 21.2 - 0.5 27.1  
Current provisions   - 0.2 2.2 1.3 - 0.7 4.4  
           

Deferred tax liabilities are shown net after offsetting them against deferred tax assets. Netting takes 
place at individual company level. 

The provisions for legal disputes and contractual penalties relate to ongoing proceedings and include 
provisions for contractual obligations. 

The provision for warranties covers the cost for warranty claims. The actual amount is based on cur-
rent revenues and available data. Experience shows that most of the provisions will be used in the fol-
lowing one to two years.  



Notes to the consolidated financial statements 

108 

Accounting principles 

Provisions 
Provisions are made insofar as 
 Kardex has, or may have, a legal or constructive obligation due to past events;
 it is probable that settlement of this obligation will lead to an outflow of resources;
 the extent of the obligation can be reliably estimated.

If the time effect is significant, long-term provisions at the present value of probable 
future cash outflows will be created. 

Warranties 
The provision for warranty risks from the sale of products and services is based on in-
formation about warranties from earlier periods and on punctual consideration of indi-
vidual cases. 

Restructuring 
Restructuring costs are provided for the period in which an official, detailed restructur-
ing plan is available to Kardex and the management must have raised a valid expecta-
tion that it will carry out the restructuring or the restructuring plan is announced. No 
provision is made for future operating losses. 

Use of accounting estimates 
In the course of their ordinary operating activities, Group companies can face claims 
from third parties. Provisions for pending claims are measured on the basis of the in-
formation available and a realistic estimate of the expected outflow of resources. The 
outcome of these proceedings may result in claims against the Group that cannot be 
met at all or in full through provisions or insurance cover.  

Significant judgment is required to determine the costs of restructuring plans. The ac-
tual cost might deviate from the original plan. 
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2.11 Accruals 
       

in EUR million   31.12.2023   31.12.2022 

Accrued expenses   14.3   11.6 
Accrued vacation and overtime pay   7.7   6.6 
Accruals for salaries, variable compensations etc.   16.7   9.1 
Accrual for income tax < 1 year   4.0   2.3 
Deferred income   29.9   24.8 

Total accruals   72.6   54.4 
       

   
The item ‘Accrued expenses’ contains expenses that have occurred in the period under review but the 
corresponding invoices have not been received yet. ‘Deferred income’ consists of recorded invoices to 
customers based on maintenance and service contracts where services have not yet been fully pro-
vided as per balance sheet date. 

3. Capital and financial risk management 

This section outlines the principles and procedures applied to manage the capital structure and the 
financial risks to which Kardex is exposed. Detailed information on Kardex’ sources of funding are pro-
vided here. In addition, the details of the share capital, treasury shares, earnings per share, and divi-
dends are disclosed in this section. The theoretical movement of goodwill provides information about 
the impact of Kardex’ accounting decision to offset goodwill against equity. 
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3.1 Share capital 

3.1.1 Share capital 2023 
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Opening balance 1 January 0.45 7'730'000 2.5 16'832 2.2 
Disposals - - - -2'622 -0.4 

Closing balance 31 December 0.45 7'730'000 2.5 14'210 1.8 

3.1.2 Share capital 2022 
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Opening balance 1 January 0.45 7'730'000 2.5 17'984 1.7 
Additions - - - 10'000 1.9 
Disposals - - - -11'152 -1.4 

Closing balance 31 December 0.45 7'730'000 2.5 16'832 2.2 

As of 31 December 2023 and 2022, all registered shares were fully paid up. 

The capital reserves comprise premiums as well as gains/losses from transactions with treasury 
shares. 

In the period under review, the Board of Directors and the former CEO, as part of their compensation, 
drew 2'622 (2'368) shares from the Kardex Holding AG’s treasury shares. As of 31 December 2023, 
Kardex Holding AG held 14'210 (16'832) treasury shares, which were purchased at an average share 
price of CHF 131.77 (CHF 131.77) each. 

Accounting principles 

Repurchase of treasury shares 
If Kardex repurchases its own shares, the payments, including directly related costs, 
are deducted from equity. Any gains or losses arising from transactions with treasury 
shares are recognized in equity (item ‘Capital reserves’). 

Dividends 
Dividends are recognized as a liability in the period in which they are approved. 



Notes to the consolidated financial statements 

111 

 

3.2 Earnings per share 
       

   2023   2022 

Number of outstanding shares, 1 January   7'713'168   7'712'016 
Acquisition of treasury shares   -   -10'000 
Disposal of treasury shares   2'622   11'152 

Number of outstanding shares, 31 December   7'715'790   7'713'168 
       
Weighted average number of outstanding shares   7'714'294   7'710'634 
       
Result for the period attributable to shareholders of Kardex Holding AG 
(EUR 1'000)   66'607   37'792 

       

Basic earnings per share (EUR)   8.63   4.90 

Diluted earnings per share (EUR)¹   8.63   4.90 
       

1  No dilutive effect occurred in 2023 and 2022, the diluted result per share is the same as the basic result per share (result for 
the period/average number of outstanding shares). 

 
 

 

Accounting principles 
Earnings per share are calculated by dividing the result for the period attributable to 
the shareholders of Kardex Holding AG by the weighted average number of shares out-
standing during the reporting period. The diluted earnings per share figure additionally 
includes the shares that might arise following the exercising of option rights. 
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3.3 Treatment of goodwill 

Theoretical movement schedule for goodwill: 

in EUR million 2023 2022 

Acquisition value of goodwill, 1 January 42.4 44.0 
Disposal of Robomotive B.V. - -1.6 
Additions from acquisitions of subsidiaries 2.2 - 
Exchange rate differences -0.2 - 

Acquisition value of goodwill, 31 December 44.4 42.4 

Accumulated amortization, 1 January -42.4 -43.6 
Amortization expense -0.5 -0.4 
Disposal of Robomotive B.V. - 1.6 
Exchange rate differences 0.3 - 

Accumulated amortization, 31 December -42.6 -42.4 

Net book value goodwill, 1 January - 0.4 
Net book value goodwill, 31 December 1.8 - 

Impact of theoretical capitalization on income statement: 

in EUR million 2023 2022 

Result for the period according to income statement 66.9 38.6 
Amortization of goodwill -0.5 -0.4 

Theoretical result for the period incl. amortization of goodwill 66.4 38.2 

Impact of theoretical capitalization on balance sheet: 

in EUR million 2023 2022 

Equity according to balance sheet, 31 December 240.1 204.6 
Capitalization of goodwill from prior periods - 0.4 
Change of goodwill in reporting period 1.8 -0.4 

Theoretical equity incl. net book value of goodwill, 31 December 241.9 204.6 
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Accounting principles 
Goodwill, the difference between the cost of acquisitions and the fair value of the net 
assets acquired, results from the purchase of subsidiaries and associates. Any goodwill 
that arises is offset against equity at the time of acquisition. In case of the disposal of 
a subsidiary or associate, acquired goodwill offset against equity at an earlier date is 
stated at original cost to determine the gain or loss recognized in the income state-
ment. 

The effects of a theoretical capitalization of goodwill with scheduled amortization (on a 
straight-line basis) and any value adjustment impacting the balance sheet and income 
statement over a useful life of five years are disclosed according to Swiss GAAP FER 
30.16. 

 

3.4 Risk management 

As part of its duty to supervise Kardex Holding AG, the Board of Directors performs a systematic risk 
assessment at least once a year. The risk assessment was based on a company-specific risk universe 
and on information obtained from interviews with Division and Group Management and the individual 
riskowner. Risks were assessed according to their likelihood, reputational risk and potential financial 
impact. This process is supported by a risk matrix that describes and values the substantial risks valid 
for Kardex according to the following categories: commercial risk, financial risk, governance risk, infor-
mation & security risk, innovation & technology risk, and strategy risk. Measures in order to cope with 
these risks are also contained in the risk matrix. The Board of Directors noted the report of the Group 
Management on group-wide risk management at the meeting on 01 November 2023 and approved 
the measures contained therein. 

 
3.5 Derivative financial instruments 
       

in EUR million   31.12.2023   31.12.2022 

Currency derivatives (hedging)       
Contract or nominal value   15.6   17.6 
Positive fair value1   0.2   0.4 
Negative fair value2   -   0.1 
       

1 EUR 0.1 million (EUR 0.3 million) from equity and EUR 0.1 million (EUR 0.1 million) from income statement. 
2 EUR 0.0 million (EUR 0.1 million) from equity and EUR 0.0 million (EUR 0.0 million) from income statement. 

 
Currency derivatives are mainly used to hedge the foreign currency risk on accounts receivable in US 
dollar, Swiss franc, British pound and Swedish krona.  
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Accounting principles 
Kardex uses derivative financial instruments mainly to hedge its exposure to foreign 
exchange and interest rate risks arising from operational, financing and investment ac-
tivities. When designated hedges that qualify for hedge accounting treatment are ini-
tially recognized, they are classified either as hedging of the fair value of a specific as-
set or liability (Fair Value Hedge) or as hedging of projected highly probable cash flows 
arising from an expected future transaction (Cash Flow Hedge). Fluctuations in the 
market values of reported financial instruments or firm commitments are recognized in 
the result for the period. Fluctuations in the value of cash flow hedge items are recog-
nized in accordance with the option in Swiss GAAP FER 27 in shareholders’ equity. 
Amounts recognized in equity are recycled in the profit and loss statement in the peri-
ods when the hedged item affects gain or loss. 

4. Other financial information

This section provides details of the various commitments and contingencies as well as information 
about associated companies, acquisitions and divestments, and legal subsidiaries including Group 
companies’ shareholdings. 

4.1 Contingent liabilities 

Kardex is currently involved in various litigations arising in the course of business. Kardex does not an-
ticipate that the outcome of these proceedings, either individually or in total, will have a material ef-
fect on its financial or income situation. 

For guarantees in favor of third parties, Kardex has entered into bilateral guarantee lines (committed 
and uncommitted) in the total amount of EUR 116.7 million (EUR 111.5 million). The total amount of 
guarantees in favor of third parties utilized as of 31 December 2023 was composed as follow: 

in EUR million 31.12.2023 31.12.2022 

Committed guarantee lines (committed and uncommitted) 50.8 57.8 
Credit lines (convertible into guarantee lines)1 6.2 4.5 

Total (convertible) guarantee lines 57.0 62.3 

1 Refer to note 2.8. 
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4.2 Related parties 

Related parties (natural persons or legal entities) are defined as any party directly or indirectly able to 
exercise significant influence over the organization as it makes financial or operational decisions. Or-
ganizations that are in turn directly or indirectly controlled by the same related parties are also 
deemed to be related parties. With the exception of the pension plans (see note 2.9), there were no 
outstanding receivables from or liabilities towards these parties. No material transactions were carried 
out with related parties during the year under review or the previous year. All transactions carried out 
with related parties fulfilled the arm’s length principle. 

Information on compensation and shareholdings in accordance with the Swiss Code of Obligations can 
be found in the Remuneration Report on page 46 to 51 and in the notes to the financial statements of 
Kardex Holding AG.  

 

4.3 Operating leases 
       

in EUR million   31.12.2023   31.12.2022 

Expense for operating leases for the year   13.2   12.3 
       

Future minimum payments for non-cancellable lease agreements       
Up to 1 year   8.3   7.5 
1 to 5 years   17.4   13.9 
Over 5 years   3.0   8.9 

Total future minimum payments for operating leases   28.7   30.3 
       

Operating leases mainly relate to vehicles and rents on buildings. Leasing contracts are agreed at cur-
rent market conditions. 

 

4.4 Change in consolidation scope 

4.4.1 Change in consolidation scope 2023 

In January 2023, Kardex Holding AG, Zurich, took over the full control of SumoBox AB, Västerås, 
Sweden, and now fully owns this company. The remaining shares (67.0%) were acquired for an 
amount of EUR 3.2 million. SumoBox AB is specialized in the production of boxes, bins and other 
kinds of containers. The purchase price is composed of the elements below and goodwill has been al-
located to equity. 
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in EUR million Fair value 

Fixed assets 0.5 
Goodwill 3.0 
Current assets and liabilities 0.1 
Cash 1.1 

Fair value of net assets acquired 4.7 

thereof 67% 3.2 

As SumoBox AB sells exclusively to Kardex, there is no impact on the consolidated net revenues. 

Furthermore, in the second half-year, Kardex Korea Co., Ltd., Seoul, Korea, a subsidiary owned at 
60%, as well as Kardex South Africa (Pty) Ltd, Johannesburg, South Africa, a fully owned subsidiary, 
were founded.  

4.4.2 Change in consolidation scope 2022 

In November 2022, Kardex Holding AG, Zurich, Switzerland, disposed all shares (50% + 1 share) of 
Robomotive B.V., Heerlen, the Netherlands. This resulted in a low single-digit million euros write-off 
which mainly arose from the recycling of the goodwill (see notes 1.3 and 3.3). No significant cash flow 
resulted from this transaction. 
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4.5 Subsidiaries and associates 
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AT *  Kardex Austria GmbH, Vienna 45 EUR 300'000 100 1 

AU *  Kardex VCA Pty Ltd, Wodonga 20 AUD 700'000 100 1 

BE *  Kardex N.V., Dilbeek 20 EUR 507'895 100 1 

CH *  Kardex Systems AG, Schwerzenbach 48 CHF 1'000'000 100 1 

*  KRM Service AG, Zurich 16 CHF 500'000 100 1 

* *  Kardex AS Solutions AG, Zurich 12 EUR 464'000 100 1 

CN * 
Kardex Logistic System (Beijing) Co. Ltd., 
Beijing 

53 CNY 1'675'040 100 1 

CO *  Kardex South-America S.A.S., Bogotá 2 COP 72'000'000 100 1 

CY *  Kardex Systems Ltd., Limassol 14 EUR 418'950 100 1 

CZ *  Kardex s.r.o., Prague 56 CZK 500'000 100 1 

DE * * *
Kardex Produktion Deutschland GmbH, 
Neuburg/Kammel 

642 EUR 8'567'760 87.47 
12.53 

4 
3 

* *  Kardex Software GmbH, Rülzheim 49 EUR 26'000 100 4 

* 
Kardex Germany GmbH, 
Bellheim/Pfalz 

72 EUR 511'292 100 1 

* 
Kardex Deutschland GmbH, 
Neuburg/Kammel 

207 EUR 1'386'310 26.2 
73.8 

2 
4 

* 
Kardex Business Partner GmbH, 
Neuburg/Kammel 

6 EUR 25'000 100 4 

* 
Kardex Remstar Properties GmbH & Co. KG, 
Neuburg/Kammel 

- EUR 10'000 100 
0 

2 
4 

* *  MLOG Logistics GmbH, Neuenstadt am Kocher 339 EUR 50'000 100 4 

* *  Rocket Solution GmbH, Unterhaching 40 EUR 9'000 26.47 1 
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DK *  Kardex Danmark A/S, Odense 13 DKK 500'000 100 1 

ES * 
Kardex Sistemas S.A., San Fernando de 
Henares, Madrid 

52 EUR 142'900 100 1 

FI *  Kardex Finland OY, Jyväskylä 13 EUR 134'550 100 1 

FR *  Kardex France SASU, Fontenay-sous-Bois 71 EUR 1'835'000 100 1 

HU *  Kardex Hungaria Kft., Budaörs 14 HUF 3'000'000 100 1 

IE *  Kardex Systems Ireland Ltd., Dublin - EUR 300'000 100 1 

IN *  Kardex India Private Limited, Bengaluru 27 INR 26'143'500 99.0 
1.0 

1 
5 

IT *  Kardex Italia S.p.A., Milano 36 EUR 310'000 100 1 

KR *  Kardex Korea Co., Ltd., Seoul 3 KRW  420'000'000 60 1 

MY *  Kardex Malaysia Sdn. Bhd., Kuala Lumpur 28 MYR 1'000'000 100 1 

NL *  Kardex Systemen bv, Woerden 58 EUR 90'756 100 1 

NO *  Kardex Norge AS, Kjeller 23 NOK 2'550'000 100 1 

PL *  Kardex Polska Sp.z.o.o., Warsaw 37 PLN 1'250'000 100 1 

PT * 
KARDEX PORTUGAL, UNIPESSOAL LDA, Lis-
boa 

5 EUR 18'000 100 1 

RO *  Kardex Systems Romania SRL, Timisoara 19 RON 1'200'000 100 1 

SE *  Kardex Sverige AB, Bromma 38 SEK 100'000 100 1 

* *  SumoBox AB, Västerås 2 EUR 4'493 100 1 

SG *  Kardex Far East Private Ltd., Singapore 9 SGD 850'000 100 1 
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SI *  Kardex Remstar SI d.o.o., Ljubljana 4 EUR 200'000 100 1 

TR *  Kardex Turkey Depolama Sistemleri Ltd. Sti., 
Istanbul 

18 TRY 1'350'000 99.5 
0.5 

1 
6 

UK *  Kardex Systems (UK) Ltd., Hertford 71 GBP 828'000 100 1 

US *  Kardex Remstar, LLC, Westbrook (Maine) 107 USD 100 100 7 

*  Kardex Production USA Inc., Westbrook (Maine) - USD 1'000 100 1 

*  Kardex Handling Solutions, LLC, Kokomo 
(Indiana) 

14 USD 100'000 100 7 

* 
Kardex Storage Systems, LLC, Jacksonville 
(Florida) 

10 USD 67'000 67 7 

*  Kardex US Manufacturing, LLC, Dover 
(Delaware) 

74 USD 48'850'000 100 7 

*  Kardex Solutions, LLC, Cincinatti (Ohio) 25 USD 1'000 100 7 

ZA *  Kardex South Africa (Pty) Ltd., Johannesburg 0 ZAR 0 100 1 

1  Kardex Holding AG, Zurich, Switzerland. 
2  Kardex Produktion Deutschland GmbH, Neuburg/Kammel, Germany. 
3  Kardex Deutschland GmbH, Neuburg/Kammel, Germany. 
4  Kardex Germany GmbH, Bellheim, Germany. 
5  Kardex Systems Ltd., Limassol, Cyprus. 
6  KRM Service AG, Zurich, Switzerland. 
7  Kardex Production USA Inc., Westbrook, USA. 
** Robomotive B.V. was disposed in November 2022 (see note 4.4). 
*** Rocket Solution GmbH: Percentage of voting rights 32.44% due to canceled shares. 
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5. Other disclosure

This section provides a general understanding of the preparation and consolidation principles as well 
as an overview of the use of accounting estimates. In addition, it details any event occurring between 
the balance sheet date and the date at which the financial statements are approved by the Board of 
Directors. 

5.1 About this report  

5.1.1 General information 

The accompanying consolidated financial statements of Kardex include Kardex Holding AG and its 
subsidiaries (referred to collectively as ‘Kardex’ and individually as the ‘Group companies’). Kardex 
Holding AG is Kardex’ parent company, a limited company under Swiss law, which is registered and 
domiciled in Zurich, Switzerland. Kardex Holding AG is listed on SIX Swiss Exchange. 

5.1.2 Basis of preparation 

Kardex’ consolidated financial statements were prepared in compliance with the provisions of the 
Swiss Code of Obligations and are in accordance with Swiss GAAP FER in their entirety.  

5.1.3 Principles of consolidation 

Consolidation is based on the individual Group companies’ financial statements, as prepared on a con-
sistent basis. The balance sheet date for all Group companies is 31 December. The consolidated finan-
cial statements are prepared on a historical cost basis with the exception of derivative financial instru-
ments, which may be stated at fair value.  

The consolidated financial statements include Kardex Holding AG as well as all domestic and foreign 
subsidiaries in which Kardex Holding AG holds a direct or indirect ownership. Acquisitions are ac-
counted for using the purchase method. All relevant companies in which Kardex holds more than 50% 
of the voting rights or for which it is able to exercise a controlling influence on the company’s operat-
ing or financial policies are accounted for using the full consolidation method, which incorporates as-
sets and liabilities as well as revenues and expenses in their entirety. Intra-Group balances, transac-
tions and profits not realized through third parties are eliminated in the consolidation process. Invest-
ments in associates, in which Kardex holds voting rights of 20% - 50%, are accounted for at 
equity. Kardex Holding AG currently has no investments with voting rights of less than 20%, and it is 
currently not engaged in any joint ventures. 
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5.1.4 Foreign currency translation 

The main exchange rates for currency translation are: 
             

   Average rate   Year-end rates 
             

in EUR   2023   2022   31.12.2023   31.12.2022 

1 CHF   1.029   0.995   1.060   1.012 
1 CNY   0.131   0.141   0.126   0.135 
1 GBP   1.150   1.173   1.152   1.132 
1 USD   0.925   0.950   0.904   0.941 
             

   

Accounting principles 

Functional and presentation currency 
The consolidated financial statements are presented in millions of euros. The euro is 
Kardex Holding AG’s functional currency and the presentation currency of Kardex 
because Kardex’ cash flows and transactions are denominated mainly in euros. 

Foreign currency transactions 
Foreign currency transactions are translated using the exchange rates prevailing at 
the dates of the transactions. Gains and losses resulting from transactions in foreign 
currencies and adjustments of foreign currency items as at the balance sheet date 
are recognized in the income statement. 

Financial statements of subsidiaries in foreign currencies 
The assets and liabilities of subsidiaries whose financial statements are prepared in 
currencies other than the euro are converted for consolidation purposes as follows: 
 assets and liabilities are translated on the balance sheet date at the exchange rate 

prevailing on that date; 
 revenues and expenses as well as cash flows are translated at the average ex-

change rate; 
 equity is translated at historical rates. 

All resulting translation differences are shown separately under equity (translation 
differences). If a subsidiary is sold, its cumulative translation differences are in-
cluded in the income statement as part of the gain or loss arising from the sale. 

Foreign currency impacts on long-term intra-Group loans with equity characteristics 
are recognized in equity. 
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5.1.5 Changes in accounting policy and disclosure, and errors in prior year financial statements 

There were no changes related to accounting policy in 2023 and 2022. 

5.1.6 Use of judgments and estimates 

Use of judgments and estimates in preparing these consolidated financial statements, management 
has made judgments, estimates and assumptions that affect the application of Kardex’ accounting 
policies and the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses. Actual results may dif-
fer from these estimates. Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. 
Revisions to estimates are recognized prospectively. 

Information about judgments made in applying accounting policies, that have the most significant ef-
fects on the consolidated financial statements and information about uncertainties related to assump-
tions and estimates, that have the potential risk of resulting in a significant adjustment, are included 
in the following notes: 

Notes Page 

Percentage of completion 1.1 88 

Testing for impairment of property, plant, equipment and intangible assets 2.5 97 

Testing for impairment of financial assets 2.6 103 

Pension plans 2.9 104 
Provisions 2.10 107 

Testing goodwill for impairment 3.3 112 

5.2  Events after the balance sheet date 

No events took place between 31 December 2023 and 6 March 2024 that would require an adjust-
ment to the book value of Kardex Holding AG’s assets, liabilities or equity or need to be disclosed 
here. 

5.3 Release for publication and approval of the financial statements 

The Board of Directors approved these financial statements on 6 March 2024 and released them for 
publication. They must also be approved by the General Meeting. 
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Report of the statutory auditor 
to the General Meeting of Kardex Holding AG, Zurich 

Report on the audit of the consolidated financial statements 

Opinion 
We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Kardex Holding AG and its subsidiaries (the Group), which comprise 
the consolidated income statement for the period from 1 January to 31 December 2023, the consolidated    balance sheet as at 
31 December 2023, the consolidated cash flow statement and the consolidated statement of changes in equity for the year then 
ended as well as the notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a  summary of significant accounting principles. 

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements (pages 82 to 122) give a true and fair view of the   consolidated financial 
position of the Group as at 31 December 2023 and its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the 
year then ended in accordance with Swiss GAAP FER and comply with Swiss law. 

Basis for opinion 
We conducted our audit in accordance with Swiss law and Swiss Standards on Auditing (SA-CH). Our responsibilities under 
those provisions and standards are further described in the 'Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial 
statements' section of our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the provisions of Swiss law and the re-
quirements of the Swiss audit profession, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these re-
quirements. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 

Our audit approach 

Overview Overall Group materiality: EUR 4 million 

We concluded full scope audit work at ten reporting units in eight countries. 

Our audit scope addressed 62% of the Group's total net revenues. 

In addition, specific scope audit procedures were performed on three further re-
porting units in three countries representing a further 3% of the Group's total net 
revenues. 

Moreover, early statutory audits/examinations were performed on a further six 
reporting units in five countries representing a further 13% of the Group’s total 
net revenues, which enables the Group audit team to take indirect comfort from 
this work. 

As key audit matter the following area of focus has been identified: 

Revenue recognition on long-term construction contracts (percentage of comple-
tion accounting) 

Report of the statutory auditor on the 
consolidated financial statements 
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Materiality 
The scope of our audit was influenced by our application of materiality. Our audit opinion aims to provide reasonable assurance 
that the consolidated financial statements are free from material misstatement. Misstatements may arise due to fraud or error. 
They are considered material if, individually or in aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic deci-
sions of users taken on the basis of the consolidated financial statements. 

Based on our professional judgement, we determined certain quantitative thresholds for materiality, including the overall Group 
materiality for the consolidated financial statements as a whole as set out in the table below. These, together with qualitative 
considerations, helped us to determine the scope of our audit and the nature, timing and extent of our audit procedures and to 
evaluate the effect of misstatements, both individually and in aggregate, on the consolidated financial statements as a whole. 

Overall Group materiality EUR 4.0 million 

Benchmark applied Profit before tax 

Rationale for the materiality bench-
mark applied 

We chose profit before tax as the benchmark because, in our view, it is the 
benchmark against which the performance of the Group is most commonly 
measured, and it is a generally accepted benchmark. 

We agreed with the Audit Committee that we would report to them misstatements above EUR 0.3 million identified during our 
audit as well as any misstatements below that amount which, in our view, warranted reporting for qualitative reasons. 

Audit scope 
We tailored the scope of our audit in order to perform sufficient work to enable us to provide an opinion on the consolidated fi-
nancial statements as a whole, taking into account the structure of the Group, the accounting processes and controls, and the 
industry in which the Group operates. 

Following our assessment of the risk of material misstatement to the Group financial statements, we selected thirteen reporting 
units which represent the principal business units within the Group’s two reportable segments. Ten of these reporting units were 
subject to a full scope audit, and three were subject to specific scope audit procedures. The reporting units subject to full scope 
audit and specific scope audit procedures accounted for 65% of the Group’s total net revenues. 

In addition to this work, five component teams were instructed to complete their statutory audits/examinations of six components 
on a timely basis and to report any significant findings to the Group team in due time. This enables the Group team to take indi-
rect comfort from this work, especially where the reporting frameworks align. For the remaining reporting units, we performed 
other procedures to test or assess that there were no significant risks of material misstatement in these reporting units in relation 
to the Group financial statements. 

To ensure sufficient and appropriate involvement of the Group team, we held conference calls with the component teams that 
performed full scope audits and specific scope audit procedures during the different phases of the audit. In addition, we held 
conference calls with selected component teams that were subject to early statutory audit/examination. We discussed the risks 
identified and challenged the audit approach on significant risk areas relevant to each reporting unit. Furthermore, we obtained 
an audit memorandum from all full scope component teams and discussed the results and impact on the consolidated financial 
statements and challenged their conclusions. Moreover, throughout the year, we had regular calls with the German and US 
component teams, which are responsible for the most important reporting units of the Group. 
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Key audit matters 
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the consoli-
dated financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated 
financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. 

Revenue recognition on long-term construction contracts (percentage of completion accounting) 

Key audit matter   How our audit addressed the key audit matter 

A significant portion of Kardex Group revenues are gener-
ated from long-term contracts. This includes the construc-
tion of complex integrated materials handling systems and 
automated high-bay warehouses. 

Revenues and related costs from such contracts are recog-
nized by applying the percentage of completion (PoC) 
method. The PoC method allows the recognition of reve-
nues by reference to the stage of completion of the con-
tract. As set out in footnote 1 to the consolidated income 
statement on page 83 of the annual report, revenues from 
long-term construction contracts subject to PoC accounting 
amount to EUR 139.9m in the year 2023. This represents 
19.9% of the Group’s total net revenues. 

We focused on this area mainly due to the size of revenues 
generated from long-term construction contracts. Further-
more, the application of the PoC method is complex and in-
volves both judgement by management, in assessing 
whether the criteria set out in the accounting standards 
have been met, and estimates, related to the stage of com-
pletion, total project costs and the costs to complete the 
contract. 

The principal risks include: 

• the potential manipulation risk of results to achieve 
predefined performance targets through manage-
ment’s use of estimates and judgments in relation 
to such long-term projects; 

• incorrect or inappropriate accounting for the per-
centage of completion, change orders, expected 
costs to complete, estimated project margin and 
risk contingencies;  

Please refer to note 1.1.2 ‘Accounting principles’ on page 
91 of the annual report 2023 for the description of the ac-
counting policy for construction contracts. 

  
As part of our work, we obtained an understanding of the 
methodology applied, the internal processes and the con-
trols used to determine the percentage of completion. We 
evaluated the processes and technical systems used to 
record actual costs incurred and tested the manual controls 
and automated controls implemented in the systems.  

As part of our audit, we focused on management’s judge-
ment in applying the methodology and the estimates made 
to determine the amount of revenue to be recorded in their 
project calculations. 

• We obtained and reviewed project source docu-
ments such as contracts, budgets and project cal-
culations. 

• We tested the calculation of stage of completion in-
cluding testing the costs incurred and recorded 
against the contract for occurrence and accuracy, 
assessing the basis for determining the costs to 
complete and total contract cost and then reper-
forming the percentage of completion calculation. 

• We challenged management in respect of the rea-
sonableness of judgements made regarding the 
cost to complete estimate and the timing of recog-
nition of change orders as well as the assessments 
around projects behind schedule and the adequacy 
of contingency provisions to mitigate contract spe-
cific risks. 

• We also assessed whether management’s policies 
and processes for making these estimates con-
tinue to be appropriate and are applied consistently 
over time and to contracts of a similar nature. 

On the basis of the audit procedures above, we have 
gained sufficient evidence to address the risk of material 
misstatements in revenue recognition on long-term con-
struction contracts (PoC). 

Other information 
The Board of Directors is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information included in the 
annual report, but does not include the financial statements, the consolidated financial statements, the remuneration report and 
our auditor’s reports thereon. 
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Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express any form of 
assurance conclusion thereon. 

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in 
doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our 
knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. 

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are 
required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.  

Board of Directors' responsibilities for the consolidated financial statements 
The Board of Directors is responsible for the preparation of consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in 
accordance with Swiss GAAP FER and the provisions of Swiss law, and for such internal control as the Board of Directors de-
termines is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, 
whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the Board of Directors is responsible for assessing the Group's ability to con-
tinue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of ac-
counting unless the Board of Directors either intends to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative 
but to do so. 

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable as-
surance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with Swiss law and SA-CH 
will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered mate-
rial if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on 
the basis of these consolidated financial statements. 

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements is located on EXPERTsuisse's 
website: http://www.expertsuisse.ch/en/audit-report. This description forms an integral part of our report. 

Report on other legal and regulatory requirements 
In accordance with article 728a para. 1 item 3 CO and PS-CH 890, we confirm the existence of an internal control system that 
has been designed, pursuant to the instructions of the Board of Directors, for the preparation of the consolidated financial state-
ments. 

We recommend that the consolidated financial statements submitted to you be approved. 

PricewaterhouseCoopers AG 

Norbert Kühnis Claudia Lussu 

Licensed audit expert 
Auditor in charge 

Licensed audit expert 

Zürich, 6 March 2024 

http://www.expertsuisse.ch/en/audit-report
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in CHF million Notes 2023 2022 

Income from investments 4 35.6 11.0 
Licensing income 12.1 10.0 
Other operating income 5.3 4.3 

Total operating income 53.0 25.3 

Licensing expenses - -0.1 
Personnel expenses -7.3 -5.2 
Other operating expenses -3.6 -2.4 
Depreciation and amortization -0.1 -0.1 
Impairment on loans to Group companies 3 1.5 -0.4 
Impairment on investments 4 -1.4 1.8 

Total operating expenses -10.9 -6.4 

Operating result (EBIT) 42.1 18.9 

Financial income 6.1 1.8 
Financial expenses -4.0 -2.6 
Foreign exchange losses/gains (net) 6 -10.7 -11.4 

Result for the period before tax 33.5 6.7 

Tax expense -0.9 -1.3 

Result for the period 32.6 5.4 

Income statement of 
Kardex Holding AG 
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in CHF million Notes 31.12.2023 31.12.2022 

Cash and cash equivalents 30.5 19.8 
Other current receivables from Group companies 12.3 44.6 
Other current receivables third 12.9 31.6 
Prepaid expenses 0.7 0.8 

Current assets 56.4 96.8 

Property, plant and equipment 0.1 0.1 
Intangible assets - 0.2 
Loans to Group companies 95.9 68.2 
Loans to associated companies 23.4 11.6 
Investments 4 134.7 139.5 
Other financial assets 5 15.1 13.9 

Non-current assets 269.2 233.5 

Assets 325.6 330.3 

Other current payables to Group companies 43.0 105.0 
Other current payables third 0.9 1.0 
Accruals 3.6 3.0 

Current liabilities 47.5 109.0 

Loans from Group companies 50.0 - 
Non-current provisions 1.0 0.6 

Non-current liabilities 51.0 0.6 

Liabilities 98.5 109.6 

Share capital 3.5 3.5 
Treasury shares 7 -1.9 -2.2 
Statutory retained earnings 17.0 17.0 
Unrestricted reserve 20.2 20.2 
Retained earnings 155.7 176.8 
Result for the period 32.6 5.4 

Equity 227.1 220.7 

Equity and liabilities 325.6 330.3 

Balance sheet of  
Kardex Holding AG 
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1. Significant accounting
policies

Basis of preparation 
The financial statements of Kardex Holding AG 
comply with the requirements of the Swiss Code 
of Obligations and follow the recognized account-
ing principles. 

Foreign currencies 
The euro is Kardex Holding AG’s functional cur-
rency because Kardex’ cash flows and transac-
tions are denominated mainly in euros. The ac-
counts of Kardex Holding AG are presented in 
millions of Swiss francs. 

Foreign currency translation 
As of 31 December, the annual financial state-
ments presented in Swiss francs are translated 
by applying the following principles, whereas 
translation differences are recognized in accord-
ance with the imparity principle (provisioning of 
unrealized gains): 
 assets and liabilities (including shareholdings

and loans to Group companies) are translated
at closing rates;
 the income statement and movements in

equity capital are translated at average rates;
 equity capital is translated at historical rates.

Cash and cash equivalents 
Cash and cash equivalents comprise bank ac-
count balances and other liquid investments with 
a maximum total maturity of three months from 
the balance sheet date. 

Other current receivables third 
Other current receivables comprise mainly cur-
rent fixed term deposits which are carried at cost 
less any impairment. 

Investments 
Investments comprise shareholdings in subsidiar-
ies and in associates which are carried at cost. 
The purchase price includes the acquisition price 
of the shares but also additional cost of acquisi-
tion. An impairment is recognized for each indi-
vidual investment whenever the fair value of a 
shareholding, based on the earnings value 
(weighted two times) and the net asset value 
(weighted one time), falls below the investment 
value. In certain cases, the fair value is assessed 
by applying the discounted cash flow method (us-
ing a projection of three years and a terminal 
value). 

Other financial assets 
Other financial assets comprise: 
 non-current fixed term deposits which are car-

ried at cost less any impairment;
 a portfolio of assets and securities which is

measured at actual values.

Other current payables to Group companies 
and Loans from Group companies 
This position contains euro cash-pool balances in 
favor of the counterparty of Kardex Holding AG. 
Participants of the euro cash-pool are all Group 
companies with a transaction volume in euro. In-
terest rates applied are at market level. 

2. Employees

The average number of full-time equivalents at 
Kardex Holding AG amounted to 22.0 in 2023 
(18.2). 

3. Loans to Group companies

Provision for impairment of loans to subsidiaries 
were released in the amount of CHF 1.5 million 
(additional provisions of CHF -0.4 million). 

Notes to the financial statements 
of Kardex Holding AG 
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4. Investments 

Investments are made up entirely of sharehold-
ings of Kardex Holding AG in subsidiaries and as-
sociates which are listed on pages 117 to 119 of 
this report.  

In January 2023, Kardex Holding AG, Zurich, 
took over the full control of SumoBox AB, Väs-
terås, Sweden, and now fully owns this company. 
The remaining shares (67.0%) were acquired for 
an amount of EUR 3.2 million. SumoBox AB is 
specialized in the production of boxes, bins and 
other kinds of containers.  

Furthermore, in the second half-year, Kardex Ko-
rea Co., Ltd., Seoul, Korea, a subsidiary owned at 
60%, as well as Kardex South Africa (Pty) Ltd, 
Johannesburg, South Africa, a fully owned sub-
sidiary, were founded.  

In the prior period, Kardex Holding AG disposed 
of all shares (50% +1) of Robomotive B.V., Heer-
len, the Netherlands. 

The increase in income from investments is due 
to higher payment of dividends from subsidiaries. 
In 2023, provisions for impairment of invest-
ments in subsidiaries were recognized in the 
amount of CHF -1.4 million (release in the 
amount of CHF 1.8 million), while CHF 2.8 mil-
lion impairment provision was built up and 
CHF 1.4 million existing impairment was re-
leased. 

5. Other financial assets 

Kardex Holding AG holds investments in a port-
folio of pension-related assets amounting to CHF 
15.1 million (CHF 13.9 million). 

6. Foreign exchange gains/losses 
(net) 

Foreign exchange losses (net) of CHF 10.7 million 
were recognized (loss of CHF 11.4 million) as a 
result of the appreciation of the Swiss franc 
against Kardex Holding AG’s functional currency 
(as explained in note 1 – Foreign currency transla-
tion).  

7. Treasury shares 

Kardex Holding AG held 14'210 (16'832) treasury 
shares with a value of CHF 1.9 million 
(CHF 2.2 million) as of 31 December 2023. 

Treasury shares underwent the following move-
ments for 2023: 

       

   Number 

Price per 
share in 

CHF 
Total 

CHF 1'000 
 

Opening balance 
1 January 

  16'832 131.77 2'218.0  

Disposals   -2'622 131.77 -345.5  
Closing balance 
31 December   14'210 131.77 1'872.5  

       

 

Treasury shares underwent the following move-
ments for 2022: 

       

   Number 

Price per 
share in 

CHF 
Total 

CHF 1'000 
 

Opening balance 
1 January   17'984 96.41 1'733.8  

Purchases   10'000 195.35 1'953.5  
Disposals   -11'152 131.77 -1'469.5  
Valuation adjustments     -0.1  
Closing balance 
31 December   16'832 131.77 2'218.0  
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8. Liabilities towards pension funds

Kardex Holding AG had no liabilities towards 
pension funds as of 31 December 2023 (CHF 0.2 
million). 

9. Release of hidden reserves

In the period under review, no hidden reserves re-
lated to provisions for impairment of loans were 
released (CHF 1.4 million).  

10. Significant shareholders

As defined by Art. 663c of the Swiss Code of Ob-
ligations and according to the requirements of 
SIX Swiss Exchange, the following shareholders 
owned more than 3% of the share capital of 
CHF 3'478'500 as of 31 December 2023 re-
spectively as of 31 December 2022. 

31.12.2023 31.12.2022 

BURU Holding AG 
and Philipp Buhofer 22.1% 22.1% 

Kempen Capital 
Management N.V. 5.7% 6.4% 

Alantra Partners 
S.A. 4.2% 5.4% 

Credit Suisse Funds 
AG 3.1% 

Invesco Ltd. 3.1% 

11. Operating leases

Operating leases apply mainly to vehicles and 
rents on buildings. Leasing contracts are agreed 
at current market conditions. 

in CHF million 31.12.2023 31.12.2022 

Expense for operat-
ing leases for the 
year 

0.1 0.1 

Future minimum 
payments for non-
cancellable lease 
agreements 
Up to 1 year 0.4 0.4 
1 to 5 years 0.4 0.8 

Total future mini-
mum payments for 
operating leases 

0.8 1.2 

12. Securing of liabilities

In view of the group taxation principle, all Swiss 
companies bear unlimited joint and several liabil-
ity for value-added tax (in accordance with Art. 
15, § 1c of Swiss VAT legislation). 

Kardex Holding AG has joint responsibility for all 
liabilities arising from the cash-pooling agree-
ment. 

13. Contingent liabilities

in CHF million 31.12.2023 31.12.2022 

Contingent liabilities 
in favor of subsidiar-
ies and third parties 

1.8 2.6 
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14. Events after the balance sheet 
date 

No events took place between 31 December 
2023 and 6 March 2024 that would require an 
adjustment to the book value of Kardex Holding 
AG’s assets, liabilities or equity or are subject to 
disclosure here. 

15. Shareholdings and grants 

Shareholdings of members of the Board of Direc-
tors, Group Management and related parties are 
disclosed under this note. 

Related parties and companies comprise family 
members and individuals or companies that can 
exert a significant influence. 

Other than compensation payments and ordinary 
contributions to the various pension plans for 
members of the Board of Directors and Group 
Management, no significant transactions with re-
lated parties and companies took place. 
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Board of Directors and Group Management 2023 

Board of Directors (BoD) 
       

Thereof with retention period of 3 years until 

Name Function 
Number of 

shares2 
Voting 

interest in % 2024 2025 2026 Total 

Felix Thöni Chairman 34'733 0.45% 249 387 349 985 

Ulrich Jakob Looser Vice 
Chairman 

4'376 0.06% 245 497 437 1'179 

Philipp Buhofer1 Member 1'709'722 22.12% 111 116 104 331 
Eugen Elmiger Member 2'906 0.04% 437 581 524 1'542 
Andreas Häberli Member 1'213 0.02% 437 581 104 1'122 
Jennifer Maag Member 456 0.01% - 77 169 246 
Maria Teresa Vacalli Member 69 0.00% - - 69 69 

Total BoD 1'753'475 22.68% 1'479 2'239 1'756 5'474 

Group Management (GM) 
    

Name Function 
Number of 

shares2 
Voting 

interest in % 

Jens Hardenacke CEO - - 
Thomas Reist CFO 558 0.01% 
Urs Siegenthaler HoD - - 
Hans-Jürgen Heitzer HoD - - 

Total GM 558 0.01% 

1 Including shares held by BURU Holding AG. 
2 Share price (closing rate): CHF 218.0. 

Long-Term Incentive program 
    

Name Function 
Expected 

number 
Effective 

number 

Jens Fankhänel CEO until 
February 2023 

2'070 731 

Thomas Reist CFO 640 1'258 
Urs Siegenthaler HoD 735 1'390 
Hans-Jürgen Heitzer HoD 614 1'110 

Total GM 4'059 4'489 

The expected number of LTI shares, also known as performance shares, as indicated above, was 
determined on the grant date, 01 January 2021. This figure represents the anticipated quantity of LTI 
shares for the full three-year LTI period, as established on the grant date. The effective number of LTI 
shares was accurately calculated at the conclusion of the LTI period. The LTI shares of Jens Fankhänel 
were assigned in 2023 as he departed already and the LTI shares of the other participants will be 
assigned in 2024. 
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Board of Directors and Group Management 2022 

Board of Directors 
           

       Thereof with retention period of 3 years until 

Name  Function   
Number of 

shares2 
Voting 

interest in % 2022 2024 2025 Total 

Felix Thöni  Chairman   34'384 0.44% 166 249 387 802 

Ulrich Jakob Looser  
Vice 

Chairman 
  3'939 0.05% 136 245 497 878 

Jakob Bleiker  Member   5'469 0.07% 132 97 129 358 
Philipp Buhofer1  Member   1'709'618 22.12% 253 111 116 480 
Eugen Elmiger  Member   2'382 0.03% 364 437 581 1'382 
Andreas Häberli  Member   1'109 0.01% 91 437 581 1'109 
Jennifer Maag  Member   287 0.00% - - 77 77 

Total BoD     1'757'188 22.73% 1'142 1'576 2'368 5'086 
           

    

Group Management 
       

       

Name  Function   
Number of 

shares2 
Voting 

interest in % 

Jens Fankhänel  CEO   933 0.01% 
Thomas Reist  CFO   558 0.01% 
Urs Siegenthaler  HoD   - - 
Hans-Jürgen Heitzer  HoD   - - 

Total GM     1'491 0.02% 
       

1 Including shares held by BURU Holding AG. 
2 Share price (closing rate): CHF 152.0. 
 

In the period under review, the Board of Directors, as part of their compensation for the 2023/2024 
term, were granted 1'756 (2'368) shares equivalent to the value of CHF 386.5 thousand (CHF 436.4 
thousand) instead of remuneration in cash.  
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1. Appropriation of retained earnings

The Board of Directors will propose to the General Meeting a dividend of CHF 5.00 per share totaling 
to CHF 38.7 million be paid out and CHF 149.6 million be carried forward. 

in CHF million 31.12.2023 

Retained earnings brought forward 155.7 

Result for the period 32.6 

Available earnings 188.3 

Proposed dividend 38.7 

Retained earnings to be carried forward 149.6 

Proposal of the Board of Directors 
to the Annual General Meeting 
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Report of the statutory auditor 
to the General Meeting of Kardex Holding AG, Zurich 

Report on the audit of the financial statements 

Opinion 
We have audited the financial statements of Kardex Holding AG (the Company), which comprise the income statement for the 
period from 1 January to 31 December 2923, the balance sheet as at 31 December 2023, and notes to the financial statements, 
including a summary of significant accounting policies. 

In our opinion, the financial statements (pages 128 to 135) comply with Swiss law and the Company’s articles of incorporation. 

Basis for opinion 
We conducted our audit in accordance with Swiss law and Swiss Standards on Auditing (SA-CH). Our responsibilities under 
those provisions and standards are further described in the 'Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements' 
section of our report. We are independent of the Company in accordance with the provisions of Swiss law and the requirements 
of the Swiss audit profession, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 

Our audit approach 

Overview Overall materiality: CHF 3.2 million 

We tailored the scope of our audit in order to perform sufficient work to enable 
us to provide an opinion on the financial statements as a whole, taking into ac-
count the structure of the Company, the accounting processes and controls, 
and the industry in which the Company operates. 

As key audit matter the following area of focus has been identified: 

Valuation of investments in subsidiaries 

Report of the statutory auditor on the 
financial statements of Kardex Holding AG 
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Materiality 
The scope of our audit was influenced by our application of materiality. Our audit opinion aims to provide reasonable assurance 
that the financial statements are free from material misstatement. Misstatements may arise due to fraud or error. They are con-
sidered material if, individually or in aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users 
taken on the basis of the financial statements. 

Based on our professional judgement, we determined certain quantitative thresholds for materiality, including the overall materi-
ality for the financial statements as a whole as set out in the table below. These, together with qualitative considerations, helped 
us to determine the scope of our audit and the nature, timing and extent of our audit procedures and to evaluate the effect of 
misstatements, both individually and in aggregate, on the financial statements as a whole. 

Overall materiality CHF 3.2 million 

Benchmark applied A percentage of total assets 

Rationale for the materiality bench-
mark applied 

We chose total assets as the benchmark because Kardex Holding AG is a 
holding company which holds mainly investments in subsidiaries. The profit of 
a holding company fluctuates depending on the decision of paying up divi-
dends. Furthermore, total assets is a generally accepted benchmark to deter-
mine the materiality according to auditing standards. We chose a percentage 
which is within the range of acceptable quantitative materiality thresholds in au-
diting standards. 

We agreed with the Audit Committee that we would report to them misstatements above CHF 0.32 million identified during our 
audit as well as any misstatements below that amount which, in our view, warranted reporting for qualitative reasons. 

Audit scope 
We designed our audit by determining materiality and assessing the risks of material misstatement in the financial statements. 
In particular, we considered where subjective judgements were made; for example, in respect of significant accounting esti-
mates that involved making assumptions and considering future events that are inherently uncertain. As in all of our audits, we 
also addressed the risk of management override of internal controls, including among other matters consideration of whether 
there was evidence of bias that represented a risk of material misstatement due to fraud. 

Key audit matters 
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the financial 
statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the financial statements as a 
whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. 

Valuation of investments in subsidiaries 

Key audit matter How our audit addressed the key audit matter 

Investments in subsidiaries amount to CHF 134.7m as of 
31 December 2023. In the reporting period, impairments of 
investments in subsidiaries in the amount of CHF 2.8m 
were recognized and CHF 1.4m were reversed. 

Investments in subsidiaries are carried at historical cost 
less required impairments and are valued on an individual 
basis. 

Management calculates the value of each investment 
based on the earnings value (weighted two times) and the 
net asset value (weighted one time) or based on a dis-
counted cash flow model. The chosen model depends on 
the size and the complexity of each entity. The earnings 
value takes future results into consideration including an   
appropriate uncertainty factor whereas the discounted 
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We focused on this area due to the size and significance of 
the position (41.4% of total assets) and the judgement in-
herent in the valuation of investments when performing an 
impairment test. 

Please refer to notes 1 and 4 on pages 130 and 131 of the 
annual report 2023 for the description of the accounting 
policy for investments. 

cashflow model considers the latest business plan of the 
entity.  
We have compared the book values with the corresponding 
valuations. The profits used for calculation were compared 
with the previous years’ figures. Furthermore, we chal-
lenged the discount rate used to calculate the earnings 
value as well as for the discounted cash flow model by as-
sessing the cost of capital. On a sample basis, more de-
tailed procedures were performed for specific investments. 

Based on the audit procedures above, we have gained suf-
ficient evidence to address the risk of material misstate-
ments in valuation of investments in subsidiaries. 

Other information 
The Board of Directors is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information included in the 
annual report, but does not include the financial statements, the consolidated financial statements, the remuneration report and 
our auditor’s reports thereon. 

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express any form of assurance con-
clusion thereon. 

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, con-
sider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the au-
dit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. 

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are 
required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.  

Board of Directors' responsibilities for the financial statements 
The Board of Directors is responsible for the preparation of financial statements in accordance with the provisions of Swiss law 
and the Company’s articles of incorporation, and for such internal control as the Board of Directors determines is necessary to 
enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the financial statements, the Board of Directors is responsible for assessing the Company's ability to continue as a 
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting un-
less the Board of Directors either intends to liquidate the Company or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to 
do so. 

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is 
a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with Swiss law and SA-CH will always 
detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, indi-
vidually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis 
of these financial statements. 

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is located on EXPERTsuisse's website: 
http://www.expertsuisse.ch/en/audit-report. This description forms an integral part of our report. 
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Report on other legal and regulatory requirements 

In accordance with article 728a para. 1 item 3 CO and PS-CH 890, we confirm the existence of an internal control system that 
has been designed, pursuant to the instructions of the Board of Directors, for the preparation of the financial statements. 

We further confirm that the proposed appropriation of available earnings complies with Swiss law and the Company’s articles of 
incorporation. We recommend that the financial statements submitted to you be approved. 

PricewaterhouseCoopers AG 

Norbert Kühnis Claudia Lussu 

Licensed audit expert 
Auditor in charge 

Licensed audit expert 

Zürich, 6 March 2024 
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Europe 

Austria 
Kardex Austria GmbH 
Janis-Joplin-Promenade 26 
1220 Wien 

Tel. +43 1 895 87 48 
info.remstar.at@kardex.com 

Contact: Norbert Knöbl 

Belgium 
Kardex N.V. 
Eikelenbergstraat 20 
1700 Dilbeek 

Tel. +32 2 340 10 80 
info.remstar.be@kardex.com 

Contact: Hans Schiedon 

Cyprus 
Kardex Systems Ltd. 
Hyper Tower, 2nd Floor, Office 202 
Apostolou Andrea 11 
4007 Limassol 

Tel. +357 25 875 600 
info.remstar.cy@kardex.com 

Contact: Doros Veresies 

Czech Republic 
Kardex s.r.o. 
Petrská 1136/12  
110 00 Prague 1 

Tel. +420 595 701 180 
info.remstar.cz@kardex.com 

Contact: Richard Janostik 

Denmark 
Kardex Danmark A/S 
Industrivej 10 
5260 Odense S 

Tel. +45 6612 8224 
info.remstar.dk@kardex.com 

Contact: Morten Støa 

Finland 
Kardex Finland OY 
Piippukatu 11 
40100 Jyväskylä 

Tel. +358 20 755 82 50 
info.remstar.fi@kardex.com 

Contact: Morten Støa 

France 
Kardex France SASU 
38, avenue Roger Salengro 
94120 Fontenay-sous-Bois 

Tel. +33 1 49 44 26 26 
info.remstar.fr@kardex.com 

Contact: Jabeur Khaloua 

Germany 
Kardex Deutschland GmbH 
Megamat-Platz 1 
86476 Neuburg/Kammel 

Tel. +49 8283 999 0 
info.remstar.de@kardex.com 

Contact: Alexander Bitsch 

Germany 
Kardex Business Partner GmbH 
Megamat-Platz 1 
86476 Neuburg/Kammel 

Tel. +49 8283 999 0 
info-kbp.remstar.de@kardex.com 

Contact: Stefan Häni 

Germany 
Kardex Produktion 
Deutschland GmbH  
Megamat-Platz 1 
86476 Neuburg/Kammel 

Tel. +49 8283 999 0 
info.remstar.de@kardex.com 

Contact: Stefan Häni 

Germany 
Kardex Produktion 
Deutschland GmbH  
Kardex-Platz 
76756 Bellheim/Pfalz 

Tel. +49 7272 70 90 
info.remstar.de@kardex.com 

Contact: Stefan Häni 

Germany 
Kardex Software GmbH 
Im Speyerer Tal 7-8 
76761 Rülzheim 

Tel. +49 7272 9272 0 
info.remstar.de@kardex.com 

Contact: Frank Wernert 

Addresses and contacts 

mailto:info.remstar.fr@kardex.com
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Germany 
MLOG Logistics GmbH 
Wilhelm-Maybach-Str. 2  
74196 Neuenstadt am Kocher 

Tel. +49 7139 4893 0 
info.mlog.de@kardex.com 

Contact: Hans-Jürgen Heitzer 

Germany 
MLOG Logistics GmbH 
Bodelschwinghstrasse 20 
32049 Herford 

Tel. +49 5221 12095 0 
info.mlog.de@kardex.com 

Contact: Frank Labes 

Germany 
Kardex Germany GmbH 
Kardex-Platz 
76756 Bellheim/Pfalz 

Tel. +49 7272 70 90 
info.remstar.de@kardex.com 

Contact: Stefan Häni 

Germany 
Kardex Remstar Properties 
GmbH & Co. 
KG, Megamat-Platz 1 
86476 Neuburg/Kammel 

Tel. +49 7272 70 90 
info.remstar.de@kardex.com 

Contact: Stefan Häni 

Hungary 
Kardex Hungaria Kft. 
Szabadság út 117 
2040 Budaörs 

Tel. +36 23 507 150 
info.remstar.hu@kardex.com 

Contact: Luca Gudiu 

Ireland 
Kardex Systems Ireland Ltd. 
Earlsfort Centre 
Earlsfort Terrace  
Dublin 2 

Tel. +357 99429356 
info.remstar.ie@kardex.com 

Contact: Doros Veresies 

Italy 
Kardex Italia S.p.A. 
Viale Famagosta, 75 
3° piano, scala B 
20142 Milano MI 

Tel. +39 02 57 60 33 41 
info.remstar.it@kardex.com 

Contact: Luciana Cossu 

Netherlands 
Kardex Systemen bv 

Pompmolenlaan 1 
3447 GK Woerden 

Tel. +31 348 49 40 40 
info.remstar.nl@kardex.com 

Contact: Hans Schiedon 

Norway 
Kardex Norge AS 
Roseveien 1 
2007 Kjeller 

Tel. +47 63 94 7300 
info.remstar.no@kardex.com 

Contact: Morten Støa 

Poland 
Kardex Polska Sp.z.o.o. 
ul. Wincentego Rzymowskiego 30 
02-697 Warsaw

Tel. +48 22 314 66 21 
info.remstar.pl@kardex.com 

Contact: Richard Janostik 

Romania 
Kardex Systems Romania SRL 
Calea Torontalului, nr. 69 
Cladirea VOX, Corp A, et. 6, 
spatiul A6.1 
30668 Timisoara, Timis 

Tel. +40 256 691 198 
info.remstar.ro@kardex.com 

Contact: Luca Gudiu 

Portugal 
KARDEX PORTUGAL, 
UNIPESSOAL LDA 
Av. Cinco de Outubro, 104 
1050-060 Lisboa 

Tel. + 34 916 779 369 
info.remstar.pt@kardex.com 

Contact: Manuel Uruburu Alonso 

mailto:info.remstar.hu@kardex.com
mailto:info.remstar.ie@kardex.com
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Slovenia 
Kardex Remstar SI d.o.o. 
Bleiweisova cesta 30 
1000 Ljubljana 

Tel. +43 (1) 895 87 48-0 
info.remstar.si@kardex.com 

Contact: Norbert Knöbl 

Spain 
Kardex Sistemas S.A. 
Avenida Castilla 1 
Planta 1, Oficina 1 
28830 San Fernando  
de Henares, Madrid 

Tel. +34 916 779 369 
info.remstar.es@kardex.com 

Contact: Manuel Uruburu Alonso 

Sweden 
Kardex Sverige AB 
Köpsvängen 10 
168 67 Bromma 

Tel. +46 31 10 66 00 
info.remstar.se@kardex.com 

Contact: Morten Støa 

Sweden 
SumoBox AB 
Hamngränd 6 
721 30 Västerås 

Tel. +46 70 917 17 00 
info@sumobox.se  

Contact: Morten Støa 

Switzerland 
Kardex Holding AG 
Airgate, Thurgauerstrasse 40 

8050 Zürich 

Tel. +41 44 419 44 44 
info@kardex.com 

Contact: Thomas Reist 

Switzerland 
KRM Service AG 
Airgate, Thurgauerstrasse 40 

8050 Zürich 

Tel. +41 44 419 44 11 
info.remstar.ch@kardex.com 

Contact: Urs Siegenthaler 

Switzerland 
Kardex AS Solutions AG 
Airgate, Thurgauerstrasse 40 
8050 Zürich 

Tel. +41 44 419 44 44 
info@kardex.com 

Contact: Daniel Hauser 

Switzerland 
Kardex Systems AG 
Sonnenbergstrasse 74 
8603 Schwerzenbach 

Tel. +41 44 947 61 11 
info.remstar.ch@kardex.com 

Contact: Norbert Knöbl 

Turkey 
Kardex Turkey Depolama Sistem-
leri Ltd. Şti. 
19 Mayıs Mah.Inonu Cd. 
Seylan Iş Merkezi No:83 D:4 K:3  
34736 Kozyatağı-Kadıköy, Istanbul 

Tel. +90 216 386 8256 
info.remstar.tr@kardex.com 

Contact: Dogan Ruben 

UK 
Kardex Systems (UK) Ltd. 
North Suite, First Floor 
Stag House, Old London Road 
Hertford 
Hertfordshire SG13 7LA 

Tel. +44 844 939 0800 
info.remstar.uk@kardex.com 

Contact: Anita Heen 

mailto:info.remstar.si@kardex.com
mailto:info@kardex.com
mailto:info@kardex.com
mailto:info.remstar.uk@kardex.com
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America 

Colombia 
Kardex South-America S.A.S. 
Calle 110 No 9-25, oficina 702 
110111 Bogotá  

Tel. +57 300 434 4735 
info.remstar.co@kardex.com 

Contact: Manuel Uruburu Alonso 

USA 
Kardex Remstar, LLC 
41 Eisenhower Drive  
Westbrook, ME 04092-2032 

Tel. +1 207 854 1861 
info.remstar.us@kardex.com 

Contact: Mark Dunaway 

USA 
Kardex Production USA Inc. 
41 Eisenhower Drive  
Westbrook, ME 04092-2032 

Tel. +1 207 854 1861 
info.remstar.us@kardex.com 

Contact: Mark Dunaway 

USA 
Kardex US Manufacturing, LLC 
836 Bistline Drive  
West Columbia, SC 29172 

Contact: Stefan Häni 

USA 
Kardex Handling Solutions, LLC 
700 E Firmin Street, Suite 257 
Kokomo, IN 46902 

Tel. +1 888-315-0757 

Contact: Mark Dunaway

USA 
Kardex Storage Systems, LLC 
11655 Central Parkway, Suite 313 
Jacksonville, FL 32224 

Tel. +1 844-577-2255 

Contact: Buddy Chadwell 

USA 
Kardex Solutions, LLC 
9361 Montgomery Rd, Suite G 
Cincinnati, OH 45242 

Tel. +1 513-745-0176 

Contact: Mitchell Hayes 
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Asia / Pacific   

Australia 
Kardex VCA Pty Ltd. 
1/1 Greygown Street  
Wodonga 
Victoria 3690 
 
 
 
Tel. +61 2 6056 1202 
Info.remstar.au@kardex.com  
 
Contact: Kate Conroy 

China 
Kardex Logistic System (Beijing) 
Co., Ltd. 
Room B07, Legend star plaza,  
No. 63 yard, West Dawang Road, 
Chaoyang District  
100022 Beijing 
 
Tel. +86 10 8479 9289 
info.remstar.cn@kardex.com  
 
Contact: Xiangrong Shi 

India 
Kardex India Private Limited 
Brigade Rubix, #604, 6th Floor 
HMT Watch Factory Road 
Peenya, 1st Stage 
Bengaluru 560 022 
 
 
Tel. +91 80 297 244 70 
info.remstar.in@kardex.com  
 
Contact: Prashanth Prakash 

 
Korea 
Kardex Korea Co., Ltd 
306, KD Tower 
125, Wangsimni-ro 
Seongdong-gu 
Seoul 04766 
 
Tel. +82 10 5403 3165 
info.remstar.kr@kardex.com  
 
Contact: JiYoun Cho 

 
Malaysia 
Kardex Malaysia Sdn. Bhd. 
30-1, Premier Suite,  
Menara 1MK  
1 Jalan Kiara, Mont Kiara  
50480 Kuala Lumpur 
 
Tel. +603 6206 4636 
info.remstar.my@kardex.com  
 
Contact: Eunice Ho 

 
Singapore 
Kardex Far East Private Ltd. 
#23-01, 20 Collyer Quay  
049319 Singapore 
 
 
 
Tel. +603 6206 4636 
info.remstar.sg@kardex.com  
 
Contact: Eunice Ho 

 
 
 
 
Africa 

South Africa 
Kardex South Africa (Pty) Ltd.  
1st Floor, Technology House 
Greenacres Office Park 
Corner Victory & Rustenburg Rd 
Victory Park 
Johannesburg 2195 
 
Contact: Dino Merico
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Kardex publishes its Annual Report in English. 

This communication contains statements that 
constitute “forward-looking statements”. In this 
communication, such forward-looking state-
ments include, without limitation, statements re-
lating to our financial condition, results of opera-
tions and business and certain of our strategic 
plans and objectives. Because these forward- 
looking statements are subject to risks and un-
certainties, actual future results may differ mate-
rially from those expressed in or implied by the 
statements. Many of these risks and uncertain-
ties relate to factors which are beyond Kardex’ 
ability to control or estimate precisely, such as 
future market conditions, currency fluctuations, 
the behavior of other market participants, the ac-
tions of governmental regulators and other risk 
factors detailed in Kardex’ past and future filings 
and reports and in past and future filings, press 
releases, reports and other information posted on 
Kardex’ website. Readers are cautioned not to 
put undue reliance on forward-looking state-
ments, which speak only of the date of this com-
munication. Kardex disclaims any intention or ob-
ligation to update and revise any forward-looking 
statements, whether as a result of new infor-
mation, future events or otherwise. 

Realized and published by 
Kardex Holding AG, Zurich, Switzerland 

Imprint 
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Kardex Holding AG 

Thurgauerstrasse 40 
8050 Zurich 
Switzerland 

phone: +41 44 419 44 44 
www.kardex.com 
investor-relations@kardex.com 
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